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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 
 

 
DR. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, AN 
INDIVIDUAL; VIRGINIA CITY 
GAMING, LLC, A NEVADA 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; 
AND DELTA SALOON, INC., A 
NEVADA CORPORATION,  

 Appellants, 

v. 

COUNTY OF STOREY, ACTING BY 
AND THROUGH THE STOREY 
COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS; AND STOREY 
COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, 
 

Respondents. 

Supreme Court No. 70055
District Court Case No. 15 OC 00008 1E 

 
  

 
 

Appeal from the First Judicial District Court,  
State of Nevada, County of Storey 

Honorable James E. Wilson, Jr.  
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JA000838

+ 10. Architect's name, address and Nevada state license number; 
& 11. Engineer's name, address and Nevada state license number; 
9 12. Cost of work, based on the retail price or a contractor's price for such \Vork; 
H-1 13. Date the work is to commence and the estimated date of completion. 

B. Applications for building permits s!tatJ. must be accompanied by ~ rhe fees as-may-he 
established by resolution of the board of cmmty eetnmi-s;;io·ooffi, which resolutions are on file in 
the county building department. (Ord. 172 § l (part), 2000) 

15.12.030 E:xpirntion by limitatfon-Reapplication procedures. 
f;-ve-Fy-peRn it i t11med by the-Ollildtng··of.fi:0ial-u1*lef-tl.1e··-f>1'fw-isiffil&ttf.this--e-Hap-ter-Bfia-t~i:e 

hy-.J.it11.itation and becetH€-+Mkt~)tc4-if.n&--ttt&t)t%i+iBns-have+~n-t.'iilled4t>-F-Wtt-ai~fie4-&f 
oHe--hundred eighty days from issutmce of permit The-pertmt-w-i-l-l-Be-et)l¥.'l.fti-erea-aetive us long--as 
i+1sp~M--afe-ealled-f~w-aB(:.~ress is OOO·Hfftng-;--1J+10-f.R&peeti-1:tt1s--at~rnftdt1--within one 
B:tnid-refr.~he-pern1iHttust be reneweti. A new permit s+1aH must be obtained before 
the work can be recommenced at a fee of one-half of the amount required for the original permit, 
provided nd-changes have been made or will be made in the original application and plans-are 
provided, further, that SHBB the suspension of work has not exceeded one year. (Ord. 172 § 
1 (part), 2000) 

15.12.040 Nontransferability. 
All permits shall·h~ are nontransferable. 
A. Fees for building permits f{:)tttttlSWH€liHH that have been issued shfttt niay not be 

transfere<lah±e to a new O\v11er or a new project location; 
B. Fees for permits issueds for a specific project or scope of work s-hat+ nu(y not be transferred 

10 ahl&-ffrt-·-another project or a+tB change of scope of work by the same mvner. (Ord. 172 § 
1 (part), 2000) 

J.S..+2-.0~mbet•--peFmtlt~~m1edw 
~on a stud)' of t!1e-water, .. a-vttiJ.~ewag-e-·fraflB.€tt7~ antt-i.4e-:s-iH-rt•&·(=tf.:rem.afi1ing-in 

et..)l~H1e(,'4\ctffl--the-,Natit.ttt<tl-.PHtlt1tant Di scl1argel',li·fff ifrBlttHh<;;ys1-etn-fu'fH-tL-+h~tli-ng 
t+fflci·n 1 i D auth~st1e-i-H-the--t:H-WHS-O·~-V-il'gi·Hft}-{::i+y-H+td(t{)kl···Hilt:-1het{l"llH¥.'-tt+g--tH::Hn-bet= 

O·f·huildtttg-pe1·n1i1~; (Ht-ilfr·UnnHHl·lntsi-s,he~>-ell·;hHHfflF)'--'t-Shtltt1-tkGf'HtheHlfrH)·f'-&te:lt-yettf; 

---·---·--1"-·G·Ofl'tfltereial-peFtHits,-ft&-aj:)j}ftWed-hy-+he--gfOl'('~··G{)\JH1Y-trtrbl·iC··\Vtll'kS-dtt'et,4f~OaH:i 

t+i::£f}Uflty-€01HlHi·sSi{rF\€fS·:O 

-~··---;?.,--Residenttal··p<.->t'H+it&-+mBf.H-1'-6+HlHJ1ei•cial-per1+1·tt":·i:tJ7t1flJH'<:t-hy·+IH0,S.t<wt."'y-f:ounty-fH:lb-}ic 

W+H'Kfr·i:HreetftfHhii:teen-pel'JHtH+-t<-):f-ettC!HN+i-enfiHf-yetif;·{)l'tiy ··H·VO··rlt>RH t~·HSSHec!4tHttty .. frne 
h1:ttl{l·HF·l'i~W-y<aafrun!esstl1ebfltlfEl--E>f.B<+HHl')"·ti·{HHHttS~'iu11e·rs···Fltll\···\'.lll.leF\-ViS1;\ 

.. _. __ , ·:l:-··S·ih·efGtt;·, Neva~en,(:~*:rHniy-}~vi+I·bi;• issut:d-+trft::•t>WHlt+lH>t)J: u;:;&·flt'.i' c:tl-etrt4ar 

··m···IJ, .. ''(:;1)H1mer1}i-aJ..-l}t:ti-t.ffing pt'l'ffiits-,''····l·i+r-+h0tH+Ff7i:'Y.'i-t'oi···,·ii:+his-t:lHtjH:e1,·rtl't'···t1e-i111<;>d··HS··all.-t~fJHi+s 
fri+·+ht:···e+mstrueth:+ti-&t:+ttlteHllittHTtttt:+e-l'urnt·l·v+esi-"JBnl:'es, 

:i.;;_, " 

· (;, I·s-&tntftf'<:'--·li+Rtt-frl¥tm:•-lt1t'fe-sldential-tH+ikltttgpenni+s·shalJ. he lint}t-e..:+.+1+ 1heJ.t+HHwtng; 
1 r. . ·. '.' ... 1. 1·. . . . .·c •. > • · . • · : . ' .... 1: • J 1 ·············t·;···l::·htEci)t'.t't:HH··ffJ-f-BH1:}rHJWH€l'-Hpp ·ICHltl··flt!f···'jCi.+!';···\\·tJC'l+l<SF ~+t<hl+»·hS+!.ft!-h)-H!t,L.ff'l:Bi-\~!{ llH:t 
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HWHeH?F-tO··H:re-n-wtrer'.-s·eHntractor or b u-iltlei:: 
J. One peFmtt-fu+-eaffi..<ieveloper~-GfHH-ffl€fiotf;-iffSpe.;-tt!ati"·e butlfl~kling---t'.ttH'-eSH-le; 

renting or leasing: 
-·-·------:34l+ttIBet1· '7etn+i-15-a¥filtab.le-1.'l:t-tht.'-·€fH:.:i-fITT~H'-Will-he-ffiOO:e-a¥aiJahle-ti7r-a-5*1:¥-(;'kw TT ... .- .,, 

peFiod-~J:..a}'i17ttsant~• with one t*1dtti-<7l'H:ll-J:1et'ftltt--efl-ty-all-fl-wed--fffi:-t.i...'1€h-at)trlreant-nnti+-lhe-ti-H{:tta 
is--e-t-:-aaltSted-:--fn-·-the--e"<ett+-the number of app-l-tt-~nts exceedti the ava~pem+H-s,a-!Ht--<fr-awffig 
shtl-l+be cond1.W-tet:lt 

-1. If avai lab! e u1n:1ned-hu4Mi-Rg-~n't'iB-~eed'"the-nu~f::..atyt1licants. thesame+imy-be 
€-arriet:l--+we1'·'tfHH1e:x+year, but no more thU:B-savett--et:tFry-B¥eF--bui1d in g peFtnie+-shaJl-he 
aBHUrH+itHe44ttFi+1g any yearly period; 

~060 A!Jt>lretthlHty-, 
&eeiifH'l l 5. I 2J)5 shall not he coostnted-l&1fl~-tenH.)t~eling pro_~t:;, at:hlfl.itHl:5---al'IJ 

~i+EHJ1f:,J.S-\<\41'i£ft-00+1ol SUOOEaHtta~ty-enktrg~Xt&ttHg--Hse-o.f 'Nater and·St.>·\Vftge-fHOtlitie+KHl-Ihe 
fft::'peflyi1we-h'e4: · 

15. l 2.{¥70-Buildmg·fH~t'Il1-il---re<tttfRd-. 
Ne---hui!t:H·ng··1:c1f-H'lt:rhHe/manttfacH+f€{t-(tHnt}frH-lnf-1.JB1ne-t"f3:p.fit!ffiftn-fIBB-ittttte+K)-f'-StFHe-ttttoa-l-use 

in-the--e-<:runty--shall-9€-€+Htst-n:t€:f:e(\.-w-i+he-i.-tt-4-ir-&t-f:t-btaming-a-&uf.hJmb'-fJefffttl-p1nmtafT1:-tf:)att 
apJ'l-lit1abte-t¥H+Rl)'--fW4i·~: 

Residential Construction Requirements 

15.12.080 Permits for septic system installation and ·well driHing required. 
Now-eHshallb\)·+lri+!&.4-;-'fIBf :;t:ptitl-s-y-stewi-·trufl:a.l.tt'tl·withHttt-fi rst--*r~g-;.1 A permit must he 

obwtned from the county building department before a person nwy drill a well cmd/i·om the 
state division (~{health be/bre a person ins1alls a septic s~vstem or does any work in preparation 
for the well or sep1ic system. :i:foot-t+1e-eHtttrt:y-b1:.tiJtJiHg-·d~Wfl-H'B~st1t1lH.Jftl4ftt.>J; 
tRS-t-allat:teft;-f.'tr"-Hth€P.-w+rk--fmd"€-~eav-a-t-t(Jft-4tt--fuFrheral1t-t\-t:hen~ef. (Ord. 172 § 1 (part), 2000) 

15.12.090 Water source required. 
Ne A building permit fe-r,.Hnye(mstn:1£+iB1HJ1all may not be issued until the applicant has 

provided an adequate source of water fit for human consumption, either by drilling a \Vell on the 
premises or by \Vater being piped in th1:ough a public or private utility designed for the 
transpo1iation of water. A !..'wiell serve letter:: must be issued by that public or private utility 
designed for trnnsportation and deliverance of water and be submitled to the building departmenl 
with ihe pcrmir upp/icarion. (Ord. 172 § l (part), 2000) 

-i5.l2,{)iJ2 ... ntm1-estie-uM:-1utdpurposedel"int.~a. 
!~f)iinwstie---u:-;e'-~ Hlt<l-~(IB-B'H0·&ti-€-iHfffH)SB?exk't1t:l:+H.J eul-i+tttF:Htfu:} house-!:wk.f.cpurposus-OiFvet!-y 

rek±tett--hr.'--++·A-si·ngie-fan:'ti·ly-ffi~l+i-n;:.7+ir--2)an-atcet.;~;ofy--huiJc}i11g-!~1r·a-si·n~fatmi-ly-dweH·in·gc 

induE~ing, .. :w.fthc1lilli+ni·Hlli-on;;·l:ht'·1,v;.110r-~ng·{tf:·ft-liHni.J.y·-garEwrH1t1dlaw:1tc--ttftt:l.-+he>vrrt~ri·1+g<>.f 
J-iveslo0k-ant~{11+y--e+hcr·d*+1Hestit-aruma!--u1'·ht+usehn·lt!·pe:t-,,.-+f..rhe-amern+H.+f: .. w;1h:-HIFa-vvn-dne-tHtfrl 

DraH 5-19-14 
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·-------·-······-------·-----

15.12.094 Accessory dwelling unit and accessmy structure defined. 
A"st?DOHBi±ry-orsubf>ttliE:at~iing ttrStH:1eture, i.e .,-t1rnther in law-quru'l:ers.--whieh---H 

l+>l.""1t-ed-·Hn-lhe--.sat1*Y~the-rtIB-.ftt...&iFuett1re-ttf-<<lwell-ing,-t;ez.-:-rffinary-s-Htgte--l:ati+Hy-resi<lefl{.i.e,i-s 
IB--be-<l~i:itlef~as-an-aee&.3-SBt'y-Stttlding or aeeessory i;tructure.Aocessory-stRK4l:fflffl-aJ7I:r~i~fo 
1his-t-rrfttn-anre--inel-ude;-BHt-·~~'h'·-garages,-eaffi.age-,hfRise5;-IBHther--i:n--1-aw-ftttftr1efs: 

ga:~t:ht+s~"·t?f~}j;J se:.;, ba ms,-ew-;;-when such stmet-ures-ftft,'-ftt...any'way-e0fttH:•t~ted-«t--a-·wnter 
systeH~~w-n1aiR··5-H't:tcture':; wateF-syst€-ttt-OF the le-~:s-\wll, but are-net-s-Efttefuffilly 
aH-a~·tH-afry-way to the main stn.i€tHr-e~ 

A. An attached accessory dwelling unit is a portion r?f or an addition to a single:family main 
dwelling that is designed Jo be used as a separare and independent dwelling unit. An attached 
accesso1:i: dwelling unit includes, al a minimum, permanent kitchen and bathroom (i.e. a toilet) 
fc1citities, but may also include living. sleeping, and emingfc1cilities, all separated from the main 
unit by ll'al!s or ceilings and accessed through a lockable exterior or interior-door. Converting 
part 1~{, Of' adding on lo. an ·existing single-:family main dwelling may"creare an attached 
accessm:y (bvelling. To he considered attached. the acces:mTJ' dwelling unit must abut (i.e. be on 
1he opposite side <fa wall or ceiling) the habitable .space of the main dwelling, or the ceiling of a 
garage attached lO the mair1 dwelling. 1ncidental and accessOIJ'features such as trellises .. decks, 
p(lfios, breezeways, or tool sheds will not be considered as establishing an attached dwelling. 
unit. 7),pical uses include guest rooms, guest apartments and "grannyjlals .. " 

B. A detached accessory dwelling unii refers to a dwelling unit on the same lot as the main 
dwelling w1i1, Jm1 which is physically separatedjrom the main cfi..vefling unir A detached 
accessmy dwelling unit Ls· designed and cm~/lgured to provide independenl livingfacilitiesj(Jt 
one or more persons. and includes, al a minirnum. permanent kitchen and bathroom {i.e. a 10i/e1) 
f(u:i!ities. but which may also include living, sleeping, and eating facilities. Typical uses include 
guesthouses, second units, "grannyjlars'' and caretake1<'l quarters. 

c-. A detached accessory structure refers to a building or s1ructure on rhe same lot as the 
main residemial structure and devoted to a use incidentol to that main residential structure. A 
detached occessm;J srruclure is not designed, configured. or usedfi>r human habitation. The 
detached accessor:v slruc/ure may be connected to water and rvasfewater systems su~ject lo the 
recordwion q{a deed restriction prohibiting the use olthe structure as a dwelling unir. 
lns:allmion of hoth a kitchen and a toilet in a detached accessmJ' strucfure requires the stf'ucture 
lo he considered a dwelling unit and sub/eel lo the accessory dtPelling unit provisions. l'.Jpical 
uses include srorage buildings and sheds, barns and derached garages. 

15.12.096 Domcstk use limit. 
{(!ht: developmcnl and use (?lunderground H'Uferji·utn a well ff.Jr an accessmy dwellinK unit 

ofa single-fami(v dwelling, as defined in section J 5. 12.09-:/, qual{/ies as a dornesfic use or 
do tn est ic p 1117 JOS e. A-s·-nfthe--dat:<e--ef-t-htH'tdupti<"H'l·tlHh~s·+JnJi1tt'l:!·K't';-i-f-the-dev ... ~l oprnent--tH'l(:t/t:w--Hse 

.. I l j' 1l . ' !' . .. f ,. ; I. .j 11 • 
(}-j·-ttnl: -~1:-groUHtt-\·Vt+ie+~- ·ftH'Ft·{l-'\·V€tt··l.-S··tOt~-m+·Bi;:.'-<..;,'e5~iOf)'····S-lf-H-(f\-t:H'-0-G'1·-·a t:J 1·1 g. e-tfHtttlj'--'itWfrtt+Hg;·HS 

t!,}ti+te-d·u11tlt.1F-!.!.(+c00ssoF-y.-stfu€-~-i-1'1-this-<w·d1mtn•:ie,-·-+lH:'--WBI-1-·Bhall-he--vet.tHt1'et:iH+--hav~··H-H*IBr 

anEt···t:111~·-\Vfl!1dHtV·rHlo-·1:.ywti:t:-F---J.f.tttH··+ht>··HHderg+·~•HHft···d(:1ff'li;"Slte--we-IJ.-sfiati-l'J€--li+Hit:0e!·--li:J-tWO·H0fC''-­
j.l;'t'1--pel'··yeal':··lt1addi+h+r>c;··~f+lh:·de·V'2lHj1Fl+t:>H:i··HHd··H50···0f'..1i nd~~-1·grHllHd·W<lt(.>f--·~'H11n··l+-\>,!·f.:\·l-l··l°f,rHR 
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ae-sesSt+Fy-building of a siwe4e-4-t1nH-l-y-tlwellint,,>-tftttttHies--ruH.t-G(+H'h!l-Sti:e-·Use or domestic purpese 
fHH'SBttHHe·thi:; ordi11an0e: 

A. The mvner of the well must: shttl:l·a!-·lt~s;'.~~+ 
l. Obtain approval for that use from the board &~trrey-GeHnty-~1issioners 

after a report and recommendation by the planning commission; and 
2. Install a water meter, at owner's expense. capable of measuring the total \.Vithdrawal of 

waier from the well; and 
3. Ensure the total withdrawal of ·water from the well docs not exceed two acre-feet per 

year; and 
4,-R~pnrt·-tl1e-tt5e--efw+tte-r-frtHn+he-\lo"et I to the BttaH:i-ttf-SH+re;<·t~H:rftfy-G emmi ssieners-B:l' 

iffi.-Effi.si.g+fl."e-t')n-a-i-ftr+H--f7ffrY-f.Ek<>t!--by-ifle-sH:1.fe-€1:rg~n eer-, 
B. The board or its designee must report the approval <~lthe accessory srructure on a form 

provhfed by the state engineer. :.t:+re-+Jr>ardof8lorey CBtHHy .. Gommi:;:detteffi-Bf-ffirdesig1we-·fl'1tf.:ff 
shaH·sHhmit lo the state-ffigineer-+he-H&H+f.wAfe~'· .. (twm .... FrB-tt'l-00€tr· app I ical3Je-wel-H:rwner. 

C. The state engineer is required to~ monitor the annual use of water from the well.· 
· l),-lf.~t is de term i+teJ.+h1<1:t-1tHWe·+hl+n-1:w<::HH,'1'f!-foet"'f'l-f-\.\~ffi:any-+me-yrt,>...-tr:peri od of ttme-ffi 

wttl=!dtmvn-irorFH±·tkHnesti:e-wt<lh--the-goardtlf.hlfti:~y-{..:'.fHtn~tfflffit&&i~-frlt~ier-the 

tIBtefil·BWfl€f~Hr-fHtH'\'-'-0'f .. tll:€--ft7l-ki-w-i·Hg+ 
+:.--Gbtain a1kl-rel1nqHt-sh·«~·wey ... GntHlty-ttilffi.tH:mal-wate:l'-rtgfits-t1e€essary ttH!'t&H:fe 

<.1deqtiate v;ater-supply--.fi:rFthe-.:h+rne-sti-B·HSB·ff<:HH4':;fWn-ffie~vater-hast+1-in-Yr'hich the -parcel is 
l<tCfHBd; 

2-,--fla-y-fffi-aB+Btnis+m1iv~-line-oot-tH-ex1"eed-tet1-t·hH1±Sand .. ·dntlttrs-~pe!'-day-fu.H*l~h-:viitlatien 
as~11itted··hy-tht:~-tmr±l'L:f-t1+-H+t11tlytco1nr1ibsitHWffrOf .. stnk'-engineer, 

~-H:Bfr!ttEH;-HH-1-H'H::rFe-t-han-f\VfC}·htlfltlft'df}ef"\':':eH{-Hf:tJ+e..-\.vatef-H&efi. v,·a!;te, t.W~-ted,. 
l~--tf-an-admints+~'-Hnti-is-imtr.'i1fh'.1<:kt~at.nst-·a·'pe1:SfH-t-f:>Bl'SHant 10 sub&eet:~-and/ or the 

!~Fsen4s-fm:lered lo R"f:l!a0e-any·wfr!Bf·rrttfst1t.tnl···!O·SH~e0tteti-(; .. :., .... the-f.3B-ard··t.t~e-y-f'.fltlffiy 
C onun is~; ~EH'l€1-&n:iuy-1'Bq-i.ftfE"--tfte-pBt".SHH h:! .. p-a:\--t-hi:- t.'<.:rst:s·+i~}£'<->eding;-fflclt1ding in ve&tig--~ 
C·OOffi .. afl4-aH-Bm~fueS-;-

F. The date of priority for the use of the domestic well to supply water to any accessory 
strncture is the date of approval received by the owner of the we.II from board ~of Storey 
f:;.,;;Hnty ... (:;fHrrtnt&.Yi+tt}i:N':S. :4::he·b+Htf4(+f'...6€H+Ht:Y··0HIHH'its-s-iflflt'-FS-··Or-it-&·tli:'&tgfltH~&hati-r-etx:i:Ft~ 

HpprnvaJ-of.~aBet*SHry--·sli'-tH:'lHfl?··Hfr·fr-l-(1f!fr·f)f~Wft!e4-hy: .. l·he-.. 5l:ftle---ettgtHeer-:-fN:R-S-··53·4-:+&G-+2) 
(Ord. No. 11-236, § 1, 8-2-2011) 

l 5.J-2..0-98--l::~nt 
·-~f'\;-l-!=-anyse0tio-H .. ·O-J:+1+i-5-HHttHfH1Ct;·(}fpHFl·tOfrlhe1'eOf.··f·~i···for"m+y-·reHSHfl:-ftBkt-i-twa+J.6-ot 
HH(H)HS-li+uti{Hta-l-Oy--HH)'···Ct}Hi+Ofi:'i_-)JHf'l<:'t0H{~j\ff~Sdic.'4tOHc·Slld+hokliis"'fi-lialtnH·t-tn-Vf.lli~lat&+i:te 

H."tB-a~-ning···parts-fffthis-ttn:i-i+ 1J:m£e7 

............ g.~ .. /vll-t+Hll+rarH::e&;··-chapt0r;:,c,.5~'€ltHlb-:-SH },secti fHl s, i.c-htuses·~·p1mt·:•e~;, <.+F5t>-fit€flees·t.'+7Htained--in 
the·-.l'),tore:.' ('BBfl+y-(.:.nde-whi-ch"aH.'-itrf;G11·ni1C<ll1erBwith-are-hei't+t-y-t~peafed.,, 

C. 'l~-4inan€e-sfm.J.}-f.;e.-tn--t'.t·1-ll·-fnrce-antl·e1"K'Gt--ffE'JfH··antl-fili:er-tli+tntsr;age.-apfWEWH1,-and 
J:?H :Jl i c at-i-orras-required .. ~})'-law, 

Draft 5-19-14 
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·---·-----··-··--·-·-·--·-·- ····················--···--··- ···--··-··-·-·····-····· 

15.12.099 Tampering tHHl-f)·emt#y. 
A. Tampering: No one except an employee or representative of Storey County or the State of 

Nevada may sfial.J. at any time or in any manner operate or alter a water meter or otherwise 
interfere with a meter or its connections. 

~nahy-.;.-J.l.felaHt:HHtf-any pmviE•iofHrfthiH4wtstHH··0HH5tlttttes-a-JHtSdettt:eTIB#l'-pllnishab4e 
hy-·4+ne not to exceed five-fH:!flafied (foliar:;, i1UJ3f-iseflftmt!-+tttt-lt:1--.e"'€&*1--sitt-+Ho:n:Hts-,0F-hoth. Eaeh 
and-ever~· connection or (1-00Upat1e-y-tA--VtHtffi.J.nn+tf-any·t~ro-v+sif:1tt·fff-th+s"*H+i·sfo·tt-slh'ill-be deemed 
a separate ofR"tlse--tu1dec~livision anJ-rnmt&hoote-wrffi:teh. (Ord. No. 11-236, § 1, 8-2~2011) 

15.12.100 Sewage disposal system required. 
N-e A building permit -stta-H maJ' not be issued unless the applicant has first installed a suitable 

sewerage disposal system meeting all applicable governmental standards,-4 or the owner must 
provide a "·will serve letter" from a public or private sewage process utility designed to transport 
and process raw sewage. 

-l-~t-*rl-l·.0..·('.;et*i4'.ie.-a-res-.. >'f-Oi.'t.~'.r.-
No·hui-kti-ttg-m'--sfffi€t11fe-shalc~~:nH+si:?ti-1':1HcHlBHpte1::h-mttH1o~hang0~n--thti,..exi-s+i-n-g00G-apanoy 

citts-si-fi€i1tiorHtr--a-bui l di 11 g or S!ftHc'rl:tf&-(*JeE»:ti-0-n·i-her1::•1ifsha-l+-w ;nadE'·HtHtl-t11e-Bt-1-i-Wmg o ffici!il 
-i-s-sueti1.teerti-fieate-··of:tt€€ttp{ffit-y~-N*'H"erlifit<ate-+>f .. oc1.'1rpa.1"2y:J.1aH-re·i-5sH~<l-flf·t{WtH4he 
€0Hrf}teltttFt-U:HEl-o.fffi.fil·hNt.H'!·l-·Hfi:tl+-t.~1€lh.ftH~S·iH1d+e·qui.:re+Henl·\¥hicl·H+lH.Y·hH¥l:-eeen--lttwful.~y 
tfJ:tfH·tS€ti-UfX:tn+he·t:OHS'l:R!&tl&H-t'H'Oj£-O·t---p-tH5lh+nt-h+·fSSUanee-~~tf!e·lfr!iki·i+tg -p12-n11ib 

J5,.J.2.l20-=f'.entfIBl~n·ry--e-e-r-tfi'.font~-of'.-f~<Htp-atH'Y• 
A.....:tempB-faey-t-~rlif-iet-t1e-·-&f.-ee-B-BpttHB-y.-liH'+JH .. ~-uE;e-1+f'.1111ypol't·it*1-o·r:a-euJ..kl.J..ng,1nay be isBHeti 

a1AJl:e··dffl&re-t-i on of the buil<littg o !'.11€-.i-al--tt:he-ftttl'.ttHl1a+·fh'>s1:tl'>til-anlk:11-·safoty·nf-he-alth·harar<l-wili 
;n;~su!l·4h:HH··Oeeupafl€Tbt..'-l{m:Hhe·O&HSi'.ftl€'ttBHis-fttHy··G~)ntfrl-eted: 

1-5.-12.130 M imH-1enti<Ht-·e-f.-¥~-t>t'l-K>t1fs-, 
:.r:h~·-boartl-&f:.-eettn-!-y-B*-)fHl'His&ioltefS·Hltlj'-Hlter+h-e-·t'fHltliii\O•HS··in-thts-0!Htpt t.'f-ttt-A·t--·'~Re 

• · . . il""'-.,J_;_ • . . • ' L. . . l . ·· . • j · .· l. ' • · 1 • · · r \. • 1-. 
f3-tf!.,""'t!1-H·S~S··Uf)Hfl··i:<y;7FJ"lea+too,tHtt~Sarnt7·6B-eS-fli:rt·VH+ ·i:HB·tt\B--SfHH+i.ttttHHttlHl·t+t-fftl:fl-ettap:ter 

t-rr-twffiet!-~nealtlr.·-l'•Ette+y-,an<l--\vetPdfe-o!:·lheinhahi!:z±Htfr·>;rf1J1e·t'ttHnty·~··huHnay-·d'}-5fH"!nty 
nfh'.'f·ft-t-teftftttf;·4Ut;y'··h'7lt.:l-;-$;-tH;'-!+atk*HHt-i+m-1;-;····l{+i+y-l-l·fSGfdl\'•!kt!')'-\'\-~1h·the·Ctl-HHl)'·COH1tHtSfil-OHt."ftr. 

J .. s.+:l • ..J40·-i:Wn-btl~t~mt\S-·ttnd-·mnnufa-<.4tffHJ-,.,t ruetu:n.>s. 
........ ,;N·t:FpeFHHtnent····bltildiHf!,;-;·HlOdt!·l<tl'·'.!h'Hf:'l:HH:'···Pl'· H'lt•l•i 1e·h\!i1'l{' ··~\JH1J-f ... ht'··fFH+V<:'d···i+Hi.:H+!'···Wltlti-n-rl:w 
Gf}Hl'tt)';·HH-f-si-1a#-4*·et~t'tBd··Of-iH5'1·a-Ht>tl-;-\".-'ilf\;)\;fttllE'·-iS''tH11·1Ce···l:'1:·H··!?u-ii8-i-ng·{'ifJFffHHlte!'e4-0r.-NH 

S-H€h··pel'!Tli·tshaU--be---ffisue<:i-·HIH-tt-Hle-i-tj')pfie+tt+1-·hHsfi1·'.'t·Ht•hl·iltt:{l··H·f>0H1+tt··tfW·-il·£{tfttifH.tHHS 
per-ittrehll'-€-OH€l'ele--fE10'ltt+g-antl·fr€('ifrt1JlHO-HS· JHHSOflF)'·· :<let 11 ··Witll··CGflS t Ftit4ed····i·l1€0Hfofrtlf±H~With 
ttf7Pltc-t+hh}·-t}tdinatH:es, .. ·bucil<.4tttg-t.'Bflt•s,-and···Slette--lfrwt;;·etnd··i1as iH&h±l·lt>d--·d-\-VHt-er··anl-l-·s-t~we1~-s-y~11 
tH6tH·tng-·i+l+npplt0n-b-lt>.-gtH.:eftifHtffil--''ftHndards:···)>;Ht~l···hl·ltkli11g-s··f)f··ltlitb!·kYH'l-itH:'SJ1t1:lS'f-·cBffltJly-with 
Htt·E'.)\..fs+i+1g··lt5e·l:Hltl-fHHit1grt"b+ftl-attHHS +tJ'tj"ltt'H-tetG·;···!·O·!\L .+.J..±-~'- l {f'>i:.tfl:};···2 00()..) 

15.12.150 Violation--Pcnalty. 
Any person, firm, or corporation violating any provision of this chapter is guilty of a 

Draft 5- l 9- !4 
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misdemeanor. (Ord. 172 § l(part), 2000) 

SECTION JU: This ordinance will become effective on July 1, 2014. 

Proposed on ______ H:......._:_=-Cl_L1_.__-=lo _______ , 2014. 

by Commissioner A \ \ 

Passed on fvi.LJ.LJ \ q ·--·---
\ .. 

Vote: Ayes: Commissioners ~\ Cb.r_· \....,.c-"\'-'{""",,,.--·-~-
, 2014. 

__ (b_iJ .. ru Ci n 
_ _s_~\lllLlCt~.~,.0-=------·-·-.. ---· 

... J "') 

Nays: Commissioners ... ~\ oOe, 

A.bsent: 

~~.«.~M~·=-------
Marshan McBride, Chair 
Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: _ · 

~~i 
Vanessa Stephens 
Clerk & Treasurer .. Storey County 

This ordinance \Viii become effective on July l, 2014. 

DraH 5-l9-14 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
2 1--·v~J. 

I hereby certify that I am employed by Storey County, Nevada, and that on th~..o.ay 
3 

4 
of January, 2016. I served a copy of the foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF AFTER 

5 REMAND by ordinary first class U.S. Mail to: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Matthew B. Hippler 
Scott Scherer 
Brandon C. Sendall 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno NV 89511 

With courtesy copy via email to: 
mhippler@hollandhart.com 
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Matthew B. Hippler (SBN 7015) 
Scott Scherer (SBN 87) 
Brandon C. Sendall (SBN 13246) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Tel.: 775-327-3049 
Fax: 775-786-6179 
rnhi ppler@hollandhart.com 
sscherer@hollandhart.com 
bcsendall@hollandhart.com 

Attorneys for Petitioners 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

DR. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 
corporation, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through 
the STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and the 
STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 15-0C-00008 lE 

Dept. No. II 

PETITIONERS' REPLY BRIEF PURSUANT TO ORDER REGARDING BRIEFING 
DATED JANUARY 21, 2016 

Petitioners, Dr. Vincent M. Malfitano ("Dr. Malfitano"), Virginia City Gaming, LLC 

("VCG") and Delta Saloon, Inc. (collectively, Dr. Malfitano, VCG, and Delta Saloon, Inc. are 

referred to herein as "Petitioners"), by and through their attorneys of record, Matthew B. 

Hippler, Scott Scherer, and Brandon C. Sendall of the law firm of Holland & Hart LLP, hereby 

submit this Reply Brief in response to Respondent's Supplemental Brief After Remand, filed 

on January 22, 2016. This Reply Brief is filed pursuant to the Order Regarding Briefing filed 

on January 21, 2016 and is based upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities 

as well as all other briefs filed by Petitioners in this case. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

A. Respondent's Argument Regarding the Business License Misses the Point. 

In its supplemental brief, the Storey County Board of County Commissioners (the 

"Board") cites an Edition of the International Fire Code and argues that the Storey County Fire 

Chief was insistent on the installation of the fire sprinkler system in order to comply with the 

code. Petitioners have never argued that the fire sprinkler system did not need to be installed; 

rather, they have argued that the Fire Chief and the Board wrongfully took away the agreed 

upon time period in which Petitioners had to install the fire sprinkler system. Consequently, 

the Board's argument in reliance on the International Fire Code misses the point and ignores 

Petitioners' actual arguments. 

Throughout these proceedings, Petitioners have argued that the Board relied upon 

erroneous information provided by the Storey County Fire Chief who: (i) ignored the 

agreement signed with Petitioners giving them additional time to install the fire sprinkler 

system at the Bonanza Saloon ("Bonanza"); and (ii) ignored the Storey County Business 

License Inspection Sheet that expressly stated that Petitioners "shall have 6 months to install 

systems after July 1, 2015," which was until January 1, 2016. As the Court concluded in the 

Amended Order dated November 10, 2015, the Storey County Fire Chiefs statements to the 

Commissioners were "wrong." Amended Order, at 8:16-22. Moreover, based on the Fire 

Chiefs own statements on October 6th, no changes had been made to the building while he 

continued to work with Petitioners on the building, and the Fire Chief nonetheless agreed to 

allow Petitioners through the end of 2015 to remedy the fire sprinklers. See Transcript of 

October 6, 2015 Storey County Board of County Commissioners Meeting, at 80-81. 

By relying upon "wrong" information, the Board acted in an arbitrary and capricious 

manner. Nevada law provides that a fact cannot be "wrong" and not also be arbitrary and 

capricious. An incorrect fact is by definition arbitrary and capricious because it is "contrary to 

the evidence." State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. Adv. Op. 84, _, 267 P.3d 777, 780 

(2011). Here, the facts and law support a determination that with respect to the business 
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1 license for the Bonanza, the Board acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner requiring the 

2 granting of the Writ Petition. 
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Accordingly, Petitioners request that the Board be ordered to issue on an interim basis a 

business license for the Bonanza for the number of days from October 6th - the date of the 

business license denial - to the date of any order from this Court granting the Writ Petition 

relating to the business license. That period of time represents the time period in which 

Petitioners have been prejudiced in their ability to operate at the Bonanza because that time 

period was effectively taken from them by the Board's action. Petitioners would have those 

number of days to operate the Bonanza with an interim business license while they install the 

fire sprinkler system. At the end of that time period, either the fire sprinkler system would be 

installed and a permanent business license would be issued or the interim license would expire 

while the fire sprinkler system is still being worked on. 

B. Respondent's New Case Law Is Completely Inapplicable to This Case Because 

Petitioners Have Not Raised Federal § 1983 Claims. 

In its supplemental brief, the Storey County Liquor Board (the "Liquor Board") cites 

two new cases, both of which are wholly inapplicable to this case. 

In San Bernardino Physicians' Services Medical Group v. County of San Bernardino, 

825 F.2d 1404 (9th Cir.1987), the physicians' group entered a four-year contract with the 

Board of Supervisors for San Bernardino County to provide medical services to the county-

operated medical center. The county terminated the contract, allegedly without cause and 

without a pre-deprivation hearing. The physicians' group sued under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which 

established a federal cause of action for deprivation, under color of state law, of rights 

guaranteed by the United States Constitution or laws. The physician's group alleged that the 

county's actions deprived it of a property interest without due process of law. The Ninth 

Circuit held that the physicians' group contract was not property entitled to due process 

procedural protections. 

San Bernardino is irrelevant to this case because Petitioners have not pursued a federal 

§ 1983 claim in federal court or a federal § 1983 claim in state court. This is critical because 
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the holding in San Bernardino is premised on the intent behind § 1983, and the Court stated 

that "[i]t is neither workable nor within the intent of section 1983 to convert every breach of 

contract claim against a state into a federal claim." Id. at 1408 (footnote omitted). The Liquor 

Board also cites to Lujan v. G & G Fire Sprinklers, Inc., 532 U.S. 189 (2001), in which the 

plaintiff also pursued a § 1983 claim. The Court held in that case that the California statutory 

scheme did not deprive the plaintiff of its claim for payment under a contract without due 

process of law because California law afforded plaintiff a sufficient opportunity to pursue the 

claim in state court. Id. at 195. 

Because Petitioners have not pursued a § 1983 claim in this case, San Bernardino and 

Lujan are of no relevance to this case or to the analysis that this Court must utilize. As 

Petitioners have argued previously in its briefing, Gerhart v. Lake County, Mont., 637 F.3d 

1013, 1020 (9th Cir. 2011 ), applies directly to this case as does other cases cited by Petitioners. 

Ignoring that, however, the Liquor Board now attempts to embrace cases that are inapposite to 

Petitioners' arguments in this case. This Court should not take the bait. 

C. The Liquor Board's Decision Is Not Supported by Substantial Evidence. 

The Liquor Board suggests in its supplemental brief that substantial evidence supports 

17 the decision by the Liquor Board. As detailed in Petitioners' Brief Pursuant to Order 

18 Regarding Briefing Dated January 21, 2016, filed on January 22, 2016, Petitioners analyzed the 

19 Liquor Board's decision and their January 5th comments and specified how the decision was 

20 built on a foundation of erroneous information. 

21 The January 5th comments by the Liquor Board establish that it completely ignored the 

22 Storey County Sheriffs report into Petitioners' finances, which determined that Petitioners 

23 were financially sound, and instead the Liquor Board: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) Prejudged Petitioners' liquor license application because of comments 

heard at the Nevada Gaming Commission ("NGC") hearing on August 

20, 2015 (i.e. "I came back with the view that under Storey County 

Code, this business didn't qualify to receive a liquor license." 

Transcript of Storey County Board of County Commissioners Meeting 
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on January 5, 2016, filed by Respondent with the Court on January 11, 

2016, at 11 :2-4 (emphasis added)). 

2) Wrongly relied on the opinion of Chairman McBride, who stated that 

without gaming at Petitioners' properties, cash flow would be reduced 

by 60 to 70 percent, which meant that in his opinion the properties 

would not be a sustainable business for Petitioners. See Transcript of 

October 6, 2015 Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Meeting, at 61. That was clearly his own opinion, and most importantly, 

his statement was without any testimonial or documentary support 

whatsoever. 

3) Erroneously relied on statements from the NGC hearing on August 20th 

that Petitioners were $12 million in debt, and had numerous lawsuits, 

liens, and foreclosures. In fact, none of this is true as detailed in Dr. 

Malfitano's declaration attached to Petitioners' Brief Pursuant to Order 

Regarding Briefing Dated January 21, 2016. Yet, because of the Liquor 

Board's actions, Petitioners did not have the opportunity to provide this 

information to the Liquor Board, and it instead made a fundamentally 

flawed, arbitrary, and capricious decision that it has now been 

attempting to save. 

The Sheriffs report supporting Petitioners' financial health was the only accurate and 

competent evidence before the Liquor Board, and by ignoring it and elevating the impressions 

of a single commissioner gained from attending the NGC hearing - coupled with false and 

unsupported statements about gaming revenues -the Liquor Board's decision was not based on 

competent evidence, let alone substantial evidence. In similar circumstances, the Nevada 

Supreme Court has held that "substantial evidence" supporting a decision is not met by 

opinions of council members, unsupported by proof. See State ex rel. Johns v. Gragson, 89 

Nev. 478, 482, 515 P.2d 65, 67 (1973) (the City of Las Vegas' Zoning Board granted a home 
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1 occupation permit and then later terminated the permit without explanation). The Liquor 

2 Board's decision was based on assumptions, falsehoods, and erroneous information to which 

3 Petitioners never had the opportunity to respond. Opinions unsupported by evidence cannot 

4 sustain the Liquor Board's decision. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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Finally, it is important to note that the Liquor Board's decision cannot now be saved by 

asking them to reconsider its decision. The decision must stand or fall on its own, and the 

Liquor Board has embraced its decision thrpughout these proceedings. However, these 

proceedings have demonstrated that the Liquor Board's decision and the process leading to the 

decision were fundamentally defective and fundamentally prejudiced Petitioners. The Court 

has before it persuasive and substantial evidence to conclude that the Liquor Board's decision 

and actions have violated Petitioners' rights and that relief is warranted. Petitioners respectfully 

request that the Liquor Board's decision fall and that the Writ Petition be granted. 

D. Conclusion. 

For the reasons stated above and as set forth in Petitioners' other briefs filed in this 

case, the Court should grant the Writ Petition and issue a writ of mandamus: 1) reversing the 

Liquor Board's denial of Petitioners' applications for liquor licenses and reversing the Board's 

denial of VCG's application for a general business license for the Bonanza; and 2) compelling 

the Liquor Board to approve the liquor license applications and the Board to approve on an 

interim basis as detailed above the business license application for the Bonanza. 

person. 

The undersigned affirms that the foregoing does not contain the social security of any 

DATED this 27th day of January 2016. 

Ma ew B. Hippler 7015) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Attorneys for Petitioners 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Martha Hauser, certify: 

I am employed in the City of Reno, County of Washoe, State of Nevada by the law 
offices of Holland & Hart LLP. My business address is 5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor, 
Reno, Nevada 89511. I am over the age of 18 years and not a party to this action. 

I am readily familiar with Holland & Hart LLP's practice for collection and processing o 
its outgoing mail with the United States Postal Service. Such practice in the ordinary course of 
business provides for the deposit of all outgoing mail with the United States Postal Service on 
the same day it is collected and processed for mailing. 

On January 27, 2016, I served the foregoing PETITIONERS' REPLY BRIEF 
PURSUANT TO ORDER REGARDING BRIEFING DATED JANUARY 21, 2016, by 
placing a true copy thereof in Holland & Hart LLP's outgoing mail in a sealed envelope, 
addressed as follows: 

Anne Langer 
Storey County District Attorney 
Keith Loomis 
Deputy District Attorney 
P.O. Box 496 
201 South C Street 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

Martha Hauser 
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ANNE LANGER (SBN 3345) 
STOREY COUNTY DISTRJCT ATTORNEY 
Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 
Deputy District Attorney 
P.O. Box 496 201 South C Street 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Tel. (775) 847-0964 
Fax. (775) 847-1007 
kloomis@storeycounty.org 

Attorney for Respondent 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

Dr. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING LLC, a 
Nevada limited liability company; and DELTA 
SALOON, INC., a Nevada corporation, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through 
the STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and the 
STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 IE 
Dept. No. II 

REPLY TO PETITIONERS' BRIEF PURSUANT TO ORDER REGARDING 
BRIEFING DATED JANUARY 21, 2016 

Respondent, Storey County, by and through Deputy District Attorney, Keith Loomis, 

hereby submits its Reply to Petitioners' Brief Pursuant to Order Regarding Briefing Dated 

January 21, 2016 (Petitioner's Brief). This Reply is based upon the Briefs previously filed in thi 
. . 

matter, evidence previously produced and the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Introduction: 

This case is not as complicated as Petitioners' would like the Court to believe. It is a 

matter of whether the evidence in the record provided substantive reasons for denying Petitioners 

liquor and business licenses. Petitioners base their argument to the contrary by improperly 

transmuting the comments and conduct of a single member of the Liquor Board and Board of 

County Commissioners into the action of the Boards as a whole. Even if this Board member's 

vote is somehow discounted there would still have been a quorum on both Boards which voted to 

deny issuance of the licenses. The remaining Board members voting to deny the licenses had 

substantial reasons based on the evidence presented to vote as they did. 

Liquor Licenses 

Petitioners' assert that they make four points in regard to denial of the liquor licenses. 

The first of these is that the Liquor Board made a flip flop from the time of its "promises to grant 

liquor licenses" to the time of its subsequent denial of the licenses. They assert that Petitioners 

were harmed and prejudiced by the Liquor Board's inexplicable actions. Only Commissioner 

McBride, however, made representations about the future treatment of Petitioners' applications 

for liquor licenses. Even then, his statements were corrected by the county manager who 

asserted that the applications would subsequently be "considered" by the Board. Commissioner 

McBride concurred with this correction. It would appear to be the height of foolhardiness for an 

applicant with the muddy history of Dr. Maltifano, when combined with the recent resounding 

rejections of his applications for gaming and even landlord licenses, to blithely believe that all 

was well with his liquor license applications and that he need not appear to support them. No it 

was not the Board that harmed and prejudiced Petitioners. Rather it was the history of tax liens, 

2 
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payment defaults, run-ins with regulatory agencies, litigiousness and failures to disclose 

damaging facts that prejudiced and harmed Petitioners. 

Petitioners' second point is equally off point. Here Petitioners assert that the Board 

failed to consider the sheriffs report, "the only accurate and competent evidence in the record". 

This "fact" is reportedly established by the transcript of the hearing of January 5, 2016. 

First, no sheriff's report, other than the Sheriff's verbal comments at the time of the 

October 6th hearing was provided to the Board. That is why there is no "report" included in the 

record before the court. Second, in this court's order of remand, the Board was ordered to 

provide the reasons why it denied liquor licenses to Petitioners. It was not ordered to report what 

matters the board members considered in arriving at those reasons. Consequently, to represent 

that the Board did not consider the report of the sheriff is wholly unsupported by the record. 

Finally, the Sheriffs verbal statements were not the only accurate and competent 

evidence in the record. Under Nevada's Administrative Procedure Act evidence in state 

administrative cases is admissible if it is of a type commonly relied upon by reasonable and 

prudent persons. NRS 233B.123; see also State, Emp. Securiry v. Hilton Hotels, 102 Nev. 606 

(1986)(letter written by scheduler was hearsay, but properly admitted). Petitioners provide no 

authority to the contrary. Here, Commissioner McBride related what he had learned at the 

hearing before the Gaming Commission. Also admitted was the order issued by the Gaming 

Commission which identified the numerous negative issues in Petitioners' histories and their 

failures disclose many of them to the Commission. Such evidence is also admissible in local 

administrative proceedings. 

Petitioners' third point is a repeat of the assertion that the Board applied the higher 

gaming standard to Petitioners' applications for liquor licenses. Again this assertion is 

3 
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unsupported by the record. There is no question, but that the Liquor Board relied on information 

obtained by the Gaming Commission in finding that Petitioners had not borne their burden of 

proving they had the financial standing to warrant an expected satisfactory and profitable 

business operation. SCC §5.12.0IO(A). This is similar to the Gaming Commission's requiremen 

under NRS 463 .170(3) that the Commission be satisfied that an applicant has adequate business 

probity, competence and experience, and that the proposed financing of the gaming operation be 

adequate for the nature of the proposed operation. Due to the similarity of the licensing 

requirements, _it is clear that the evidence propounded under the gaming requirement is directly 

relevant to that required for liquor licensing. Thus, it is not that the Liquor Board imposed a 

higher standard of licensing on Petitioners. Rather it is that the Liquor Board was provided 

directly relevant information from the much more extensive investigation conducted by the 

Gaming Control Board agents than was done by the Storey County Sheriff. Was the Board 

supposed to ignore information that Petitioners had previous regulatory run-ins, had problems 

complying with their financial obligations, and had been dishonest with the Gaming 

Commission? Of course not. The denial of the liquor licenses in this case was based upon the 

much more extensive information available rather than upon the imposition of a higher standard. 

Petitioners' fourth point is that Commissioner McBride's statement, that with the loss of 

gaming, Petitioners stood to lose 60-70 % of their revenue, was not competent evidence. 

Commissioner McBride, however, also questioned how Petitioners' could run a profitable 

operation when you've just taken out the major source of revenue. (Petitioners Ex. 3 attached to 

Verified Petition at 63 Ins 15-20). Indeed, the Sheriff essentially concurred with this statement 

(Id. @ 63 1-5). Thus while the actual percentage ofreduction may be off, common sense 

dictates that the loss of a line of business will reduce revenues. It appears that the commissioner 
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1 could rely on common sense reasoning in evaluating whether Petitioners' were likely to have a 

2 
profitable and successful business operation. 

3 
Under this fourth point Petitioners also assert that the statement made at the Gaming 

4 

5 
Commission hearing and relayed to the Liquor Board, that Dr. Malfitano was $12 million in debt 

6 was false. In order to establish the error of the Gaming Control Board, Petitioners rely on the 

7 Declaration of Dr. Malfitano. This is material outside the record reviewed by the Board and its 

8 
inclusion violates the rule of Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev. 363, 364-65 (1996). Accordingly, 

9 

10 
objection is made to consideration of the Malfitano Declaration. If the Court will consider the 

11 Declaration, then it is requested that Respondent also be allowed to supplement the record. The 

12 supplement would include transcript of the hearing before the Gaming Commission. 

13 Business License. 
14 

In regards to the business license, it is worth noting that even as of January 5th 2016, 
15 

16 
Petitioners have still not complied with their obligation to install a sprinkler system. Scott 

17 Scheerer, attorney for Petitioners, reported that Petitioners had only made substantial progress 

18 towards their obligations with the Fire District. (Transcript of Jan 5, 2016 pg. 8 @24-25 pg. 9@ 

19 
1 ). Petitioners can reapply for a business license when they are in compliance. 

20 
Conclusion: 

21 

22 
The reasons given for denying liquor and business licenses to the Petitioners ate 

23 substantial and reasonable. It is therefore respectfully submitted that the Petition for Writ of 

24 Mandamus should be denied. 

25 

26 

27 

Dated this2 7f--~. day of 10.:1..vo.J'j 2016. 

(~ 
Keith Loomis 

28 Deputy District Attorney. 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

2 
I hereby certify that I am employed by Storey County, Nevada, and that on th~ JcTay 

3 
of January, 2016. I served a copy of the foregoing REPLY TO PETITIONERS' BRIEF 

4 

5 PURSUANT TO ORDER REGARDING BRIEFING DATED JANUARY 21, 2016 by ordinary 

6 first class U.S. Mail to: 

7 
Matthew B. Hippler 

8 Scott Scherer 

9 
Brandon C. Sendall 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

10 5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
11 Reno NV 89511 

12 

13 With courtesy copy via email to: 

14 
mhi122ler@hollandhart.com 

15 

16 ms 
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19 
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22 
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24 
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1 ANNE LANGER (SBN 3345) 

2 STOREY COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

FILED 
MAR 7 2016 

"1:1901/013 

Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 
3 Deputy District Attorney 

SJrey Co. Clerk 

�.. De uty 

4 P.O. Box 496 201 South C Street 

5 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Tel. (775) 847-0964 

6 Fax. (775) 847-1007 
7 kloomis@storeycounty.org 

8 Attorney for Respondent 
9 

10 IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEV ADA IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

11 

12 Dr. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING 

13 LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
14 and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 

corporation, 
15 

16 Petitioners, 

17 vs. 

18 COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and 

19 through the STOREY COUNTY BOARD 
OF COUNTY CO:rvfM:ISSIONERS and 

2 0 
the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR 

21 BOARD, 

22 

23 

·Respondent. 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 IE 

Dept. No. II 

24 ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

25 
This case arises out of the filing of a Petition for Writ of Mandamus by 

26 

2 
7 Petitioners (collectively Malfitano) challenging the refusal of Respondent, 

28 (hereafter Storey County) to issue business and liquor licenses to Malfitano. In the 

1 
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Petition and subsequent pleadings, Malfitano asserts that Storey County acted 

arbitrarily and capriciously in denying those licenses. Malfitano also asserts that 

the denial of the licenses denied him the due process of law and the equal 

protection of the laws. These claims lack merit. 

History 

Petitioner, Vincent Malfitano, owns Virginia Gaming LLC, and Delta 

Saloon Inc. Through these entities, he recently purchased the Delta and Bonanza 

Saloons in Virginia City, Nevada. Prior to his purchase, the saloons had 

conducted business pursuant to gaming, liquor and business licenses issued to its 

prior owner. Even after his purchase, the saloons had gaming, liquor and business 

licenses by virtue of being operated by a properly licensed lessee of Malfitano. 

Malfitano subsequently sought gaming, liquor and business licenses for the 

premises on his own behalf. The Nevada Gaming Control Board conducted an in 

depth investigation into Malfitano' s suitability to hold gaming licenses or to hold 

landlord licenses as to premises on which gaming would be conducted. The 

Gaming Control Board recommended to the Nevada Gaming Commission that all 

such licenses be denied. The Gaming Commission held a lengthy hearing on the 

requested licensure on August 20, 2015. It voted unanimously to deny the gaming 

and landlord licenses to Malfitano for a variety of reasons including a failure to 

demonstrate business competence, a failure to demonstrate business probity and 

2 
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1 failures to disclose numerous and recent facts relevant to a showing of business 

2 

competence or probity. 
3 

4 Thereafter Malfitano applied to Storey County to obtain liquor and business 

5 

licenses to operate the Bonanza and Delta Saloons. These applications were first 
6 

7 heard on September 1, 2015. At that time, liquor and business licenses for the 

IZJ003/0l3 

8 premises were still held by Malfitano's lessee of the premises. Accordingly, due to 
9 

10 
the fact that granting the requests would result in duplicate licenses, Storey County 

11 denied the requested licenses. 

12 

Malfitano subsequently terminated the lease with the licensed lessee. He 
13 

14 reapplied for liquor and business licenses for the Delta and Bonanza Saloons. A 

15 

hearing into the applications was conducted by Storey County on October 6, 2015. 
16 

17 
At the conclusion of the hearing, the Liquor Board refused to issue liquor licenses 

18 for either the Delta Saloon or the Bonanza Saloon, The Board of County 

19 

20 

Commissioners did issue a business license for the Delta Saloon, but refused to 

21 issue a business license for the Bonanza Saloon. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

On October 13, 2015, Malfitano filed his petition for a writ of mandamus. 

He followed that filing, the next day, with the filing of an ex parte motion for a 

temporary restraining order and for a preliminary injunction. This court held a 

hearing on the motion on October 21, 2015. Following the close of the hearing, 

this court denied the requests for the temporary restraining order and for the 

3 
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1 preliminary injunction. This court did so on the grounds that it did not appear that 

2 

Malfitano had a likelihood of success on the merits of the claims, that Malfitano 
3 

4 did not establish a likelihood of irreparable harm and that Malfitano did not lack an 

5 

adequate remedy at law. 
6 

7 Subsequent to the issuance of that order, Malfitano requested and was 

8 granted permission to file supplemental briefs addressing the propriety of the 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

requested writ relief. Malfitano, as did Storey County, both filed additional briefs. 

Malfitano raised additional issues in the supplemental brief addressing due process 

and equal protection issues and submitted additional evidence in support of these 

issues. Storey County did not object to the raising of these new issues. Instead, 

Storey County also briefed the new issues. In light of the new issues, this court 

remanded the matter to Storey County for clarification of the reasons for the denial 

of the liquor and business licenses. 

Following the remand of the case, Storey County did hold a hearing to 

address the Order of Remand. The members of the Boards who voted to deny the 

licenses then set forth their reasons for denying the licenses. Two subsequent 

rounds of supplemental briefing with evidentiary attachments addressing the 

reasoning for denying the licenses, followed. Neither party has subsequently 

requested further opportunity to present documentary or testamentary evidence. 

4 
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1 The matter is fully submitted for decision on the merits of the Petition for Writ of 

2 

Mandamus. 
3 

4 Standard of Review 

5 

The writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of a duty 
6 

7 required by law or to control a manifest or arbitrary or capricious exercise of 

8 
discretion. State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. Adv. Opn. 84 @ p.3, 267 P.3d 

9 

10 
777 (2011); City Council v. Irvine, 102 Nev. 277, 721 P. 2d 371 (1986) Round Hi! 

11 Gen. Imp. Dist. V. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 603-04, 637 P. 2d 534 (1981). An act is 

12 

arbitrary when it is done in an apparent absence of any grounds or reasons for the 
13 

14 decision. City of Reno v. Estate of Wells, 110 Nev. 1218, 1222, 885 P. 2d 545 

15 

(1994). It is presumed that a licensing authority will not exercise its licensing duty 
16 

17 
in an arbitrary or oppressive fashion. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 550, 552, 

18 598 P. 2d 635 (1979). Additionally, liquor license boards are vested with broad 

19 

20 
discretion in reviewing applicants for liquor licenses. County of Clark v. Atlantic 

21 Seafoods, 96 Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980). The burden is on the applicant 

22 

for a liquor license to demonstrate capriciousness by the Board. Gragson v. Toco, 
23 

24 90 Nev. 131, 133, 520 P.2d 616 (1974). 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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Discussion 

Liquor Licenses 

In this case an applicant for a Storey County liquor license is required to 

provide to the liquor board: "Proof of financial standing to warrant an expected 

satisfactory and profitable business operation." Storey County Code §5.12.0lO(A). 

The record contains substantial evidence supporting a finding that Malfitano did 

not meet this requirement.1 Included in the record is a copy of the Nevada Gaming 

Commission's order denying Malfitano gaming and landlord licenses. In relevant 

part that order recites: 

[Petitioners] filed applications with the BOARD and failed to 
disclose numerous, recent, and financially significant items including, 
but not limited to lawsuits, foreclosures, business interests, delinquent 
tax payments, tax liens, and default notices ... 

[Petitioners] failed to carry their burdens to demonstrate 
adequate business probity. This is demonstrated through 
nondisclosure of business related issues to the BOARD, significant 
employment related issue from MALFITANO'S assisted living 
business and his prior dental practice. Significant citations and actions 
by other regulatory agencies concerning MALFITANO's assisted 
living business and his prior dental practice, the existence of 
numerous prior tax liens, and the appearance of significant cash flow 
problems .. .. 

Commissioner McBride advised the Board that as a result of attending the 

hearing before the Gaming Commission he learned that Malfitano had twelve 

i In reviewing the record regarding the denial of liquor and business license for an abuse of discretion, this 
court is limited to reviewing the record presented to the board and does not review after-supplied materials. See 
Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev.363, 364-65, 914 P. 2d 631 (1996) . 
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1 million dollars in debt. He also pointed out that with the inability to obtain gaming 

2 

3 

licenses, a major source of revenue for the saloons was lost. County Manager 

4 Whitten pointed out that a history of foreclosures, delinquent tax payments, tax 

5 
liens, are serious contra-indicators of financial standing. Consequently, the 

6 

7 decisions to deny the issuance of the liquor licenses were not arbitrary and 

8 capricious. 
9 

Business License 
10 

11 
While the Board of County Commissioners granted a business license for th 

12 operation of the Delta Saloon, it denied a business license for the operation of the 

13 

14 

Bonanza Saloon. Under Storey County Code §5.04.IOO(A) the county can refuse 

15 to issue a business license: "[U]ntil an applicant complies or agrees to comply with 

16 

all other existing ordinances or laws in force." Here, the Board was informed by 
17 

18 the Chief of the Fire District that he had been working with Malfitano to remedy 

19 fire code deficiencies on the Bonanza premises. In his opinion the building was 
20 

21 
not safe. Based on this evidence the decision to deny the business license was not 

22 an arbitrary and capricious exercise of discretion. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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Due Process 

Property Interest 

Malfitano asserts that he was denied the due process of law in the 

proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor and business licenses.2 He asserts 

that he had reached an agreement with Storey County as a result of representations 

made to him by Conunissioner McBride at the hearing on September 1, 2015. 

Those representations were that once Malfitano straightened out the issue of 

duplicate licenses, he would be granted a liquor license. Accordingly he asserts he 

had a protectable property interest in the contractual agreement to which due 

process of law principles should have applied. 

Malfitano' s contention that he had a protectable property interest is not 

tenable. Property interests protectable under the due process clause : "[A]re 

created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that 

stem from an independent source such as state law rules or understandings that 

secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits." 

Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 576 (1972). In order to have a property 

interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment a person must have more than a 

unilateral expectation of a property interest. Id. Rather, he must have a legitimate 

claim of entitlement to the property interest. Id. Here, Malfitano relies on the 

2 In reviewing the constitutional claims, this court will consider all of the evidence submitted by the 
parties as this review is not limited to the evidence submitted to the Boards. 
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representations of a single member of the liquor board during the course of a 

public meeting as establishing his property interest. The representations relied on 

were conected to clarify that the liquor board would subsequently consider the 

applications for liquor licenses, not that it would approve the applications. Such 

circumstances were insufficient to give rise to a protectable property interest. 

Furthermore, even if it could be said that a contract was created, the creation would 

have been void for violating Nevada's Open Meeting law as the matter was not set 

forth on the agenda as one for the acceptance of a contract. NRS 241. 03 6. Finally 

even if a contract could be found, such a contract is not of the type which gives rise 

to a property interest protected by the due process clause. See Physicians Serv. 

Med. Group v.San Bernardino Cty., 825 F. 2d 1404 (9th Cir. 1987). Accordingly, 

Malfitano was not deprived of a property interest in violation of due process. 

Void for Vagueness 

Malfitano also asserted that SCC §5.12.0lO(A) is void for vagueness 

because it fails to set forth a sufficiently detailed standard to control the discretion 

of the liquor board. This vagueness allows for the arbitrary and discriminatory 

enforcement of the ordinance. 

Legislative enactments, such as ordinances are presumed constitutional 

absent a clear showing to the contrary. Starlets International v. Christensen, 106 

Nev. 732, 735 801 P. 2d 1343 (1990). The party challenging the enactment bears 

9 
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C) 

1 the burden to make a clear showing that the enactment is unconstitutional. List v. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

ll 

12 

13 

Whistler 99 Nev., 133, 660 P. 2d 104 (1983). Moreover, in the case of liquor 

license ordinances, such ordinances are to be strictly construed against the 

applicant for the license. Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev.363, 365-66, 914 P. 2d 

631 (1996). Finally, where an area of licensing is the proper and necessary subject 

of police surveillance and regulation, the grant of discretionary power to license 

need not be restricted by specific standards. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 

550, 552, 598 P. 2d 635 (1979); see also State ex rel Grimes v. Board, 53 Nev. 

364, 372-73, 1 P. 2d 570 (1931). 

121010/013 

14 In Nevada there is no inherent right in a citizen to sell intoxicants. County of 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

Clarkv. Atlantic Seafoods, 96 Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980); Gragson v. 

Toco, 90 Nev. 131, 133, 520 P. 2d 616 (1974). Liquor boards are granted wide 

discretion in the granting or denying of such licenses. Here, the applicant for a 

liquor license is required to provide: "proof of financial standing to warrant an 

21 expected satisfactory and profitable business operation." There is no showing that 

22 

this standard fails to meet a constitutional requirement of specificity applicable to 
23 

24 liquor ordinances. 

25 
Equal Protection 

26 

27 
Malfitano also asserts that Storey County violated his right to the equal 

28 protection of the laws where it has routinely issued liquor licenses to other 

10 
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1 applicants without having to undergo the background scrutiny that Malfitano had 

2 

3 

to undergo. He asserts that as a class of one he has demonstrated that the County 

4 intentionally treated him differently from other similarly situated persons without a 

5 

rational basis for doing so. 
6 

7 In this case the County had a great deal more information about Malfitano' s 

8 background than it typically has with regard to an applicant for a liquor license. 
9 

10 
This circumstance existed as a result of the background investigation conducted by 

11 the Gaming Control Board. The results of that background investigation were 

12 

placed in the public record by virtue of their inclusion in the order denying 
13 

14 Malfitano gaming and landlord licenses. That order established that Malfitano 

15 

failed to disclose numerous recent and significant items related to his financial 
16 

17 
stability. There is no showing that other applicants for liquor licenses were 

18 similarly disingenuous in the information they provided to the liquor board. This 
19 

20 

factor alone provides a rational basis for distinguishing between Malfitano and 

2 1  other applicants for liquor licenses. Malfitano has not demonstrated that Storey 

22 

County violated his right to the equal protection of the laws. 
23 

24 Ethical Issue 

25 
Malfitano also raises an ethics issue which arises under Nevada's Ethics in 

26 

27 
Government Law. NRS 281A.010. It is the Nevada Ethics Commission which is 

28 charged with investigating and enforcing alleged violations ofNevada's ethics 

11 
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8 
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10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

laws as they apply to public officers. NRS 281A.280; See also Comm 'n. On Ethics 

v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 285, 288, 212 P. 2d 1098 (2009). This comi does not have 

original jurisdiction over such matters. Accordingly, this issue will not be further 

considered. 

Conclusion: 

Substantial evidence supports the decisions of the Storey County Liquor 

Board to deny liquor licenses to Malfitano. Substantial evidence also suppmis the 

decision of the Storey County Board of Commissioners to deny a business license 

to Malfitano for the Bonanza Saloon. These decisions were not arbitrary and 

capricious. Nor were Malfitano's rights to due process violated by either the 

language of the ordinance under which Malfitano was compelled to make 

application for a license or by the proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor 

and business licenses. Finally, Storey County had a rational basis for denying 

liquor licenses to Malfitano. Consequently the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and 

all other relief requested is denied. 

Dated this t(_ day of�2016. 

12 
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STOREY COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
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Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) Deputy District Attorney 
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Virginia City, NV 89440 
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Attorney for Respondent 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

r. VINCENT M. MALFIT ANO, an individual; 
IRGINIA CITY GAMING LLC, a Nevada 

imited liability company; and DELTA 
ALOON, INC., a Nevada corporation, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

OUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 IE 

Dept. No. II 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

e STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY DENYING PETITION FOR 
OMMISSIONERS and the STOREY 

OUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

Respondent. 19 !+-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

NOTICE is hereby given that on the ih day of March, 2016, the Court duly 

entered an Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus. -A copy of said Order is 

attached hereto. 

DATED this ~\<,_,._f_~ __ day of March, 201~ .. 
Keith Loomis (sBN 1912) 
Deputy District Attorney for Storey County 
P.O. Box 496 Virginia City, Nevada 89440 
(77 5) 84 7-0964 kloomis@storeycounty.org 
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i ANNE LANGER (SBN 3345) 
2 STOREY COUNTY DISTRJCT ATIORNEY 

Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 
3 Deputy District Attorney 
4 P.O. Box 496 201 Sou.th C Street 

5 
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6 Fax.(775)847-1007 
7 kloomis@storeycountv.org 

8 Attorney for Respondent 
9. 

No. 1872 P. 

FILED 
MAR 7 2016 

10 
IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF 

NEV ADA IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY.: . 
ll 

12 Dr. VINCENf M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING 

13 LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
14 and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 

corporation, 
15 

16' Petitioners, 

17 . vs. 

18 COUNTY OF STOREY) acting by and 
19 through the STOREY COUNTY BOARD 

OF COUNTY CO:M1v.O:SSIONERS and 
20 the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR 
21 BOARD, 

22 
·Respondent. 

23 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 IE 

Dept. No. II 

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

25 This case arises out .o~ the filing of a Petition for Writ of Mandamus by 
26 

27 
Petitioners (collectively Malfit.ano) challenging the refusal of Respondent, 

~. 

20 (hereafter Storey Cotmty) to issue business and liquor licenses to Malfitano. In the 

l 

---:;-"'---------·-··-····--.-·-.--··.··~-~:'"'----,-.------.~----~------··--~-~.. ---:----··------~------·-··--------------------------·-·· 

141001 /0_1.} ... 



JA000873

I 

I 
l 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

: 
I 

I . I 
; 

l 

03/07/2016 MON 16:37 FAX ..... !di.a o_y_~_~} 

Mar. 7.2016 11:55AM No. 1872 P. 2 

1 Petition and subsequent pleadings, Malfi:tano asserts that Storey County acted 

arbitrarily and capriciously in denying those licenses. Malfitano also asserts that 
3 

4 the denial of the licenses denied him the due process of law and the equal 

5 

7 

a 

9 

10 

ll 

12 

13 

14 

J.5 

16' 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

.24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

protection of the laws. These claims lack merit. 

History 

Petitioner, Vincent Malfitano> owns Virginia Gaming LLC, and Delta 

Saloon Inc. Through these entities, he recently purchased the Delta and Bonanza 

Saloons in Virginia City, Nevada. Prior to his purchase, the saloons had 

conducted business pursuant to gaming, liquor and business licenses issued to its 

prior owner. Even after his purchase, the saloons had gaming, liquor and business 

licenses by virtue of being operated by a properly licensed lessee ofMalfitano. 

Malfitano subsequently sought gaming, liquor and business licenses for the 

premises on his own behalf The Nevada Gaming Control Board conducted an in 

depth investigation into Mal:fitano; s suitability to hold gaming licenses or to hold 

landlord licenses as to premises on which gaming would be conducted. The 

Gaming Control Board reco~ended to the Nevada Gaming Commission that all 

such licenses be denied. The Gaming Commission held a lengthy hearing on the 

requested licensure on August 20, 2015. It voted unanimously to deny the gaming. 

and landlord licenses to Mal:fitano for a variety of reasons including a failure to 

demonstrate business competence, a failure to demonstrate business probity and 

~-···~r··-~-··---.-·"-·····-~·--·-,··.~·-·-·---:-•---.....----·-:•··----.---····---.-___, ____ ,,......--....,....,..-·-•·--·•··•~-·--·----••··-·--·---·--···•••·• . 
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l failures to disclose numerous and recent facts relevant to a showing of business 

competence or probity. 
3 

4 Thereafter Malfitano applied to Storey County to obtain liquor and business 

5 
licenses to operate the Bonanza and Delta Saloons. These applications were first 

6 

7 heard on September I, 2015. At that time, liquor and business licenses fot the 

8 ·premises were _still held by Malfitano 's lessee of the premises. Accordingly, due to -

. the fact that granting the requests would result in duplicate licenses, Storey County 
10 

11 · denied the reqilested licenses. 

12 
Mal:fitano subsequently terminated the lease with the licensed lessee. He 

13 

14 reapplied for liquor and business licenses for the Delta and Bonanza Saloons. A 

15 
. hearing into the applications was conducted by Storey County on October 6, 2015. 

16 

1 7 At the conclusion of the hearing, the Liqt1or Board refused to issue liquor licenses 

ia for either the Delta Saloon or the Bonanza Saloon, The Board of County 
19 

Commissioners did issue a business license for the Delta Saloon, but refused to 
20 

21 issue a business license for the Bonanza Saloon. 

22 
On October 13, 2015, Malfitari.o filed his petition for a writ of mandamus . 

.23 

24 He followed that filing, the next day, with the filing of an ex parte motion for a 

25 temporary restraining order ~d for a preliminary injunction. _This court held a 
26 

hearing on the motion on October 21, 2015. Following the close of the hearing, 
27 

2s this court denied the requests for the temporary restraining order and for the 

3 

~·--···--:-;--'<'·, .. ---;---:~ .. _,._.,_. ____ ..,______________ ~-.-""7·---.,....----~-~-····-·-----.·-------,-·--,__..---..-----~---------·--------·--··---- ... 
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1 preliminary injunction. This court did so on the grounds that it did not appear that 
2 

Malfitano had a likelihood of success on the merits of the clalm.s, that Malfitano 
3 

4 did not establish a likelihood of irreparable harm and that Malfitano did not lack an 

5 
adequate remedy at law. 

6 

7 Subsequent to the issuance of that order) Malfitano requested and was 

a granted permission to file supplemental briefs addressing· the propriety of the 
9 

10 
requested writ relief. Mal:fitano~ as did Storey County, both filed additional briefs. 

n Malfitano raised additional issues in the supplemental brief addressing due process 

12 
and equal protection issues and submitted additional evidence in support of these 

13 

14 issues. Storey County did not object to the raising of these new issues. Instead, 

lS Storey County also briefed the new issues~ In light of the new issues, this court 
16' 

1 7 
remanded the matter to Storey County for clarification of the reasons for the denial 

18 of the liquor and business licenses. 
19 

20 

2l, 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Following the remand of the case, Storey County did liold a hearing to 

address the Order of Remand. The members of the Boards who voted to deny the 

licenses then sef forth their reasons for denying the licenses. Two subsequent 

rounds of supplemental briefing with evidentiary attachments addressing the 

reaso~g for denying the licenses, followed. Neither party has subsequ~ntly 

requested further opportunity to present documentary or testamentary evidence. 

4 
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1 The matter is fully submitted for decision on the merits of the Petition for Writ of 

Mandamus. 
3 

4 Standard of Review 

5 
The writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of a duty 

6 

7 required by law or to control a manifest or arbitrary or capricious ·exercise of 

8 discretion. State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. Adv. Opn. 84 @p.3, 267 P.3d 
9 

10 
777 (2011); City Council v. Irvine, 102 Nev. 277, 721P.2d 371 (1986) Rowzd Hil 

ll Gen. Imp. Dist. V. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 603-04, 637 P. 2d 534 (1981). An act is 

l2 
arbitrary when it is done in an apparent absence of any grounds or reasons for the 

13 

14 decision. City of Reno v. Estate of Wells, 110 Nev. 1218, 1222, 885 P. 2d 545 

15 
(1994). It is presumed that a licensing authority will not exercise its licensing duty 

16 

17 in an arbitrary or oppressive fashion. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 550, 552, 

18 598 P. 2d 635 (1979). Additionally, liquor license boards are vested with broad 
19 

discretion 1n reviewing applicants for liquor licenses. County of Clark v. Atlantic 
20 

21 Seafoods, 96 Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980). The burden is on the _applicant 

22 for a liquor license to demonstrate capriciousness by the Board. Gragso'? v. Toco, 
23 

24 90 Nev. 131, 133~ 520 P.2d 616 (1974). 

25 

26 

27 

28 

5 
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1 Discussion 
2 Liquor Licenses 
3 In-this case an applicant for a Storey County liquor license is required to 

5 
provide to the liquor board: "Proof of .financial standing to warrant an expected 

G satisfactory and profitable business operation." Storey County Code §5.12.0lO(A). 
7 

The record contains substantial evidence supporting a finding that Malfitano did 
B 

9 not meet this requirement 1 Included in the record is a copy of the Nevada Gaming 

10 . 
Commission's ord~r denying Malfitano gaming and_ landlord licenses~ In relevant 

11. 

12 part that order recites: 

13 

14 

J.5 

16 

18 

1.9 

20 

21 

23 

24 

25 

26 

[Petitioners] filed applications with the BOARD and failed to 
disclose numerous, recent, and financially significant items including, 
but not limited to lawsuits, foreclosures, business interests, delinquent 
tax payments, tax liens, and default notices ... 

[Petitioners] failed to carry their burdens to demonstrate 
adequate business probity. This is demonstrated through 
nondisclosure of business related issues to the BOARD, significant 
employment related issue from MALFITANO'S assisted living 
business and his prior dental practice, Significant citations and actions 
by other regulatory agencies concerning MALFITANO's assisted 
living business and his prior dental practice, the existence of 
numerous prior tax liens, and the appearance of significant cash flow 
problems .... 

Commissioner McBride advised the Board that as a result of attending the 

hearing before the Gaming Conunission.h~ learned that Malfitano had twelve 

27 
i. In reviewing the record regarding thl.'J denial of liquor and business license for an. abuse of discretion, this 

2 8 
. court is limited to reviewing the record presented to the board and does not review after-supplied materials. See 
Carson City11. Lepi:re, 112 Nevj63, 364-65, 914 P. 2d 631 (1996). 

6 
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1 million dollars in debt. He also pointed out that with the inability to obtain gattring 
2 

licenses, a major source of revenue for the saloons was lost. County Manager 
3 

4 Whitten pointed out that a history of foreclosures, delinquent tax payments, tax 

5 
liens, are serious contra-indicat.ors of financial standing. Consequently, the 

6 

7 decisions to deny the.issuance of the liquor licenses were not arbitrary and 

8 capricious. 
9 

10 
Business License 

11 
While the Board of County Commissioners-granted a business license for th 

12 operation of the Delta Saloon, it denied a business license for the operation of the 
13 

Bonanza Saloon. Under Storey County Code §5.04.lOO{A) the county can refuse 

is to issue a business license: "[U)ntil an applicant corn.plies or agrees to comply with · 

lG 
all other existing ordinances O! laws in force." Here, the Board was info.qned by 

17 

18 the Chief of the Fire District that he had been working with Malfitano to remedy 

19 fire code deficiencies on the Bonanza premises. In his opinion the building was 
20 

not safe. Based on this evidence the decision to deny the business license was not 
21 

42 an arbitrary and capricious exercise of discretion. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

:as 

7 
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l Due Process 

Property Inte:rest 

Malfitano asserts that he was denied the due process of law in the 
4 

proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor and business licenses.2 He asserts 
5 

G that he had reached an agreement with Storey County as a result of representations 

7 
tnade to him by Commissioner McBride at the hearing on September 1, 2015. 

8 

9 Those representations were that once Malfitano straightened out the issue of 

10 
duplicate licenses~ he would be granted a liquor license. Accordingly he asserts he . 

li 

12 had a protectable property interest in the contractual agreement to which due 

13 process of law principles should have applie~. 
14: 

15 
Malfitano 's contention that he had a protectable property interest is not 

16 tenable. Property interests protectable ooder the due process clause : "[A]re 

17 
created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that 

18 

19 stem from an independent source such as state law rules or understandings that 

20 secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits." 
21 

22 
Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 576 (1972). ln order to have a property 

23 interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment a person must have more than a 
24 

unilateral expectation of a property interest. Id. Rather, he must have a legitimate 
25 

2 6 claim of entitlement to the property interest. Id. Here, Malfitano relies on the 

27 

29 
2 In reviewing the constitution.al claims, this court will consider all oftl:1e evidence submitted by. the 

parties as this review is not limited to the evidence submitted to the Boards. 

6 
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1 representations of a single member of the liquor board during the course of a 
2 

public meeting as est.ablishing his property interest. The representations relied on 
3 

4 were corrected to clarify that the liquor board would subsequently consider the 

5 
applications for liquor licenses, not that it would approve the applications. ~uch 

6 

7 circumstances were insufficient to give rise to a protectable property interest. 

8 Furthermore, even if it could be said that a col).tract was-created; the creation woul 

have been void for violating Nevada,s Open Meeting law as the matter was not set 
10 

ld)009/013. 

11 forth. on the agenda as one for the acceptance of a contract. NRS 241.036. Finally -· · 

12 
even if a contract could be found, such a contract is not of the type which gives ris 

13 
. . 

14 to a property interest protected by the due process clause. See Physicians Serv. · 

15 Med Group v.SanBernardino Cty., 825 F. 2d 1404 (9th Ctr. 1987). Accordingly, 
lG 

i 
7 

Malfitano was not deprived of a property interest in violation of due process. 

18 Void for Vagueness 
19 

Malfitano also asserted that SCC §5.12.0IO(A) is void for vagueness 
20 

21 .because it fails to set forth a sufficiently detailed standard to control the discretion 

22. 
of the liquor board. This vagueness allows for the arbitrary and discrhn:!natory 

23 

24 enforcement of the ordinance. 

25 Legislative ~~ctments, such as ordinances are presumed constitutional 
26 

absent a clear showing to the contrary. Starlets International v. Christensen, 106 
27 

2s Nev. 732, 73? 801P.2d 1343 (1990). The party challenging the enactment bears 

9 
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1 the burden to make a clear showing that the enactment is unconstitutional. List v. 
2 

Whistler. 99 Nev., 133, 660 P. 2d 104 (1983). Moreover, in the case of liquor 
3 

4 license ordinances, such ordinances are to be strictly construed against the 

s 
applicant for the license. Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev.363, 365-66, 914 P. 2d 

6 

7 · 631 (1996). Finally, where an area of licensing is the proper and necessary subject 

8 of police surveillance and regulation, the grant of discretionary power to license 
9 

need not be restricted by specific standards. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 
lO 

11 SSO, 552, 598 P. 2d 635 (1979); see also Staie ex rel Grimes v. Board, 53 Nev. 

12 
364, 372~73, 1P.2d 570 (1931). 

13 

24 In Nevada there is no inherent right in a citizen to sell intoxicants. County of 

15 
Clarkv. Atlantic Seafoods, 96Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980); Gragson v. 

16 

17 
Toco, 90 Nev. 131, 133, 520 P. 2d 616 (1974). Liquor boards are granted wide 

· 18 discretion in the granting or denying of such licenses. Here~ the applicant for a 
19 

liquor license is required to provide: "proof of financial standing to warrant an 
20 

21 expected satisfactoiy and profitable business operation.'' There is no showing that 

22 
this standard fails to meet a constitutional requirement of specificity applicable to 

23 

24 liquor ordinances. 

25 Equal Protection . 
26 

27 
Malfitano also asserts that Storey County vlolated his right to the equal 

2 8 protection of the laws where it has routinely issued liquor licenses to other 

10 
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l applicants without having to undergo the background scrutiny that Malfitano had 
2 

to undergo. He asserts that as a class of one he has dem.onstrated that the County 
3 

4 intentionally treated him differently from other similarly situated persons without a 

5 
rational basis for doing so. 

6 

., In this case the County had a great deal more lnfonnation aboutMalfitano>s 

8 background than it typically has with regard to an applicant for a liquor license. 
9 

This circumstance existed as a result of the back.groimd investigation conducted by 
10 

·11 the Gaining Control Board. The results of that background investigation were 

J.2 

placed in the public record by virtue of their inclusion in the order denying 
13 

l4 Malfitano gaming and landlord licenses. That order established that Malfitano 

15 failed to disclose numerous recent and significant items related to his financial 
16 

i 
7 

stability. There is no showing that other applicants for liquor licenses were 

18 similarly disingenuous in the information they provided to the liquor board. This 
19 

factor alone provides a rational basis for distinguishing between Malfitano and 
20 

21 other applicants for liquor licenses. Malfitano has not demonstrated that Storey 

22 
County violated his right to-the equal protection of the laws . 

.23 

24 Ethical Issue 

25 Mal:fitano also raises an ethics issue which aris~s under Nevada,s Ethics in 
26 

Government Law, NRS 281A.010. ItistheNevadaEthics Commission which is 
27 

2a charged with investigating and enforcing alleged violations ofNevada's ethics 

--~-- -·--- ---- --- -- -----------·-~-·····--·----:~······ --~ 
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1 laws as they apply to public officers. NRS 281A.~80; See also Comm 1n. On Ethics 
2 

v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 285, 288, 212 P. 2d 1098 (2009). This court does not have 
3 

4 original jurisdiction over such matters. Accordingly, this issue will not be further 

5 
considered. 

6 

7 Conclusion: 

B Substantial evidence supports the decisions of the Storey County Liquor 
9 

Board to deny liquor licenses to Malfitano. Substantial evidence alsn supports the 
10 

u decision of the Storey County Board of Commissioners to deny a business license 

12 
to Malfitano for the Bonanza Saloon. These decisions were not arbitrary and 

13 
. . 

14 capricious. Nor were Malfitano's rights to due process violated by either the 

15 
language of the ordinance under which Malfitano was compelled to make 

16 

17 
application for a license or by the proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor 

18 and business licenses. Finally, Storey County had a rational basis for denying 
19 

liquor licenses to Malfitano. Consequently the Petition for Writ of M.andamus and 
20 

21 all other relief requested is denied. 

Dated this '/ day m ~ 2016._ 
22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

26 
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4 Deputy District Attorney for Storey County I 

! 

s P.0.Box496 l 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
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6 Tel (775) 847-0956 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

2 
I hereby certify that I am employed by Storey County, Nevada, and that on 

3 

4 the _day of _____ ., 2015. I served a copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF 

5 ENTRY OF ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS by 
6 

7 
ordinary first class U.S. Mail to: 

8 Matthew B. Hippler 

9 Scott Scherer 
Brandon C. Sendall 

10 HOLLAND & HART LLP 
11 5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 

Reno NV 89511 
12 

13 

14 With courtesy copy via email to: 
mhippler@hollandhart.com 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Debra Bums 
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1 Matthew B. Hippler (SBN 7015) 
Scott Scherer (SBN 87) 

2 Brandon C. Sendall (SBN 13246) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

3 5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89511 

4 Tel.: 775-327-3049 
Fax: 775-786-6179 

5 mhippler@hollandhart.com 
sscherer@hollandhart.com 

6 bcsendall@hollandhart.com 

7 Attorneys for Petitioners 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

DR. VINCENT M. MALFIT ANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 
corporation, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through 
the STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and the 
STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 15-0C-00008 IE 

Dept. No. II 

PETITIONERS' OBJECTION TO ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF 
MANDAMUS DATED MARCH 7, 2016 

Petitioners, Dr. Vincent M. Malfitano, Virginia City Gaming, LLC and Delta Saloon, 

Inc. (collectively, the "Petitioners"), by and through their attorneys of record, Matthew B. 

Hippler, Scott Scherer, and Brandon C. Sendall of the law firm of Holland & Hart LLP, hereby 

submit this Objection to the Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus (the "Order"), 

which was filed on March 7, 2016. This Objection does not seek the reconsideration of the 

Court's Order and does not seek to alter or amend the Order. Rather, the purpose of this 

Objection is to make a record of objection to Respondent's counsel submitting a proposed 

order to the Court without complying with the First Judicial District Court Rules. 

1 
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1 I. 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

Applicable Rules. 

FJDCR 19(4) provides: 

All proposed findings, conclusions of law, judgments and decrees, 
orders affecting the title to or creating or affecting a lien upon real 
or personal property, appealable orders, and such other orders as 
the Court may direct, shall be prepared, in writing, by the 
prevailing party, and shall embody the Court's decision, where 
applicable, and incorporate the decision by reference, unless the 
Court shall otherwise order. The prevailing party shall serve a copy 
of the proposed document upon counsel for all parties 5 days prior 
to submission of the document to the Court Clerk and shall file 
proof of such service. Thereafter the prevailing party shall file a 
request to submit the proposed document and the Court Clerk shall 
then submit it to the Court. If opposing counsel intends to object to 
the form or substance of any such document, or move to amend it, 
counsel shall do so within 5 days after service of the proposed 
findings and judgment upon all parties. The proposed document 
(order, judgment, etc.) shall be submitted no later than 10 judicial 
days following the hearing or trial. 

In relevant part, FJDCR 32 discusses ex parte contact with the Court, and the rule 

provides: 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 II. 

1. The Judges will not permit, receive or consider ex parte 
communications. 

2. Ex parte communication is any communication made outside 
the presence of the parties concerning a pending or impending 
proceeding. 

3. All written communication for the Judges must be filed with 
the Court Clerk, served on all parties, and contain proof of service. 

Respondent's Counsel Submitted a Proposed Order to the Court Without 

22 Complying with FJDCR 32(3) or FJDCR 19(4). 

23 On March 7, 2016, the Court entered the Order, and Petitioners' counsel received a 

24 copy of the Order on March 9, 2016. A copy of the Order is attached as Exhibit "1". At the 

25 bottom of the Order and although it is not signed, the Order states that it was submitted by 

26 Respondent's counsel, Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis. 

27 Upon receiving the Order on March 9, 2016, Petitioner's counsel emailed Mr. Loomis 

28 and asked if he submitted a proposed order to the Court and if the Court had requested that he 

2 
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1 do so. See Various Emails, attached as Exhibit "2". In response to that email and on March 

2 10th, Mr. Loomis claimed ignorance of what was being asked of him. Id. That same day, 

3 Petitioner's counsel reiterated the same two questions in another email to Mr. Loomis. Id. 

4 After not hearing from Mr. Loomis on March 11th, 12th, or 13th, Petitioner's counsel again 

5 asked on March 14th for the professional courtesy of a response from Mr. Loomis. Id. That 

6 day, Mr. Loomis responded by again ignoring the question of whether he submitted a proposed 

7 order to the Court. Id. 

8 In light of Mr. Loomis' telling and unprofessional refusal to answer the question, this 

9 much is known. First, the Order appears to have been submitted to the Court for consideration 

10 and signature by Mr. Loomis as demonstrated by the "submitted by" signature block. See 

11 Order. 

12 Second, throughout these proceedings, Mr. Loomis' pleadings oftentimes include the 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"@" symbol in his citations to cases instead of "at." See, e.g., Respondents' Answer and 

Return to Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate, filed on October 19, 2015, at page 4, lines 15-

27; Respondents' Supplemental Brief in Opposition to Verified Petition for Writ of Mandamus, 

filed on December 8, 2015, at page 5, line 19 and page 8, line 17. The Order includes such an 

"@" symbol. See Order, at page 5, line 8. As such, aside from the "submitted by" signature 

block in the Order, Mr. Loomis appears to have drafted the Order. 

Third, Mr. Loomis did not deny that he submitted a proposed order to the Court. 

Fourth, pursuant to FJDCR 32(3), all written communication to the Court - including 

written proposed orders - must be served on all parties. Petitioners' counsel did not receive 

from Respondent's counsel a proposed order denying the Writ of Mandamus. See Declaration 

of Matthew B. Hippler, attached as Exhibit "3". If Respondent's counsel decided to 

proactively submit to the Court a proposed order without the Court first having requested such 

an order or even if the Court had requested such an order from Respondent's counsel, FJDCR 

32(3) requires Respondent's counsel to provide the proposed order to Petitioners' counsel. 

Fifth, beyond the plain language of FJDCR 32(3), FJDCR 19(4) is even more specific 

in requiring a proposed order to be provided to opposing counsel prior to the proposed order 

3 
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1 being submitted to the Court. Petitioners' counsel never received a proposed order denying the 

2 Writ of Mandamus, and he learned of the Order having been submitted to the Court on March 

3 9th and only after the Order had already been signed and filed by the Court on March 7th. See 

4 Declaration. This situation is even more curious and disappointing since Respondent's 

5 counsel had previously followed professional protocol and the requirements of FJDCR 32(3) 

6 and FJDCR 19(4) in handling a proposed order earlier in the case. See Email Dated October 

7 22, 2015, attached as Exhibit "4". 

8 III. 

9 

Conclusion. 

Based on the foregoing and by submitting a proposed order to the Court without first 

10 

11 

12 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

providing it to Petitioners' counsel, Respondent's counsel violated FJDCR 32(3) and FJDCR 

19( 4), and this is true regardless of whether the Court asked Respondent's counsel for the 

proposed order or not. Petitioners' counsel does not come to this frustrating conclusion lightly, 

and Respondent's counsel was repeatedly provided an opportunity to explain the circumstances 

leading to the entry of the Order. He declined that opportunity, and this Objection was 

therefore necessary to make a clear record in this case of Respondent's counsel's violation of 

FJDCR 32(3) and FJDCR 19(4). 

person. 

The undersigned affirms that the foregoing does not contain the social security of any 

DATED this 16th day of March 2016. 

Ma ew B. Hi ler (SBN 7015) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Attorneys for Petitioners 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Martha Hauser, certify: 

I am employed in the City of Reno, County of Washoe, State of Nevada by the law 
offices of Holland & Hart LLP. My business address is 5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor, 
Reno, Nevada 89511. I am over the age of 18 years and not a party to this action. 

I am readily familiar with Holland & Hart LLP's practice for collection and processing o 
its outgoing mail with the United States Postal Service. Such practice in the ordinary course of 
business provides for the deposit of all outgoing mail with the United States Postal Service on 
the same day it is collected and processed for mailing. 

On March 16, 2016, I served the foregoing PETITIONERS' OBJECTION TO 
ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS DATED MARCH 7, 
2016, by placing a true copy thereof in Holland & Hart LLP's outgoing mail in a sealed 
envelope, addressed as follows: 

Anne Langer 
Storey County District Attorney 
Keith Loomis 
Deputy District Attorney 
P.O. Box 496 
201 South C Street 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

Martha Hauser 

5 
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1 ANNE LANGER (SBN 3345) 

2 STOREY COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 

·
3 Deputy District Attorney 
4 P.O. Box 496 201 South C Street 

Virginia City, NV 89440 
5 

Tel. (775) 847-0964 
6 .. Fax. (775) 847-1007 

7 . kloomis@storeycounty.org 

8 Attorney for Respondent 
9 

MAR 1 2016 

Sfrey Co. Clerk 

~ De uty 

10 
IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF 

NEV ADA IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 
11 

12 Dr. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING 

13 LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
14 and DEL TA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 

corporation, 
15 

16 Petitioners, 

17 vs. 

18 COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and 
· 1 9 through the STOREY CODNTY BOARD 

OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and 
20 the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR 
21 BOARD, 

22 
·Respondent. 

23 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 lE 

Dept. No. II 

24 ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

25 This case arises out of the filing of a Petition for Writ of Mandamus by 
26 

2 7 
Petitioners (collectively Malfitano) challenging the refusal of Respondent, 

2s (hereafter Storey County) to issue business and liquor licenses to Malfitano. In the 

1 
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1 Petition and subsequent pleadings, Malfitano asse1is that Storey County acted 

2 

3 
arbitrarily and capriciously in denying those licenses. Malfitano also asserts that 

4 the denial of the licenses denied him the due process of law and the equal 

5 
protection of the laws. These claims lack merit. 

6 

7 History 

B Petitioner, Vincent Malfitano, owns Virginia Gaming LLC, and Delta 
9 

10 
Saloon Inc. Through these· entities, he recently purchased the Delta and Bonanza 

11 Saloons in Virginia City, Nevada.· Prior to his purchase, the saloons had 

12 
conducted business pursuant to gaming, liquor and business licenses issued to its 

13 

14 prior owner. Even after his purchase, the saloons had gaming, liquor and business 

15 
licenses by virtue of being operated by a properly licensed lessee ·of Malfitano. 

16 

17 Malfitano. subsequently sought gaming, liquor and business licenses for the 

18 premises on his own behalf. The Nevada Gaming Control Board conducted an in 
19 

20 
depth investigation into Malfitano's suitability to hold gaming licenses or to hold 

21 landlord licenses as to premises on which gaming would be conducted. The 

22 
Gaming Control Board recommended to the Nevada Gaming Commission that all 

23 

24 such licenses be denied. The Gaming Commission held a lengthy hearing on the 

2.5 requested licensure on August 20, 2015. It voted unanimously to deny the gaming 
26 

27 
and landlord licenses to Malfitano for a variety of reasons including a failure to 

28 demonstrate business competence, a failure to demonstrate business probity and 

2 
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·l failures to disclose numerous and recent facts relevant to a showing of business 
2 

competence or probity. 
3 

4 Thereafter Malfitano applied to Storey County to obtain liquor and business 

5 
licenses to operate the Bonanza and Delta Saloons. These applications were first 

6 

7 heard on September 1, 2015. At that time, liquor and business licenses for the 

B premises were still held by Malfitano's lessee of the premises. Accordingly, due to 
9 

10 
the fact that granting the requests would result in duplicate licenses, Storey County 

11 denied the requested licenses. 

12 
Malfitano subsequently terminated the lease with the licensed lessee. He 

13. 

14 reapplied for liquor and business licenses for the Delta and Bonanza Saloons. A 

15 
hearing into the applications was conducted byStorey County on October 6, 2015. 

16 

17 At the conclusion of the hearing, the Liquor Board refused to issue liquor licenses 

18 for either the Delta Saloon or the Bonanza Saloon, The Board of County 
19 

Commissioners did issue a business license for the Delta Saloon, but refused to 
20 

21 issue a business license for the Bonanza Saloon. 

22 
On October 13, 2015, Malfitano filed his petition for a writ of mandamus. 

23 

24 He followed that filing, the next day, with the filing of an ex parte motion for a 

25 temporary restraining order and for a preliminary injunction. This court held a 
26 

27 
hearing on the motion on October 21, 2015. Following the close of the hearing, 

28 this court denied the requests for the temporary restraining order and for the 

3 
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1 preliminary injunction. This court did so on the grounds that it did not appear that 

2 

Malfitano had a likelihood of success on the merits of the claims, that Malfitano 
3 

4 did not establish a likelihood of irreparable harm and that Malfitano did not lack an 

5 
adequate remedy at law. 

6 

7 Subsequent to the issuance of that order, Malfitano requested and was 

8 gra11ted permission to file supplemental briefs addressing the propriety of the 
9 

10 
requested writ relief. Malfitano, as did Storey County, both filed additional briefs. 

11 Malfitano raised additional issues in the supplemental brief addressing due process 

12 
. and equal protection issues and submitted additional evidence in support of these 

13 

14 issues. Storey County did not object to the raising of these new issues. Instead, 

15 
Storey County also briefed the new issues. In light of the new issues, this court 

16 

17 remanded the matter to Storey County for clarification of the reasons for the denial 

18 of the liquor and business licenses. 
19 

20 
Following the remand of the case, Storey County did hold a hearing to 

21 . address the Order of Remand. The members of the Boards who voted to deny the 

22 . . . 
licenses then set forth their reasons for denying the licenses. Two subsequent 

.23 

24 rounds of supplemental briefing with evidentiary attachments addressing the 

25 reasoning for denying thelicenses, followed. Neither party has subsequently 
26 

requested further opportunity to present doclimentary or testamentary evidence. 
27 .. . . . . . 

28 

4 
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1 The matter is fully submitted for decision on the merits of the Petition for Writ of 
2 

Mandamus. 
3 

4 Standard of Review 

5 
The writ of mandamus is available to compel the performance of a duty 

6 

7 required by law or to confrol a manifest or arbitrary or capricious exercise of 

8 discretion. State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong), 127 Nev. Adv. Opn. 84 @p.3, 267 P.3d 
9 

10 
777 (2011); City Council v. Irvine, 102 Nev. 277, 721P.2d 371 (1986) Round Hil 

ll Gen. Imp. Dist. V. Newman, 97 Nev. 601, 603-04, 637 P. 2d 534 (1981). An act is 

12 
arbitrary when it is done in an apparent absence of any grounds or reasons for the 

13 

14 decision. City of Reno v. Estate a/Wells, 110 Nev. 1218, 1222, 885 P. 2d 545 

15 
(1994). It is presumed that a licensing authority will not exercise its licensing duty 

16 

17 in an arbitrary or oppressive fashion. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 550, 552, 

18 598 P. 2d 635 (1979). Additionally, liquor license boards are vested with broad 
19 

20 
discretion in reviewing applicants for liquor licenses. County of Clark v. Atlantic 

21 Seafoods, 96 Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980). The burden is on the applicant 

22 
for a liquor license to demonstrate capriciousness by the Board. Gragson v. Toco, 

23 

24 90.Nev. 131, 133, 520 P.2d 616 (1974). 

25 

26 

27 

28 

5 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Discussion 

Liquor Licenses 

In this case an applicant for a Storey County liquor license is required to 

provide to the liquor board: "Proof of financial standing to warrant an expected 

satisfactory and profitable business operation." Storey County Code §5.12.0lO(A). 

The record contains substantial evidence supporting a finding that Malfitano did 

not meet this requirement. 1
. Included in the record is a copy of the Nevada Gaming 

Commission's order denying Malfitano gaming and landlord licenses. In relevant 

part that order recites: 

[Petitioners] filed applications with the BOARD and failed to 
disclose nm,nerous, recent, and financially significant items including, 
but not limited to lawsuits, foreclosures, business interests, delinquent 
tax payments, tax liens, and default notices ... 

[Petitioners] failed to carry their burdens to demonstrate 
adequate business probity. This is demonstrated through 
nondisclosure of business related issues to the BOARD, significant 
employment related issue from MALFITANO'S assisted living 
business and his prior dental practice. Significant citations .and actions 
by 'other regulatory agencies concerning MALFIT ANO' s assisted 
living business and his prior dental practice, the existence of · 
numerous prior tax liens, and the appearance of significant cash flow 
problems .... 

Commissioner McBride advised the Board that as a result of attending the 

. hearing before the Gaming Commission he learned that Malfitano had twelve 

i In reviewing the record regarding the denial of liquor arid business license for an abuse of discretion, this 
court is limited to reviewing the record presented to the board and does not review after-supplied materials. See 
Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev.363, 364-65, 914 P. 2d 631 (1996). 

6 
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1 million dollars in debt. He also pointed out that with the inability to obtain gaming 

3 
licenses, a major source of revenue for the saloons was lost. County Manager 

4 Whitten pointed out that a history of foreclosures, delinquent tax payments, tax 

5 
liens, are serious contra-indicators of financial standing. Consequently, the 

6 

7 decisions to deny the.issuance of the liquor licenses were not arbitrary and 

8 capnc10us. 
9 

Business License 
10 

11 
While the Board of County Commissioners granted a business license for th 

12 operation of the Delta Saloon, it denied a business license for the operation of the 
13 

Bonanza Saloon. Under Storey County Code §5.04.lOO(A) the county can refuse 
14 

15 to issue a business license: "[U]ntil an applicant complies or agrees to comply with 

16 
all other existing ordinances or laws in force/' Here, the Board was informed by 

17 

18 the Chief of the Fire District that he had been working with Malfitano to remedy 

19 fire code deficiencies on the Bonanza premises. In his opinion the building was 
20 

21 
not safe. Based on this evidence the decision to deny the business license was not 

22 an arbitrary and capricious exercise of discretion. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

. 28 

7 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

Due Process 

Property Interest 

(
~, 

, __ ) 

Malfitano asserts that he was denied the due process of law in the 

proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor and business licenses.2 He asserts 

that he had reached an agreement with Storey County as a result of representations 

made to him by Comillissioner McBride at the hearing on September 1, 2015. 

9 . Those representations were that once Malfitano straightened out the issue of 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

duplicate licenses, he would be granted a liquor license. Accordingly he asserts he 

had a protectable prope1ty interest in the contractual agreement to which due 

process ·of law principles should have ·applied .. 

Malfitano' s contention that he had a protectable property interest is not 

tenable. Property interests protectable under the due process clause : "[A]re 

·created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that 

stem from a~ independent source such as state law rules oi: understandlrtgs that 

secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits." 

Board a/Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 576 (1972). In order to have a property 

interest protected by the Fourteenth Amendment a person must have more than a 

unilateral expectation of a property interest. Id. Rather, he must have a legitimate 

claim of entitlemertt to the property interest. Id. Here, Malfitano relies on the 

2 In reviewing the constitutional claims, this court will consider all of the evidence submitted by the 
parties as this review is not limited to the evidence submitted to the Boards. 

8 
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1 representations of a single member of the liquor board during the course of a 
2 

3 
public meeting as establishing his property interest. The representations relied on 

4 were corrected to clarify that the liquor board would subsequently consider the 

5 
applications for liquor licenses, not that it would approve the applications. Such 

6 

1 circumstances were insufficient to give rise to a protectable property interest. 

8 Furthermore, even if it could be said that a contract was created, the creation would 
9 

10 
have been void for violating Nevada's Open Meeting law as the matter was not set 

11 forth on the agenda as one for the acceptance of a contract. NRS 241.036. Finally 

12 
even if a contract could be found, such a contract is not of the type which gives rise 

13 

14 to a property interest protected by the due.process clause. See Physicians Serv. 

15 
Med. Group v.San Bernardino Cty. 1 825 F. 2d 1404 (9th Cir. 1987). Accordingly, 

16 

17 Malfitano was not deprived of a property interest in violation of due process. 

18 Void for Vagueness 
19 

20 
Malfitano also asserted that SCC §5.12.0lO(A) is void for vagueness 

21 because it fails to set forth a sufficiently detailed standard to control the discretion 

22 
of the liquor board. This vagueness allows for the arbitrary and discriminatory 

23 

24 enforcement of the ordinance. 

25 Legislative enactments, such as ordinances are presumed constitutional 
26 

27 
absent a clear showing to the contrary. Starlets International v. Christensen, 106 

28 Nev. 732, 735 801P.2d 1343 (1990). The party challenging the enactment bears . 

9 
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1 the burden to make a clear showing that the enactment is unconstitutional. List v. 

2 

Whistler 99 Nev., 133, 660 P. 2d 104 (1983). Moreover, in the case of liquor 
3 

4 license ordinances, such ordinances are to be strictly construed against the 

5 
applicant for the license. Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev.363, 365-66, 914 P. 2d 

6 

7 631 (1996). Finally, where an area oflicensing is the proper and necessary subject 

8 of police surveillance and regulation, the grant of discretionary power to license 
9 

10 
need not be restricted by specific standards. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 

11 550, 552, 598 P. 2d 635 (1979); see also State ex rel Grimes v. Board, 53 Nev. 

12 
364, 372-73, 1 P. 2d 570 (1931). 

13 

14 In Nevada there is no inherent right in a citizen to sell intoxicants. County of 

15 
Clark v. Atlantic Seafoods, 96 Nev. 608, 610, 615 P. 2d 233 (1980); Gragson v. 

16 

17 Toco, 90 Nev. 131, 133, 520 P. 2d 616 (1974). Liquor boards are granted wide 

18 discretion in the granting or denying of such licenses. Here, the applicant for a 
19 

20 
liquor license is required to provide: "proof of financial standing to warrant an 

21 expected satisfactory and profitable business operation." There is no showing that 

22 
this standard fails to meet a constitutional requirement of specificity applicable to 

23 

24 liquor ordinances. 

25 Equal Protection 
26 

27 
Malfitano also asserts that Storey County violated his right to the equal 

28 protection of the laws where it has routinely issued liquor licenses to other 

10 
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1 applicants without having to undergo the background scmtiny that Malfitano had 

2 

to undergo. He asserts that as a class of one he has demonstrated that the County 
3 

4 intentionally treated him differently from other similarly situated persons without a 

5 
rational basis for doing so. 

6 

7 In this case the County had a great deal more information about Malfitano' s 

8 background than it typically has with regard to an applicant for a liquor license. 
9 

10 
This circumstance existed as a result of the background investigation conducted by 

11 the Gaming Control Board. The results of that background investigation were 

12 
placed in the public record by virtue of their inclusion in the order denying 

13 

14 Malfitano gaming and landlord licenses. That order established that Malfitano 

15 
failed to disclose numerous recent and significant items related to his financial 

16 

17 
stability. There is no showing that other applicants for liquor licenses were 

18 similarly disingenuous in the information they provided to the liquor board. This 
19 

20 
factor alone provides a rational basis for distinguishing between Malfitano and 

21 other applicants for liquor licenses. Malfitano has not demonstrated that Storey 

22 
County violated his right to the equal protection of the laws. 

23 

24 ·Ethical Issue 

25 Malfitano also raises an ethics issue which arises under Nevada's Ethics in 
26 

27 
Government Law. NRS 281A.010. It is the Nevada Ethics Commission which is 

28 charged with investigating and enforcing alleged violations of Nevada's ethics . . . 

11 
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l laws as they apply to public officers. NRS 281A.280; See also Comm 'n. On Ethics 

2 

3 
v. Hardy, 125 Nev. 285, 288, 212 P. 2d 1098 (2009). This court does not have 

4 original jurisdiction over such matters. Accordingly, this issue will not be further 

s 
considered. 

6 

7 Conclusion: 

8 Substantial evidence supports the decisions of the Storey County Liquor 
9 

10 
Board to deny liquor licenses to Malfitano. Substantial evidence also supp01is the 

11 decision of the Storey County Board of Commissioners to deny a business license 

12 
to Malfitano for the Bonanza Saloon. These decisions were not arbitrary and 

13 

14 capricious. Nor were Malfitano's rights to due process violated by eitherthe 

15 
language of the ordinance under which Malfitano was compelled to make 

16 

17 application for a license or by the proceedings leading to the denial of the liquor 

18 and business licenses. Finally, Storey County had a rational basis for denying 
19 

20 
liquor licenses to Malfitano. Consequently the Petition for Writ of Mandamus and 

21 all other relief requested is denied. 

22 

23 
Dated this '/ day of~ 2016. 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

12 
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Submitted by 

Keith Loomis, No. 1912 
Deputy District Attorney for Storey County 
P.O. Box 496 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Tel(775) 847-0956 
Fax (775) 847-1007 
kloomis@storeycounty.org 
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Matthew Hippler 

From: 
Sent: 

Keith Loomis <kloomis@storeycounty.org> 
Monday, March 14, 2016 4:51 PM 

To: Matthew Hippler 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Anne Langer; robert morris 
RE: Court's order 

Matt: 

If you have a problem with the order or the way the court generated the order, take it up with the court. 

Keith 

From: Matthew Hippler [mailto:MHippler@hollandhart.com] 
Sent: Monday, March 14, 2016 8:53 AM 
To: Keith Loomis 
Cc: Anne Langer; robert morris 
Subject: RE: Court's order 

Keith, 

I would appreciate the professional courtesy of a response to my below email. Matt 

From: Matthew Hippler 
Sent: Thursday, March 10, 2016 1:30 PM 
To: 'Keith Loomis' 
Cc: Anne Langer; robert morris 
Subject: RE: Court's order 

Keith, 

It's very simple. Did you submit a proposed order to the court? The order that was entered has a submitted by 
signature block at the end of the order with your name. If you did submit a proposed order, when were you contacted 

by the court to submit such a proposed order? - Matt 

From: Keith Loomis [mailto:kloomis@storeycounty.org] 
Sent: Thursday, March 10, 2016 1:19 PM 
To: Matthew Hippler 
Cc: Anne Langer; robert morris 
Subject: RE: Court's order 

Matt: 

Not sure what this is about, but it looks like something you probably need to take up with the court. 

Keith 

1 
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From: Matthew Hippler [mailto:MHippler@hollandhart.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, March 09, 2016 4:45 PM 
To: Keith Loomis 
Subject: Court's order 

Keith, 

I am in receipt of the attached order denying the writ. I was surprised to see your signature block at the bottom of the 
order indicating that you submitted a proposed order to the court without first serving me. Did you submit a proposed 
order to the court? When were you contacted by the court to submit a proposed order? I look forward to your 

response. - Matt 

HOLLAND& H./\.RT »j Matthew e. Hippler, P.c. 
k'4tdll Partner 

mhippler@hollandhart.com 

Phone: 775-327-3049 Holland & Hart LLP 
Fax: 

775
_786_6179 5441 Kietzke Lane, 2nd Fir. 

Reno, NV 89511 
Main: 775-327-3000 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This message is confidential and may be 
privileged. If you believe that this email has been sent to you in 
error, please reply to the sender that you received the message in 
error; then please delete this e-mail. Thank you. 

2 
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Matthew B. Hippler (SBN 7015) 
Scott Scherer (SBN 87) 
Brandon C. Sendall (SBN 13246) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
5441 Kietzke Lane, Second Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89511 
Tel.: 775-327-3049 
Fax: 775-786-6179 
rnhippler@hollandhart.com 
sscherer@hollandhart.com 
bcsendall@hollandhart.com 

Attorneys for Petitioners 

IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 

DR. VINCENT M. MALFIT ANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING, 
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 
corporation, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through 
the STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and the 
STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 15-0C-00008 lE 

Dept. No. II 

DECLARATION OF MATTHEW B. HIPPLER 

Pursuant to NRS 53.045, I, Matthew B. Hippler, declare as follows: 

1. I am a partner in the law firm of Holland & Hart LLP and am counsel for 

Petitioners in the above-entitled action. I am an attorney qualified and licensed to practice law 

in the State of Nevada. I have personal knowledge of the matters stated herein. If called as a 

witness, I am competent to testify as to the matters stated in this Declaration. 

2. All of the pleadings and emails attached to PETITIONERS' OBJECTION TO 

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS DATED MARCH 7, 2016 are 

true and correct copies. 

Ill 

1 
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1 3. On March 7, 2016, the Court entered the Order Denying Petition for Writ of 

2 Mandamus (the "Order"), and I received a copy of the Order on March 9, 2016. 

3 4. Upon receiving the Order on March 9, 2016, I emailed Mr. Loomis and asked if 

4 he submitted a proposed order to the Court and if the Court had requested that he do so. In 

5 response to that email and on March 10th, Mr. Loomis claimed ignorance of what I asked of 

6 him. That same day, I reiterated the same two questions to Mr. Loomis in an email. After not 

7 hearing from Mr. Loomis on March 11th, 12th, or 13th, I again asked on March 14th for the 

8 professional courtesy of a response from Mr. Loomis. That day, Mr. Loomis responded by 

9 again ignoring the question of whether he submitted a proposed order to the Court. 

10 5. I did not receive a proposed order denying the Writ of Mandamus from 

11 Respondent's counsel at any time prior to the Order being entered by the Court. 

12 6. I learned of Respondent's counsel submitting a proposed order to the Court on 

March 9th and only after the Order had already been signed and filed by the Court on March 

14 7th. 

15 I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

16 Executed on March I fJ , 2016. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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Matthew Hippler 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Matt 

Keith Loomis < kloomis@storeycounty.org > 
Thursday, October 22, 2015 3:10 PM 
Matthew Hippler 
robert morris; Anne Langer 
Proposed Order 
Proposed Order.docx 

Attached is my first shot at the proposed order. 

Keith Loomis 

Deputy District Attorney 

Storey County District Attorney's 

Office 

P.O. Box 496, 201 South C Street 

Virginia City, NV 89440 
(775) 847-0964 

** Notice** This message and accompanying documents are covered by the electronic 
Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2521. This email and any files transmitted 
with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to 
whom they are addressed. If you are not the named addressee you should not disseminate, 
distribute or copy this e-mail. Please notify the sender immediately by e-mail if you 
have received this e-mail by mistake and delete this e-mail from your system. If you are 
not the intended recipient you are notified that disclosing, copying, distributing or 
taking any action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. 

1 



JA000913

1 ANNE LANGER (SBN 3345) 

2 STOREY COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 

3 Deputy District Attorney 
4 P.O. Box 496 201 South C Street 

5 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Tel. (775) 847-0964 

6 Fax. (775) 847-1007 

7 kloomis@storeycounty.org 

8 Attorney for Respondent 
9 

10 
IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF 

NEV ADA IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 
11 

12 Dr. VINCENT M. MALFIT ANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING 

13 LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
14 and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 

corporation, 
15 

16 vs. 

17 

Petitioners, 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and 
18 through the STOREY COUNTY BOARD 
19 OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and 

the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR 
20 

BOARD, 
21 Respondent. 

22 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 IE 

Dept. No. II 

23 

24 

RESPONSE TO PETITIONERS' OBJECTION TO ORDER 
DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS DATED 

MARCH 7, 2016 

25 Respondent, by and through its attorney, Keith Loomis, Deputy District 
26 

27 
Attorney for Storey County, Nevada hereby responds to Petitioners Objection to 

28 the Order of this Court issued March 7, 2016. In their objection Petitioners 

1 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

specifically assert that they do not seek reconsideration of the Court's Order, nor 

do they seek to alter or amend the Order in any way. They do not suggest that the 

order is exaggerated or unsupported by the record. They do not seek any type of 

relief. Rather they assert that their sole purpose is to make a record of their 

perception that the rules of this Court were violated by not submitting the proposed 

order to Petitioners. This they have done. It appears, however, that their basis for 

objection lacks merit. 

1. FJDCR 19(4) Does Not Apply to the Procedure Utilized in this Case. 
a. There was no decision by the court to be incorporated in the 

proposed order. 

Petitioners suggest that FJDCR 19(4) required Respondent to submit a 

proposed order to Petitioners prior to submitting it to the Court. FJDCR 19(4), 

however, appears to apply to a situation where an oral decision is made by the 

Court in response to a hearing or oral argument or a similar proceeding occurring 

in open court. The rule states, in part, that the order: " [S]hall be prepared in 

writing, by the prevailing party, and shall embody the Court's decision, where 

applicable, and incorporate the decision by reference, ... " unless the Court shall 

otherwise order." 

In this case, there was no decision made at the close of an open court 

proceeding. Rather Respondent received an e-mail from the Court's judicial 

assistant directing that a proposed order be prepared in accordance with the 

2 
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1 arguments in Respondent's brief. See Exhibit 1. Consequently, there was not a 

2 

decision from the Court which could be embodied in an order. This is in contrast 
3 

4 to the situation that occurred after the hearing on the motion for a temporary 

5 
restraining order and preliminary injunction. In that case, the court announced its 

6 

7 decision from the bench, ordered the prevailing party to prepare the order and 

8 submit it to opposing counsel for review. That process was an application of Rule 
9 

10 
19(4). The difference in the circumstances ofthe two matters suggests the 

11 inapplicability ofFJDCR 19(4) to the circumstances of the present objection. 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

b. The direction from the court did not contemplate the 
procedure set forth in FJDCR 19(4). 

F JDCR 19( 4) goes on to state: 

The prevailing party shall serve a copy of the proposed 
document upon counsel for all parties 5 days prior to submission of 
the document to the Court Clerk and shall file proof of such service. 
Thereafter the prevailing party shall file a request to submit the 
proposed document and the Court Clerk shall then submit it to the 
Court. (emphasis added). 

In this case, Respondent was directed to provide the proposed order directly 

to the Court's judicial assistant not to the Court Clerk. Ex. 1. The direction from 

24 the Court did not mention serving the proposed order on opposing counsel. This 

25 again suggests the inapplicability of FJDCR 19( 4). 
26 

27 

28 
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10 
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13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

c. Under FJDCR 19(4) the Court was free to "otherwise order". 

Even ifFJDCR 19(4) does apply, the rule also provides that the obligation to 

prepare a proposed order shall follow the procedure set forth in the Rule: "unless 

the court shall otherwise order." Clearly the Court is free to handle the preparation 

of a proposed order in a different fashion. While the email from the Court is not 

specifically identified as an "order" it is certainly an equivalent. Accordingly, 

even ifFJDCR 19(4) applies, the rule authorizes the Court to utilize a procedure 

for obtaining a proposed order other than that procedure expressly set forth in the 

Rule. 

2. Respondent did not Communicate Improperly With the Court. 

Petitioners also assert that the submission of the proposed order directly to 

the Court somehow violates FJDCR 32. Petitioners refer to subsections 1, 2 and 3 

of that rule which prohibit a party from communicating ex parte with the Court. 

Petitioners neglect to mention that subsections 4 and 5 of the rule provide: 

4. Purely procedural issues, e.g., continuances, may be 
discussed with the judicial assistant or law clerk. 

5. No attorney may argue or attempt to influence a judicial 
assistant or law clerk upon the merits of a contested matter pending 
before the Judge to whom that judicial assistant or law clerk is 
assigned. 

In this case it is questionable whether the submission of a proposed order 

constitutes "communication" as contemplated by Rule 32. The submission of the 

4 
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1 order is not an argument or attempt to influence the Court, a law clerk or a judicial 

2 
assistant on the merits of a contested matter. It is simply the provision of a 

3 

4 document requested by the Court. It is in the nature of a purely procedural issue, 

5 
i.e., the submission of a proposed order. 

6 

7 Even ifthe submission of the proposed order can be considered a 

8 communication, that does not make the communication improper. Under NRS 
9 

10 
34.300 the rules of practice in mandamus proceedings are largely governed by the 

11 Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. Under these rules, the Nevada Supreme Court 

12 
has specifically stated that NRCP 52(b ); "now contemplates ex parte findings 

13 

14 subject to the right of the other party to move to amend the same ... ". See, Foster 

15 
v. Bank Of America, 77 Nev. 365, 373, 365 P. 2d 313 (1961); see also, Foley v. 

16 

17 
Morse & Mowbray, 109 Nev. 116, 123, 848 P. 2d 519 (1993). Consequently, 

18 there was nothing objectionable about submitting the proposed order as requested. 
19 

Conclusion: 
20 

21 The Court was free to utilize a procedure other than that expressly set o_ut in 

22 
FJDCR 19( 4) to obtain a proposed order. Requiring a prevailing party to prepare a 

23 

24 proposed order which is subject to a motion to amend pursuant to NRCP 52(b) by 

25 Ill 
26 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 
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dissatisfied opposing litigant is not a violation of the local court rules. 

Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that the objection is meritless. 

Dated this 2 ~ f ~ dayofU '2016. 

~ 
Keith Loomis, No 1912 
Deputy District Attorney 
Storey County 
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1 ANNE LANGER(SBN 3345) 

2 STOREY COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Keith Loomis (SBN 1912) 

3 Deputy District Attorney 
4 P.O. Box 496 201 South C Street 

5 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Tel. (775) 847-0964 

6 Fax. (775) 847-1007 

7 kloomis@storeycounty.org 

8 Attorney for Respondent 
9 

10 
IN THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF 

NEV ADA IN AND FOR STOREY COUNTY 
11 

12 Dr. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an 
individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING 

13 LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; 
14 and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada 

corporation, 
15 

16 vs. 

17 

Petitioners, 

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and 
18 through the STOREY COUNTY BOARD 
1 9 OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and 

the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR 
20 BOARD, 
21 Respondent. 

22 

Case No. 15 OC 00008 lE 

Dept. No. II 

AFFIDAVIT OF KEITH LOOMIS 
23 

2 4 I, Keith Loomis assert that I am a Deputy District Attorney for Storey 

25 

26 

27 

28 

County, Nevada and have personal knowledge of the matters set forth below. 

1. Attached hereto is the full email string between myself and the Judicial 
Assistant for Department II of the first Judicial District Court regarding 

[Pleading Title] - 1 
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14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

the Court's decision on the Petition for Writ of Mandamus filed by 
Malfitano et al. 

2. There were no other communications of any type between myself and the 
staff or the judge of Department II of the First Judicial District Court 
regarding the Court's decision of that matter other than the pleadings and 
briefs filed in that case which were served on all parties. 

The assertions set forth above are true and are made under the penalties of 

perjury. 

Dated this 2.Yf'li\ day ofU , 2016. 

~~ 1~nris 

[Pleading Title] - 2 
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Virginia City, NV 89440 
(775) 847-0964 

Storey County is an equal opportunity provider 

** Notice** This message and accompanying documents are covered by the electronic 
Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-2521. This email and any files transmitted 
with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to 
whom they are addressed. If you are not the named addressee you should not disseminate, 
distribute or copy this e-mail. Please notify the sender immediately by e-mail if you 
have received this e-mail by mistake and delete this e-mail from your system. If you are 
not the intended recipient you are notified that disclosing, copying, distributing or 
taking any action in reliance on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. 

From: Gina Winder [mailto:GWinder@carson.org] 
Sent: Friday, February 26, 2016 2:35 PM 
To: Keith Loomis 
Cc: Debra Burns 
Subject: Malfitano 

Hi Keith: 

Please send a proposed order consistent with your briefs in this matter, by Friday, March 4, 2016. You can 
send it to me in word or wordperfect format please. 

Best, 

~ilf a II. Uf;lfc/e,r-
Judicial Assistant, Dept. 2 

First Judicial District Court 
Honorable James E. Wilson, Jr. 

(775) 882-1619 
(775) 887-2296 

3 
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(775) 882-1619 
(775) 887-2296 

From: Keith Loomis [mailto:kloomis@storeycounty.org] 
Sent: Friday, March 04, 2016 11:35 AM 
To: Gina Winder 
Subject: RE: Malfitano 

Hi Gina 

Attached is the proposed order as requested in your e-mail below. It is in a Word format. 

Thanks 

Keith Loomis 
Deputy District Attorney 
Storey County District Attorney's 
Office 
P.O. Box 496, 201 South C Street 

2 
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Keith Loomis 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Thank you. 

Best, 

~;If a /!1. Uf;lfc/e,f<' 
Judicial Assistant, Dept. 2 

First Judicial District Court 
Honorable James E. Wilson, Jr. 

Gina Winder <GWinder@carson.org> 
Friday, March 04, 2016 11:43 AM 
Keith Loomis 
RE: Malfitano 

1 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

2 
I hereby certify that I am employed by Storey County, Nevada, and that on 

: the$aay ofMarch, 2016. I served a copy of the foregoing RESPONSE TO 

5 PETITIONERS' OBJECTION TO ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT 
6 

7 
OF MANDAMUS DATED MARCH 7, 2016, by ordinary first class U.S. Mail to: 

8 Matthew B. Hippler 

9 Scott Scherer 
Brandon C. Sendall 

10 HOLLAND & HART LLP 
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  1                              ***

  2            VIRGINIA CITY, NEVADA, OCTOBER 21, 2015

  3                              ***

  4            THE COURT:  Please be seated.  15-OC-08,

  5   Malfitano, Virginia City Gaming, LLC, Delta Saloon vs.

  6   Storey County, Storey County Board of Commissioners and

  7   the Storey County Liquor Board.

  8            This is the time set for a hearing on a motion

  9   for a temporary restraining order.  Counsel, if you'll

 10   state your appearances and who you have with you.

 11            MR. HIPPLER:  Good afternoon, your Honor.

 12   Matthew Hippler on behalf of petitioners and I also have

 13   here with me Dr. Vincent Malfitano.

 14            MR. LOOMIS:  Good afternoon, your Honor.  Keith

 15   Loomis on behalf of the Storey County District

 16   Attorney's Office.

 17            THE COURT:  Thank you.  Where is Mr. Pearce,

 18   KOLO?

 19            MR. PEARCE:  Yes, your Honor.

 20            THE COURT:  I signed the order.  You're going

 21   to be allowed to videotape in here, but we don't allow

 22   recording, so audio recording, an official record is

 23   being made and that's a JAVS recording.  I don't know if

 24   you're familiar with those, so you'll be able to see and

 25   hear on that, and that goes for anyone else.  We don't
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  1   allow audio recording in the courtroom.

  2            MR. PEARCE:  So no audio recording.  We'll turn

  3   that off on our camera and will be gathering video only

  4   then.

  5            THE COURT:  Thank you.

  6            MR. PEARCE:  Thank you, your Honor.

  7            THE COURT:  So I want to give you kind of an

  8   overview of what we're going to do.  I've read

  9   everything, all the pleadings, the papers, the exhibits,

 10   and I am familiar with all of it.  So we're going to

 11   have a discussion for a little bit and then we're going

 12   to take a recess.

 13            Are the commissioners, the sheriff available

 14   for you to communicate with by phone?

 15            MR. LOOMIS:  The county manager is present.  I

 16   have one -- two commissioners.

 17            THE COURT:  Okay.  We're going to take a break,

 18   I'm not sure how long that's going to last, after we

 19   have this initial discussion, so that you can talk with

 20   your clients about what we're going to talk about and

 21   then we'll come back and we'll see where we are.

 22            So I want to go through and make sure that I

 23   have some of what looked to me like undisputed facts

 24   correct.

 25            The first is that there was a meeting, a Storey
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  1   County Commissioners meeting on September 1st, 2015 and

  2   during that meeting, the Chairman, McBride, explained

  3   that it was the staff recommendation to deny the

  4   licenses because it would duplicate licenses that

  5   already existed with different businesses, but the same

  6   locations.

  7            Commissioner McBride continued, I'm reading

  8   from the minutes on Page 5 in the last full paragraph.

  9   "If Dr. Malfitano were to sever relations with Dewing

 10   Gaming to operate the business himself, there would be

 11   no delay in obtaining the licenses.  There is no reason

 12   not to license Dr. Malfitano except for the fact that it

 13   would be a duplication," and then on the next page in

 14   the second paragraph, County Manager Whitten said that

 15   based upon the request from Sheriff Antinoro, he, Mr.

 16   Whitten, explained that the license would be considered

 17   for approval.

 18            The next thing that happened was the State

 19   Gaming Control Board denying Dr. Malfitano's application

 20   for a gaming license.

 21            Chairman McBride apparently attended the Gaming

 22   Control meeting and heard what went on.  I don't have a

 23   transcript of that proceeding, but it resulted in the

 24   order that the Gaming Control Board issued on August

 25   26th, 2015.  So I've got that backwards.  The Gaming
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  1   Control order is dated before that commissioners

  2   meeting.  I thought that the commissioners meeting --

  3   the September meeting took place and then the Gaming

  4   Control.

  5            MR. HIPPLER:  If I may clarify, your Honor, the

  6   Commission hearing took place on August 20th and the

  7   subsequent order came out a few days later.

  8            THE COURT:  Okay.

  9            MR. HIPPLER:  And obviously all of that

 10   occurred before the September 1st meeting that you've

 11   described.

 12            THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, thank you.

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, if I may respond to that.

 14   The documents itself is a recommendation from the Gaming

 15   Control Board to the Gaming Commission.  The Commission

 16   held its hearing.  The order of the Gaming Commission

 17   wasn't issued until September 17th which was

 18   approximately 16 days after the County Board of

 19   Commissioners hearing.

 20            THE COURT:  Okay.  So then we get to the

 21   October 6th, 2015 meeting where the licenses, the liquor

 22   licenses were denied largely, if not solely, because of

 23   the Gaming Control order, and here's the rub for me.

 24            Dr. Malfitano is told initially there's no

 25   reason for the licenses not to be granted.  New
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  1   information comes to light, but as far as I know, and

  2   you can correct me if I'm mistaken on this, he's not

  3   informed that the Board is aware of the information that

  4   the Gaming Control Board relied upon, the order that

  5   that's now an issue, and he was not given an opportunity

  6   to respond to it.  Am I wrong on that?

  7            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, Judge, what I would say is

  8   that Dr. Malfitano was obviously aware by the time the

  9   hearing was held in front of the Board of County

 10   Commissioners that his licenses had been denied by the

 11   Gaming Commission and that there were significant issues

 12   regarding his finances and business acumen and things

 13   like that that were expressed in the order that was

 14   signed by the Commission.

 15            The other thing I would note is that the Board

 16   of County Commission does not act through a single

 17   person.  It would take three commissioners to say, yes,

 18   we'll approve it if everything else looks good, and --

 19            THE COURT:  I don't want to get into a lot of

 20   argument at this point.  I think I know where you're

 21   going and I don't disagree with that.

 22            MR. LOOMIS:  Okay.

 23            THE COURT:  Did you want to say something on

 24   those?

 25            MR. HIPPLER:  Yes, just a couple of points.
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  1   One, I don't know that your Honor mentioned it, the

  2   minutes of the September 1st meeting at the top of Page

  3   6, the first full paragraph, "Commissioner McBride also

  4   stated that upon Dr. Malfitano taking control of the

  5   businesses, the applications will be approved soon

  6   after," and I wanted to point that out.

  7            And then the second thing I wanted to point out

  8   was that the agenda for October 6th, which is attached

  9   to our motion as Exhibit 2, it was an agendized item and

 10   it specifically states at the top of Page 3, item number

 11   14, "Discussion/possible action approve liquor and

 12   general business license for the Bonanza and the Delta,"

 13   and the very last page of that Exhibit 2 also is the

 14   recommended motion of approval of the liquor and general

 15   business license that we're talking about, and that's

 16   what my client relied upon.

 17            THE COURT:  And I was aware of that.  My point

 18   at this point is that he wasn't -- he being Mr.

 19   Malfitano -- wasn't informed that an issue had arisen in

 20   the minds of one or more Commissioners or the county

 21   manager or the sheriff as a result of the Gaming

 22   Commission.  He's never had a chance -- has he had a

 23   chance to respond to that to them?

 24            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, he did have the opportunity

 25   to appear at the October 6th hearing to address it.
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  1            THE COURT:  Other than that?

  2            MR. LOOMIS:  Not that I'm aware of.

  3            THE COURT:  Okay.  And so he could have

  4   attended the October 6th hearing, no doubt about it, but

  5   the sequence of events, the meeting on -- the earlier

  6   Commission meeting was that there's not going to be a

  7   problem.

  8            He doesn't know that new information is now

  9   causing a problem, so he's not informed of it, he's not

 10   addressed it, and so here we are.  So this is what I'm

 11   going to ask you to consider.  We'll take a recess after

 12   this so you can confer.

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, could I bring up one

 14   more --

 15            THE COURT:  Go ahead.

 16            MR. LOOMIS:  Miss Kittes who is the general

 17   manager of both of the Delta and Bonanza salons was

 18   present during the course of the October 6th hearing and

 19   did make some representations during the course of that

 20   hearing.

 21            THE COURT:  She did, but she didn't really

 22   address financial concerns.

 23            MR. LOOMIS:  She did not.

 24            THE COURT:  And she was not on notice that she

 25   should be prepared to address financial concerns.  She
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  1   didn't know that an issue had arisen with anyone based

  2   upon the Gaming Control Board proceedings or order; is

  3   that right?

  4            MR. LOOMIS:  I don't know what she was aware

  5   of.

  6            THE COURT:  She didn't address finances,

  7   though.

  8            MR. LOOMIS:  She did not.

  9            THE COURT:  Okay.  And you're not aware of

 10   anything that somebody in Storey County did to put her

 11   on notice that she might want to be prepared for that?

 12            MR. LOOMIS:  I'm not specifically aware of

 13   anything, no.

 14            THE COURT:  Okay.  So I have a question that I

 15   don't think was answered in any of the paperwork.

 16            Did any of the.

 17            Commissioners or anybody on the board, the

 18   liquor board, which is the sheriff, or the County

 19   Commission have the Gaming Control investigative report

 20   at the time of the October 6th meeting?

 21            MR. LOOMIS:  I don't know the answer to that

 22   question, either, Judge.

 23            THE COURT:  Okay.  When it came -- well, during

 24   the discussion by the liquor board, Commissioner Gilman,

 25   at least twice, made a point of saying I don't

JA000939



Malfitano v. Storey County Motion for TRO & PI Hearing Page 12

Bonanza Reporting & Videoconference Center (775) 786-7655 1111 Forest Street Reno, NV 89509

  1   understand why there's a difference between the

  2   sheriff's report and the Gaming Control report.  I don't

  3   understand why those are different, and Commissioner

  4   McGuffey asked at one point if they shouldn't -- and I

  5   can't remember the exact phrase he used.  I don't think

  6   he used the word verify, but it was shouldn't we check

  7   on this information before we vote, and then asked or do

  8   we need to do that, so here's what I'm going to ask you

  9   to consider.

 10            Why wouldn't it be fair and reasonable for the

 11   Commission to consider the information that's in the

 12   Gaming Control report, the investigative report, and Mr.

 13   Malfitano given an opportunity to respond to it so that

 14   the County Commission and the liquor board would have a

 15   full statement of facts.

 16            The Gaming Control order is a series of

 17   conclusions.  There's not a statement of facts contained

 18   in it.  The Commission was urged both by District

 19   Attorney Langer, and I'm not sure what Robert Morris'

 20   title -- Deputy District Attorney, or I think it was

 21   special counsel maybe in the transcript, both said that

 22   the Commissioners -- well, both the liquor board and the

 23   Commissioners should state specifically what it is

 24   they're relying on in making their decision.

 25            There's discussion in the transcript, but at
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  1   the time the motion is made, it's not really clear what

  2   facts they're relying upon, and so getting back again to

  3   what I want you to talk about a little, why would it not

  4   be in the best interest of everyone to withdraw the

  5   order denying the liquor license for the Delta, have the

  6   Board review the facts contained in the Gaming Control

  7   investigative report letting Mr. Malfitano submit

  8   additional information if he wants, and at some future

  9   liquor board license meeting, with that more complete

 10   statement of facts, exercise the same discretion they

 11   wouldn't be giving up anything except having -- not

 12   having this business operate until whenever the next

 13   board meeting is with enough time for him to provide

 14   some supplemental information and to get, if they don't

 15   have, the Commission the Gaming Control investigative

 16   report and go through that and see what they think.

 17            I don't see how that prejudices anyone.  It

 18   potentially saves some jobs at the Delta in the

 19   meantime.  The Commission can still say we don't think

 20   they've shown the financial -- it's not up to where we

 21   want it to be, denied.

 22            I've only talked about the Delta because the

 23   Bonanza, and I haven't made up my mind because I don't

 24   know if either of you have evidence you're going to want

 25   me to consider, but my preliminary impression from all
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  1   the information I've reviewed so far, there's a fire

  2   code violation and if they want to deny it, they should

  3   deny it.  The fire chief said it's a hazard.  That's why

  4   I've limited my comments to the Delta.

  5            So that's what I want you to discuss is that

  6   process that I've suggested.  Before we do that, do you

  7   have any questions or other comments you want to make?

  8            MR. HIPPLER:  With respect to the Bonanza, I

  9   wanted to provide your Honor, if I could, just since you

 10   raised that issue -- may I approach?

 11            THE COURT:  Yes.

 12            MR. HIPPLER:  This is something that we were

 13   going to raise today obviously.  It's a business license

 14   inspection sheet signed on both May 15th as well as

 15   May 21st saying in the notes section, "Conditional upon

 16   fire sprinkler and fire alarm install, owner shall have

 17   six months to install systems after July 1st, 2015."

 18            That runs through obviously the end of December

 19   of this year, and much like we talked about before, this

 20   is again what my client relied upon in terms of having

 21   time to get the sprinkler system set.

 22            In addition, there are some e-mail

 23   correspondence which perhaps after the break we can get

 24   into further, but this is I think the most important and

 25   relevant piece of information that I wanted to provide
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  1   your Honor while we were on that topic.

  2            THE COURT:  Any questions or comments?

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, Judge, I'm going to object

  4   to the introduction of this item of evidence under the

  5   standards that I set out in the Points and Authorities

  6   in opposition of the petition for Mandamus in that the

  7   review of the record of a licensing board is on the

  8   evidence produced during the course of the hearing in

  9   front of the licensing board.

 10            Obviously they had the opportunity to produce

 11   this.  They did not, so I don't think it's appropriately

 12   in front of the Court at this point.

 13            THE COURT:  And I'm not going to consider it at

 14   this point.  I'm not going to make a decision about

 15   whether it's going to be admitted later or not.

 16            Do you have any questions or comments on what

 17   it is I want you to talk with whatever representatives

 18   you have here?

 19            MR. LOOMIS:  I do have some argument I'd like

 20   to make.

 21            THE COURT:  I want you to talk to them first

 22   and then I'm going to take the argument.

 23            MR. LOOMIS:  All right.

 24            THE COURT:  So nothing else at this point?

 25            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing else at this point.
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  1            THE COURT:  I was going to let them use the

  2   jury room so that they would have some privacy.  Do you

  3   have somewhere in the courthouse that you can meet

  4   privately with who is here with you?

  5            MR. LOOMIS:  Yes.

  6            THE COURT:  Okay.  We are going to be then in

  7   recess.  When you're done speaking individually, I would

  8   like for you to communicate together before, let the

  9   bailiff know and we'll reconvene.

 10            MR. LOOMIS:  Will do.

 11            THE COURT:  We'll be in recess.

 12            (A recess was taken.)

 13            THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Back on

 14   15-OC-08, Malfitano and others vs. Storey County and

 15   others.

 16            The parties, Mr. Malfitano and counsel and Mr.

 17   Loomis are all present.  Mr. Helling -- Mr. Hippler,

 18   excuse me, anything you want to tell me?

 19            MR. HIPPLER:  We conferred.  I understand that

 20   there's nothing coming from the County with respect to

 21   them being open to having this go back in front of the

 22   Commissioners.

 23            THE COURT:  Okay.

 24            MR. HIPPLER:  And I don't know if Mr. Loomis

 25   has anything more to add, but they didn't agree to
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  1   anything.

  2            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis?

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, it's not that we're not

  4   open to having Mr. Malfitano submit a new application to

  5   the Board, which he is completely entitled to do.  We

  6   have no time frame on limiting when you can make a new

  7   application, but we're not inclined to say that, yes,

  8   we're going to allow him to operate these businesses in

  9   light of the information that was gleaned during the

 10   course of the last hearing.

 11            There's a mass of evidence, it's beyond that

 12   which was provided in the Gaming Control Board order or

 13   the Gaming Commission order.  There was additional

 14   evidence provided by Chairman McBride, by Mr. Gallagher,

 15   the county comptroller, by Mr. Whitten, the county

 16   manager.  There was a plethora of other evidence besides

 17   just that provided in the order of the Gaming

 18   Commission, and that information which I would suggest,

 19   and I've argued in the petition, is substantial to

 20   support the reason for denying the license.

 21            So what we would ask the Court to do is rule on

 22   the evidence that's been submitted and considered,

 23   number one, and if Mr. Malfitano wants to come back,

 24   he's welcome to do that.  This I would note is an issue

 25   raised by the Court, it was not raised by counsel for
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  1   Mr. Malfitano.

  2            THE COURT:  What issue?

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  The issue of whether or not he

  4   should be given additional opportunity to present

  5   evidence.

  6            THE COURT:  That's correct.

  7            MR. LOOMIS:  I would also note, your Honor,

  8   that we reviewed the videotape and audio recording of

  9   the September 1st meeting --

 10            THE COURT:  Excuse me for just a second.  I was

 11   told on the break that JAVS is having trouble picking

 12   you up, so I'm going to have you sit while you speak.

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  I can appear in front of the

 14   lectern, Judge.

 15            THE COURT:  Either one, just so you got the

 16   microphone a little closer to your mouth.

 17            MR. LOOMIS:  Is that on?  Okay.  Judge, we

 18   reviewed the audio and the video recording of the

 19   September 1st hearing and we would acknowledge that

 20   Chairman McBride initially indicated that these were

 21   typically approved --

 22            THE COURT:  Hang on just a second.  You're

 23   getting into your argument on what you want me to do and

 24   I'm going to let the petitioner go first on that.

 25            MR. LOOMIS:  All right.
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  1            THE COURT:  First of all, do you have any

  2   evidence you want to present?  I'm not saying I'm going

  3   to admit anything, I'm asking if you have any you want

  4   to present.

  5            MR. HIPPLER:  Yes, we do, your Honor.  There

  6   are some documents in addition to my client testifying

  7   today.

  8            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis made an objection

  9   earlier that it should be based upon the record.  Why is

 10   that not correct?

 11            MR. HIPPLER:  Obviously before the Court is not

 12   only the petition for Writ of Mandamus, but most

 13   importantly is the --

 14            THE COURT:  Before me today is the temporary

 15   restraining order.

 16            MR. HIPPLER:  Exactly, and the motion for

 17   preliminary injunction, and that standard is one that

 18   requires as a matter of law and via rule that we have to

 19   establish irreparable injury and a reasonable likelihood

 20   of success on the merits and that's what we're focused

 21   on today, and as part of making that record and

 22   establishing the fact that Mr. Malfitano is being harmed

 23   by the denial of the licenses, in fact we've got eight

 24   employees from the businesses here today in support of

 25   him, that's the focus of the evidence that we wanted to
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  1   get before your Honor.

  2            One of the things that I just wanted to

  3   preview, though, is that I was informed during the break

  4   that your Honor has to leave shortly to return to Carson

  5   for another matter, and so I don't know how long both

  6   the testimony and the argument are going to take, but I

  7   would ask the Court that if we don't finish the

  8   proceedings, that we do whatever possible to have this

  9   put on your calendar so we can finish the proceedings as

 10   soon as possible, or even perhaps the temporary

 11   restraining order issued to get us to that point so that

 12   my client could operate in the meantime, so I just

 13   wanted to let you know that we were informed of that.

 14            THE COURT:  What are the documents you're going

 15   to want me to look at?

 16            MR. HIPPLER:  I'm happy to provide both counsel

 17   and your Honor the documents, if I may.

 18            THE COURT:  Just give me an idea of what you

 19   have.

 20            MR. HIPPLER:  Beyond what was included and

 21   attached to the motion, the only other item that was not

 22   already attached as an exhibit to the motion was an

 23   e-mail exchange, which if I can provide to counsel and

 24   your Honor.

 25            THE COURT:  Go ahead.
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  1            MR. HIPPLER:  May I approach?

  2            THE COURT:  Yes.

  3            MR. HIPPLER:  After the September 1st hearing,

  4   shortly thereafter Mr. Hames provided a letter and

  5   followed it up with an e-mail correspondence to my

  6   client inquiring about the sprinkler -- fire sprinklers

  7   at the Bonanza, and the relevance of this e-mail is that

  8   unlike what was stated at the October 6th meeting by Mr.

  9   Hames and has been stated by the respondents in their

 10   papers, is that there was no statement in the letter, no

 11   statement in this e-mail to my client about the

 12   agreement of May 15th somehow being null and void.

 13            In other words, what this e-mail shows is the

 14   exact opposite of a null and void position being taken

 15   by the county.  They wanted to make sure that the fire

 16   sprinkler system was being focused on, which it

 17   absolutely is.  The design is nearly complete and it

 18   will be done in conformity with the deadline that was

 19   agreed to between my client and the county as evidenced

 20   by the business license sheet that I provided earlier.

 21            So in terms of written documentation, this is

 22   the only other item in addition to the business sheet

 23   that I intended on presenting today that goes beyond the

 24   exhibits that were already attached to the motion, the

 25   agenda, the minutes, et cetera.
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  1            The only other thing then was Dr. Malfitano's

  2   testimony about how this has affected his business and

  3   things such as that.  That's what was going to be

  4   presented here today in addition to argument, of course.

  5            THE COURT:  What, if any, evidence did you

  6   have, Mr. Loomis?

  7            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, I'm relying on the record

  8   that was produced at the time of the hearing.

  9            THE COURT:  All right.  I have one other

 10   question before we get to the heart of the matter.  Do

 11   you disagree with District Attorney Langer and Special

 12   Counsel Morris' advice to the Commissioners that they

 13   should state the specific facts they're relying upon to

 14   accept or deny?

 15            MR. LOOMIS:  Do I agree with that as a legal

 16   standard?  Judge, if you look --

 17            THE COURT:  Not as a legal standard, but as

 18   something that should have been done at the Commission

 19   meeting.

 20            MR. LOOMIS:  It's not a legal requirement, no.

 21   It is helpful to the reviewing court in determining why

 22   an action was taken, but the cases specifically state --

 23   well, the City Council case vs. Irvine specifically

 24   states that it is not absolutely required that a

 25   licensing board submit findings in support of an action,
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  1   but it is helpful to the reviewing court if they do so,

  2   but it's not a requirement of law.

  3            THE COURT:  Do you agree with that?

  4            MR. HIPPLER:  I think ultimately -- well, I

  5   think that what it does is just as was stated.  It helps

  6   clarify the basis of the decision, and here you have an

  7   absolute ambiguity of what the basis of the decision was

  8   and in light of that, what you have is a supreme focus

  9   on the Gaming Control Board order.

 10            If you remove that from what was discussed,

 11   there is only one item of evidence before the

 12   Commissioners and that was the sheriff's report, the

 13   sheriff's recommendation, et cetera, which was all very

 14   supportive of the issuance of both the liquor

 15   licenses -- well, I should say the liquor licenses

 16   specifically and my client's positive financial

 17   standing.

 18            THE COURT:  You said you only had -- Mr.

 19   Malfitano was the only witness.  He's got eight people

 20   here to support him, but he's the only witness?

 21            MR. HIPPLER:  That is correct.

 22            THE COURT:  Would you please stand and face the

 23   clerk here and raise your right hand?

 24

 25
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  1                       VINCENT MALFITANO

  2                    having been duly sworn,

  3            was examined and testified as follows:

  4            THE COURT:  Go ahead and have a seat up here.

  5            MR. LOOMIS:  Your Honor, may I have a

  6   continuing objection to his testimony?

  7            THE COURT:  What's the objection if the

  8   testimony is related to irreparable harm since that was

  9   not an issue at the Commission meeting?

 10            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, Judge, under civil procedure

 11   rule 65, they're required to submit an affidavit in

 12   support of their application for the restraining order

 13   demonstrating that irreparable injury.

 14            That was not done in support of the motion for

 15   the restraining order, and I've noted that --

 16            THE COURT:  Isn't that if it's an ex parte

 17   motion if it's going to be an ex parte basis?

 18            MR. LOOMIS:  It doesn't require that it be on

 19   an ex parte basis.  This applies to temporary

 20   restraining orders.  I think that the temporary

 21   retraining order is really something that occurs before

 22   you have the hearing on the preliminary injunction, and

 23   today is the day for the hearing on the preliminary

 24   injunction.

 25            THE COURT:  I'm reading rule 65-B.  The first
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  1   sentence says, "A temporary restraining order may be

  2   granted without written or oral notice to the adverse

  3   party or that party's attorney only if it clearly

  4   appears from specific facts by affidavit or by verified

  5   complaint."  This isn't an ex parte hearing.  You've

  6   been given notice we're having a hearing.

  7            MR. LOOMIS:  Yes, I've been given notice.  I

  8   think we have moved beyond the restraining order and

  9   moved into the preliminary injunction stage of the

 10   request.

 11            THE COURT:  Why do you think that?

 12            MR. LOOMIS:  Because I think the ex parte

 13   restraining order is something that occurs before we get

 14   to the hearing in order to preserve the status quo in

 15   the meantime and that's why an affidavit demonstrating

 16   the irreparable injury has to occur when they submit the

 17   request for the ex parte restraining order.  Once we get

 18   to the hearing, I think we're addressing solely the

 19   issue of the preliminary injunction.

 20            THE COURT:  And tell me where -- what's the

 21   rule that says that?

 22            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, I'm reading that from rule

 23   65.

 24            THE COURT:  Do you have it with you, 65?

 25            MR. LOOMIS:  I don't have the specific rule,
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  1   but I'm aware of the fact that it doesn't specifically

  2   preclude a hearing on the temporary restraining order,

  3   but I think the point of the ex parte restraining order

  4   is to allow the remedy to occur before you get to the

  5   hearing, and once you get to the hearing, the question

  6   is one of whether or not a preliminary injunction should

  7   issue which is a question of the irreparable injury and

  8   the likelihood of success on the merits.

  9            THE COURT:  I don't see in 65 -- the motion was

 10   filed, you were given notice we set this hearing.

 11   There's not a temporary restraining order.

 12            MR. LOOMIS:  There is not.

 13            THE COURT:  There is not.  That's the purpose

 14   of this hearing, so --

 15            MR. LOOMIS:  I would argue, Judge, that the

 16   purpose of the hearing is for a preliminary injunction.

 17            THE COURT:  And you're referring back up to

 18   that first language -- let's say it is a preliminary.

 19   What's the rule that says for a preliminary hearing

 20   they're required to file an affidavit?

 21            MR. LOOMIS:  The rule requires that an

 22   affidavit be submitted with the request for the ex parte

 23   restraining order demonstrating the injury.

 24            THE COURT:  If it's granted without notice.

 25   That's what the rule says.
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  1            MR. LOOMIS:  If it's granted without notice,

  2   true.

  3            THE COURT:  And that's not what we have.

  4            MR. LOOMIS:  Well, Judge, the way I'm reading

  5   the rule is the ex parte restraining order is the

  6   initial remedy to get you to the hearing, and then once

  7   you get to the hearing, you're addressing the

  8   preliminary injunction.

  9            THE COURT:  Unless you have a hearing on the

 10   temporary restraining order.

 11            MR. LOOMIS:  That's fine, Judge.

 12            THE COURT:  Go ahead.

 13            MR. HIPPLER:  Thank you, your Honor.

 14                      DIRECT EXAMINATION

 15   BY MR. HIPPLER:

 16       Q    Dr. Malfitano, good afternoon.  If you could

 17   please briefly provide some background as to your

 18   professional history to the Court.

 19            THE COURT:  In the interest of time, if there's

 20   not an objection from the other side, let's get to the

 21   irreparable harm.

 22            MR. HIPPLER:  Well, among other items, your

 23   Honor, as I said, as I noted with the exhibits there's a

 24   few other items, but I just thought that it might

 25   benefit the Court to have a brief understanding of my
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  1   client's background if it pleases the Court.  If you

  2   would rather --

  3            THE COURT:  Let's come back to that.

  4            MR. HIPPLER:  Fair enough.

  5   BY MR. HIPPLER:

  6       Q    When did you purchase the two properties at

  7   issue?

  8       A    October 1st of 2014.

  9       Q    And from whom did you purchase them?

 10       A    Angelo Petrini.

 11       Q    And at that time did you have a gaming license?

 12       A    I did not.

 13       Q    After purchasing the properties, did you apply

 14   for a gaming license?

 15       A    I did.

 16       Q    Since you did not have a gaming license, who

 17   operated the properties for you?

 18       A    A lessee named Bruce Dewing under Dewing Gaming

 19   Management.

 20       Q    And upon acquiring the properties, did you

 21   invest certain capital in those properties?

 22       A    I did.

 23       Q    And can you describe the nature of that

 24   investment?

 25       A    Before -- it evolved over a two-year period.
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  1   Before the close of escrow, I was probably invested in

  2   the property about a million eight and a lot of that had

  3   to do with licensing, Dewing bank rolling the

  4   operations, and all his legal expenses, so I footed all

  5   of that for him and that was before the close of escrow

  6   on the 1st.

  7       Q    And is that figure that you just mentioned

  8   separate and aside from the purchase price for the

  9   properties?

 10       A    It is.

 11       Q    And that was an amount of money that you could

 12   afford?

 13       A    Yes, sir.

 14       Q    And the nature of the work at the properties,

 15   just very briefly describe that.

 16       A    During the transfer of ownership, inspections

 17   by the different departments here in Virginia City.

 18   There was ample list, a very detailed list of electrical

 19   work that needed to be done at both properties, and

 20   since October 1st, '14 we've done that and the only

 21   thing left to do that's not been signed off is to

 22   install the fire sprinkler at the Bonanza.

 23       Q    And with respect to the Bonanza fire sprinkler

 24   system, did you meet with county officials in or about

 25   May of this year?
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  1       A    We did, with the county manager and all the

  2   department heads, and that was to make sure that we had

  3   completed everything that we were supposed to complete

  4   so that we could move forward in obtaining our business

  5   and liquor licenses.

  6            MR. HIPPLER:  Your Honor, may I approach the

  7   Clerk and have marked an exhibit the inspection sheet?

  8            (Exhibit 1 was marked.)

  9   BY MR. HIPPLER:

 10       Q    Do you recognize that document?

 11       A    I do, sir.

 12       Q    What is that document?

 13       A    It is a sign-off, the final sign-off sheet for

 14   all the work that needed to be complete in order to

 15   obtain the business and liquor licenses.

 16       Q    And if I can turn your attention to the

 17   handwritten portion in the middle of the page, can you

 18   read that aloud?

 19       A    Yeah, that's the fire safety issue.  It was

 20   signed by Fitz Clinger from the fire department.

 21   "Conditional upon fire sprinkler and fire alarm

 22   installed, owner shall have six months to install

 23   systems after July 1, 2015."

 24       Q    And did you rely upon that document?

 25       A    Yeah, the document speaks for itself.
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  1       Q    And to clarify, when I say rely, did you rely

  2   upon that document in terms of understanding the time

  3   line in which you had to install the fire sprinkler

  4   system?

  5       A    Yes, sir.  We have until the end of this year,

  6   but we've -- since September or when the original

  7   agreement, the design of the fire system is almost

  8   complete.  It's ready to be submitted to the county for

  9   design approval, and then from that, we go to bid, get a

 10   price to install and we're off and running.  We already

 11   have a preliminary bid to do it and it's in the

 12   neighborhood of 65 to $70,000 to complete that work.

 13            MR. HIPPLER:  Your Honor, may I approach the

 14   clerk again?

 15            THE COURT:  Yes.

 16            (Exhibit 2 was marked.)

 17   BY MR. HIPPLER:

 18       Q    On or about the time of the business license

 19   inspection sheet that's dated May 15th, 2015, did you

 20   have any discussions with the county about coming to an

 21   agreement?

 22       A    We met with the county manager and all his

 23   department heads at the county manager's office and I

 24   just wanted to make sure I was dotting all my I's,

 25   crossing my T's, so I just needed to make sure that with
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  1   this sign-off sheet, we were all set to go to be

  2   agendized for the first reading -- pardon me, the second

  3   reading of the business and liquor licenses.  The county

  4   manager advised all of us in the room that --

  5            MR. LOOMIS:  Objection, hearsay.

  6            THE WITNESS:  -- it would not --

  7            THE COURT:  Hold on.

  8            MR. HIPPLER:  It's not being offered for the

  9   truth of the matter asserted, your Honor.  It's relating

 10   to his mindset in terms of the timing in which he needed

 11   to deal with the sprinkler system.

 12            THE COURT:  Do you want to respond to that?

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  I'm not sure exactly what he's

 14   going to be saying that was reported by County Manager

 15   Whitten, but it sounds like he's going to say because he

 16   told me this, this is what I did, and if that's what

 17   he's going to use it for, that's for the truth of the

 18   matter asserted.

 19            THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.  You

 20   can answer.

 21            THE WITNESS:  Pat Whitten specified to all of

 22   us at the meeting that in fact it would be agendized for

 23   the approvals, but since there was already a license

 24   issued at that address, that they would not be able to

 25   issue the license, but he said it would be appropriate
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  1   to go ahead, agendize and be approved, but not issued,

  2   and it was described at the time I took over the

  3   operation, Sheriff Antinoro at that particular point in

  4   time would issue the temporary business and liquor

  5   licenses, which he did, but at the hearing, Pat Whitten

  6   reversed himself and asked that the license be not

  7   preempted or denied.

  8            MR. LOOMIS:  Objection.

  9            MR. HIPPLER:  Same response before, your Honor.

 10            THE COURT:  If it's a statement that's being

 11   offered against the other side, is it even hearsay?  Is

 12   Mr. Whitten as the county manager and a member of the --

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  Probably.

 14            THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.  Go

 15   ahead.

 16            THE WITNESS:  Mr. Whitten reversed course and

 17   offered that -- or suggested that the licenses be

 18   denied, and they were at that time, and --

 19   BY MR. HIPPLER:

 20       Q    You're referring to the September 1st meeting

 21   with the commissioners?

 22       A    That is correct, yes, sir, but at that time

 23   McBride made a comment that says not to worry, there's

 24   no reason why it shouldn't be granted, everything is in

 25   place, we've gotten Sheriff Antinoro's report,
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  1   everything is fine, so it's just a matter of logistics.

  2   We can't have two licenses on a property at the same

  3   time, which I completely understood.

  4            But I was more in tune to when I do take over,

  5   I want to maintain the operation and the staff on site,

  6   so that business and liquor license was pivotal in doing

  7   that and I just wanted to make sure that that was going

  8   to happen, and it did happen.

  9            MR. HIPPLER:  Before I go further, I wanted to

 10   move to admit Exhibits 1 and 2.

 11            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis?

 12            MR. LOOMIS:  I'm going to object to the

 13   admission of those exhibits, your Honor, on the basis

 14   they were not provided in the record of the proceedings.

 15            THE COURT:  Any response to that?

 16            MR. HIPPLER:  As was already discussed by your

 17   Honor at the outset of the proceedings today, there was

 18   never an opportunity to anticipate that there are any

 19   problems coming up or brewing between the September 1st

 20   and the October 6th meeting.

 21            That's part of the reason, of course, why Mr.

 22   Malfitano did not attend the October 6th meeting.  If he

 23   had, all of this would have certainly come out to rebut

 24   the testimony or the comments at the October 6th meeting

 25   from Fire Chief Hames.
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  1            Therefore, these are relevant to establish the

  2   arbitrariness of the decision by the commissioners on

  3   October 6th which is, of course, part and parcel of what

  4   I need to establish for the issuance of a preliminary

  5   injunction and ultimately the Writ.

  6            THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.  One

  7   and two are admitted.

  8   BY MR. HIPPLER:

  9       Q    Going back for a moment, Mr. Malfitano, you

 10   applied for a gaming license, correct?

 11       A    Yes, sir.

 12       Q    And that was denied?

 13       A    That is correct.

 14       Q    During that hearing, did you observe Mr.

 15   McBride in attendance?

 16       A    I did.

 17       Q    And his attendance at the gaming hearing was

 18   before September 1st?

 19       A    That is correct.  It was August 20th.

 20       Q    After the September 1st commissioner meeting

 21   that you have already testified about, did anybody from

 22   the county at any level communicate with you about

 23   having any additional concerns about the issuance of

 24   both your liquor license or the business license?

 25       A    No, sir.

JA000963



Malfitano v. Storey County Motion for TRO & PI Hearing Page 36

Bonanza Reporting & Videoconference Center (775) 786-7655 1111 Forest Street Reno, NV 89509

  1            MR. HIPPLER:  Your Honor, may I approach?

  2            THE COURT:  Yes.

  3            (Exhibit 3 was marked.)

  4            MR. HIPPLER:  Your Honor, that is Exhibit 3

  5   which is the September 3rd e-mail that I provided your

  6   Honor earlier.

  7            THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.

  8   BY MR. HIPPLER:

  9       Q    Mr. Malfitano, do you recognize that document?

 10       A    I do.

 11       Q    What is that document?

 12       A    This is an e-mail correspondence from Chief

 13   Hames.  With it attached was a certified letter that I

 14   received in the mail subsequently a few days later

 15   wherein he stated that he didn't feel like I was

 16   complying with the agreement or contract that I had with

 17   him and that the time had lapsed, and all I did was to

 18   recollect his memory to say, Chief Hames, if you just

 19   look at the agreement it's clearly on there, date to be

 20   determined as to the final installation and reminded him

 21   that on the sign-off sheet, Mr. Clinger put on there per

 22   our agreement that I would have until the end of 2015 to

 23   actually have it installed.

 24            Once I sent him that e-mail, he quickly

 25   responds and thanks me for the quick response and says,
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  1   "We are very happy that you will be moving forward with

  2   the fire sprinkler plan submittal and installation.

  3   Please have the contracts and other items to us by

  4   October 3rd," which we did well in advance of

  5   October 3rd.

  6       Q    And in the letter that you described that was

  7   attached to the original e-mail, did Mr. Hames say that

  8   he considered the May 15th contract null and void?

  9       A    No, sir.

 10       Q    Did that letter say that you wouldn't have

 11   until the end of December to get the sprinklers in at

 12   the Bonanza?

 13       A    No, sir.

 14       Q    Did the e-mail say either of those things,

 15   either that you don't have until December 31st or that

 16   the agreement is null and void?

 17       A    No.  The e-mail was thanking me for doing what

 18   I was doing.

 19       Q    When was the first time that you heard that Mr.

 20   Hames' position was that the May 15th contract was null

 21   and void?

 22       A    When I spoke to Miss Perkins and Mr. Kettis

 23   directly after the meeting.

 24       Q    And the meeting you're referring to is the --

 25       A    October 6th.
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  1       Q    October 6th meeting.  Were you surprised to

  2   hear that?

  3       A    I was stunned that a public official in a

  4   public forum would misstate the facts.

  5       Q    Why didn't you attend the October 6th meeting

  6   of the commissioners?

  7       A    A couple of reasons.  I relied heavily on Mr.

  8   McBride's statement that there is no reason or problem

  9   with issuing both licenses and that the reason why it

 10   was denied on that date was that it was just a logistics

 11   issue, and I understood that, so I really felt based on

 12   the minutes that were approved early on October 6th

 13   meeting that this is just -- it's a done deal, there's

 14   nothing else to do.

 15            Secondary to that, one of the reasons why I

 16   didn't attend or could not is because my father is

 17   terminally ill and I was not able to leave.

 18            Had I known what I know now that the D.A.

 19   Langer opened my agenda item with the phrase, "Let's go

 20   ahead and peruse his moral character," I thought, oh, my

 21   God, what is going on now, and I didn't know that until

 22   after I read the transcript.

 23       Q    Prior to the October 6th meeting, did you have

 24   an opportunity to review the agenda for that meeting?

 25       A    Yes, sir.
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  1       Q    And did you note anything with respect to the

  2   licenses in the agenda?

  3       A    Yeah, it's clearly stated by Sheriff Antinoro,

  4   he's suggesting approval of all licenses based on his

  5   three or four month investigation, so there would have

  6   been no reason for me, based on Sheriff Antinoro's

  7   findings, based on what the Commission talked about on

  8   September 1, that there would be any reason to deny the

  9   licenses.

 10       Q    Did the sheriff communicate with you prior to

 11   the September 1st meeting about what his recommendation

 12   was going to be?

 13       A    Not specifically right before September 1st,

 14   but once he had completed his investigation, he called

 15   me to let me know everything was fine and that we're

 16   going to proceed on to the agendized items.

 17       Q    Between September 1st and October 6th, did the

 18   sheriff communicate with you about what his

 19   recommendation was going to be on the October 6th

 20   meeting?

 21       A    I don't recall if he did or he didn't.

 22       Q    Did you hear from anybody from the county

 23   between September 1st and October 6th about what the

 24   recommendation was going to be for your licenses?

 25       A    No, sir.
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  1       Q    Without going into detail, is it accurate to

  2   say that under the purchase agreement that you had with

  3   Mr. Petrini, that you have to make occasional payments

  4   to him?

  5       A    Yes, sir.

  6       Q    Have you missed any of those payments?

  7       A    None.

  8       Q    Have you missed -- since purchasing the

  9   properties last October, have you missed any payments in

 10   relationship to the properties?

 11       A    Not only have I not missed the payments, I pay

 12   them early.

 13       Q    Do you have the financial standing to run these

 14   two businesses in a profitable way?

 15       A    Absolutely.

 16       Q    After your gaming license was denied, what did

 17   you do to figure out how you were going to move forward

 18   and run these two properties?

 19       A    Well --

 20            THE COURT:  Hang on just a minute.  How does

 21   this apply to the temporary restraining order,

 22   irreparable harm?

 23            MR. HIPPLER:  That's where I'm going, your

 24   Honor.  In terms of the business plan that my client

 25   developed after the denial of the gaming license, he had
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  1   to obviously retool and focus his efforts on the

  2   business and it pertains to the fact that now that the

  3   licenses have not been issued, that he suffered a loss

  4   of business, and also what I intend to ask him about is

  5   essentially anger in the community about gaming not

  6   being a part of these properties, so it's part and

  7   parcel of those subjects.  I can keep this brief if the

  8   Court prefers.

  9            THE COURT:  Keep it brief and if there's

 10   hostility in the community, how is that relevant to

 11   irreparable harm?

 12            MR. HIPPLER:  Part of what it relates to is the

 13   commissioner's own statements at the October 6th hearing

 14   that appear in the transcript.  In other words --

 15            THE COURT:  I'm familiar with those, but I

 16   don't see how they're relevant.

 17            MR. HIPPLER:  Okay.  I'll focus on the other

 18   line of questions then.

 19   BY MR. HIPPLER:

 20       Q    After the business and liquor licenses were

 21   denied, have you had to lay employees off?

 22       A    My main focus was to redo the business plan so

 23   that I could retain as many employees that wanted to

 24   work.  That was my main focus even without gaming, and

 25   we've been able to do that.  I offered employment to
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  1   everyone that worked there previously and the ones that

  2   wanted to work, I am employing them even without the

  3   gaming.

  4       Q    Is the Bonanza currently open?

  5       A    The Bonanza has been shut down due to the

  6   denial of the business license.

  7       Q    Since what date?

  8       A    October 6th.

  9       Q    Is the Delta currently open?

 10       A    Barely.

 11       Q    And what are the nature of the operations there

 12   currently?

 13       A    We sell popcorn and soda.

 14       Q    And have you lost business as a result of the

 15   denial of the liquor and business licenses at both

 16   properties?

 17       A    I can only tell you that in sitting there the

 18   last 16 days and watching thousands of people stream in

 19   the front doors and only be able to offer them popcorn

 20   and soda, I would say that there is an absolute loss of

 21   business.

 22       Q    Have you had the ability to quantify that?

 23       A    I have not.

 24       Q    So prior to the filing of the petition and the

 25   motion for temporary restraining order and preliminary
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  1   injunction, did you have an opportunity to review those?

  2       A    Yes, sir.

  3       Q    And are all the factual assertions in those

  4   pleadings accurate according to your personal knowledge?

  5       A    Yes, sir.

  6       Q    Lastly, Mr. Malfitano, how committed are you to

  7   these two properties?

  8       A    As I said before to others, I didn't make an

  9   investment in Virginia City.  I made a commitment.

 10   These are very expensive properties and they have

 11   tremendous historical value.

 12            I don't consider myself an owner of these

 13   buildings, I consider myself the next steward, and when

 14   I go into communities as I've done before, I do it with

 15   a community focus.  I want to employ as many as I can, I

 16   want to grow the business and I want to --

 17            MR. LOOMIS:  Your Honor, this does not address

 18   the --

 19            THE WITNESS:  I want to grow --

 20            THE COURT:  Hold on.  What's the objection?

 21            MR. LOOMIS:  Object to further self-serving

 22   statements.  They don't address the irreparable injury.

 23            THE COURT:  Sustained.

 24            MR. HIPPLER:  I have no further questions.  I

 25   would move to admit Exhibit 3 which I believe is the
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  1   e-mail exchange.

  2            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis?

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, I'll object on the same

  4   grounds that this was not previously submitted to the

  5   Board at the time of the hearing on the liquor license

  6   and business license.

  7            THE COURT:  The objection is overruled.  Three

  8   is admitted.

  9            MR. HIPPLER:  I believe that those are the only

 10   exhibits that I had, Madam Clerk, those three.  No

 11   further questions.

 12            THE COURT:  Go ahead.

 13                      CROSS EXAMINATION

 14   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 15       Q    Mr. Malfitano, we're here to address the issue

 16   of whether you've suffered irreparable harm as a result

 17   of the denial of the liquor licenses.  Do you understand

 18   that?

 19       A    I do.

 20       Q    And how long have you had the -- how long ago

 21   did you purchase the businesses from Mr. Petrini?

 22       A    October 1st, 2014.

 23       Q    Did you get a liquor license at that time?

 24       A    No.

 25       Q    Did you get a gaming license at that time?
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  1       A    No.

  2       Q    Did you get a business license at that time?

  3       A    No.  Didn't need one.

  4       Q    So you went ahead and purchased the properties

  5   without trying to obtain any licenses in advance?

  6       A    It wasn't --

  7       Q    Is that true, yes or no?

  8       A    I didn't need one.  That's the --

  9       Q    Did you apply for any of those after you

 10   purchased the businesses directly after the purchase?

 11            MR. HIPPLER:  Objection, asked and answered.

 12            THE COURT:  Overruled.  You can answer.

 13            THE WITNESS:  No.

 14   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 15       Q    How long did it take you before you applied for

 16   your gaming license?

 17       A    I applied immediately.

 18       Q    How long did it take for them to do your

 19   investigation into your background?

 20       A    Nine months.

 21       Q    Okay.  So the gaming licenses were denied back

 22   in September of this year; is that correct?

 23       A    August 20th of this year.

 24       Q    That's when the Gaming Commission held its

 25   hearing, the final order wasn't signed until September;
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  1   isn't that correct?

  2       A    That is correct.

  3       Q    When did you apply for your liquor license?

  4       A    I don't recall.

  5       Q    How long after you purchased the businesses did

  6   you apply for your liquor licenses, approximately?

  7       A    I was not allowed.  I didn't operate the

  8   properties.  I had a lessee.  I was not allowed to apply

  9   for business and/or liquor, period.

 10       Q    Well, you applied for a liquor license despite

 11   the fact that you had a lessee on the property, didn't

 12   you?

 13       A    As the time was nearing that I was going to

 14   take it over, that's correct.

 15       Q    So you did apply for a liquor license while you

 16   had a lessee on the property; isn't that correct?

 17       A    That is correct, with gaming approval.

 18       Q    You also applied for the business license while

 19   you had a lessee on the property, didn't you?

 20       A    That is correct.

 21       Q    How long before you -- at what point did you

 22   make those applications for the liquor license and the

 23   business license?

 24       A    I don't recall, but the documents would speak

 25   for themselves.
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  1       Q    Shortly before the hearings?

  2       A    No.

  3       Q    October?

  4       A    I don't remember.

  5       Q    Did you do it in October of 2014?

  6       A    No.

  7       Q    Did you do it by January of 2015?

  8       A    I don't remember.

  9       Q    All right.

 10       A    The documents are available.

 11       Q    So what you have indicated is you paid for

 12   these properties somewhere in the area of four million

 13   dollars; is that right?

 14       A    That is correct.

 15       Q    And after that, you spent another 1.8 million

 16   on, it sounds like mostly for Mr. Dewing's licensing; is

 17   that correct?

 18       A    I don't know if that amount is correct, but

 19   there was a substantial amount of money that was paid on

 20   behalf of Dewing since he has no money.

 21       Q    Now, you could have allowed Mr. Dewing to

 22   continue the operations at the businesses pending your

 23   own licensing; isn't that correct?

 24       A    I did.  He operated for one year.

 25       Q    When was the lease set to expire?
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  1       A    Since he's had two eviction notices sent to him

  2   for nonpayment, I think after that I just did it --

  3       Q    Did you send him the eviction notices?

  4       A    Of course.  When you don't pay, you get

  5   evicted.

  6       Q    So what you're trying to tell us is you're

  7   irreparably harmed despite the fact you never got a

  8   license for anything?

  9       A    I'm not trying to tell you that.  That's your

 10   characterization.

 11       Q    Now, you attended the hearing on September 17th

 12   or September 1st before the Board of County

 13   Commissioners; isn't that correct?

 14       A    That is correct.

 15       Q    And did you hear what Ms. Langer advised the

 16   Board after Chairman McBride had suggested that approval

 17   would be forthcoming?

 18       A    No.

 19       Q    You don't recall?

 20       A    No, sir.

 21       Q    Did you review the minutes of that hearing?

 22       A    Don't recall.

 23       Q    Do you recall what Chairman Whitten had to say

 24   after -- or County Manager Whitten had to say after

 25   Chairman McBride had made his comments?
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  1       A    I do.

  2       Q    Do you recall him telling you that this was

  3   subject to being considered?

  4       A    No.

  5       Q    You don't recall that?

  6       A    It's not what he put in the minutes.

  7       Q    Okay.  Would you like to look at the minutes?

  8       A    No.

  9       Q    Because you're quite certain it's not in the

 10   minutes?

 11       A    The minutes reflect McBride saying there's no

 12   issue.

 13       Q    So you have no recollection of that meeting

 14   other than what's in the minutes?

 15       A    My only recollection of that meeting is I was

 16   denied and that's all I need to know.

 17       Q    You were telling us earlier that Chairman

 18   McBride told you you'd get approved?

 19       A    No.  He said there was no reason why this

 20   shouldn't be approved.

 21       Q    You recall that?

 22       A    Of course, I do.  It's in the minutes.

 23       Q    So all you know is what's in the minutes?

 24       A    I was standing at the podium.  I could hear the

 25   man.
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  1       Q    What you told us was all you know is that you

  2   were denied?

  3       A    That's correct.

  4       Q    So why would you assume that you're going to be

  5   approved the next time?

  6       A    Why would I assume, because that's what they

  7   said.

  8       Q    That's what you read in the minutes?

  9       A    They said it's only being denied because of a

 10   procedural issue where two licenses can't be issued at

 11   the same time.  I understood that and I accepted that.

 12       Q    Okay.  And the only reason you know that is

 13   because you read it in the minutes?

 14       A    No, because I was told that in person.

 15       Q    At the hearing?

 16       A    Yes, sir.

 17       Q    So you recall testimony that was provided at

 18   the hearing?

 19       A    Yes.

 20       Q    So do you recall the testimony that was

 21   provided by County Manager Whitten?

 22       A    The only thing I remember Whitten saying was

 23   because this is denied, I'm going to ask Sheriff

 24   Antinoro to refund him, Dr. Malfitano, the fees that he

 25   paid for the gaming portion of the licenses and that was
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  1   refunded.  He said he would ask Sheriff Antinoro to make

  2   an accommodation to do just that.

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  May I approach the clerk?

  4            THE COURT:  We're going to number sequentially,

  5   so it will be number four.

  6            (Exhibit 4 was marked.)

  7   BY MR. LOOMIS:

  8       Q    Mr. Malfitano, let me show you what's marked as

  9   Exhibit 4 --

 10       A    It's actually Dr. Malfitano.

 11       Q    -- the minutes of the September 1st, 2015

 12   meeting.  Under item 13, there is a reference to

 13   comments made by County Manager Whitten.  Would you

 14   please review that part of the minutes?

 15       A    That sounds about right.

 16       Q    And what he says is the license will be

 17   considered for approval, doesn't it?

 18       A    In here it does, yes.

 19       Q    Okay.  And that's what you recall is what you

 20   read in the minutes for the most part, isn't it?

 21       A    I don't recall that.  You asked me what I

 22   recalled.  I told you what I recalled about what Whitten

 23   said and that only had to do with refunding the gaming

 24   portion of the business license.

 25            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, that's been attached to the
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  1   verified petition for Mandamus as Exhibit 1 and I'd ask

  2   that be remarked as Exhibit 4 and we can either take it

  3   as part of the exhibits to the Writ or I can reintroduce

  4   it as Exhibit 4.

  5            THE COURT:  Do you have any objection to it

  6   being admitted?

  7            MR. HIPPLER:  I do not.

  8            THE COURT:  Four is admitted.

  9   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 10       Q    Now, you testified on the stand that with the

 11   approval of the minutes of the September 1st hearing at

 12   the October 6th hearing in advance of the hearing on

 13   your license that you thought everything was fine?

 14       A    That is correct.

 15       Q    Okay.  How did you know that they had approved

 16   the minutes of the September 1st hearing at that

 17   October 6th hearing?

 18       A    I watched the audio portion of the tape.

 19       Q    Was it concurrent with the hearing itself?

 20       A    I watched it after the hearing.

 21       Q    Okay.  So you didn't know in advance of that

 22   hearing, or even at the time they approved those

 23   minutes, whether or not the license is going to be

 24   approved, did you?

 25       A    Actually, that's not true.  I reviewed those
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  1   minutes before they were talked about.  They're put out

  2   before the hearing.

  3       Q    Your testimony today is that when they approved

  4   those minutes at the October 6th hearing, you knew that

  5   you were in good shape and didn't have to worry about

  6   anything?  I'm paraphrasing.

  7       A    No.  Actually, I knew that the minutes came out

  8   before the October 6th hearing and on there it clearly

  9   said that there's no reason why they can't be approved,

 10   the licenses.

 11       Q    What you testified here earlier today was that

 12   when --

 13       A    So now I'm correcting my testimony as I think

 14   about it.

 15       Q    So you acknowledge that you're mistaken?

 16       A    So be it.

 17       Q    What else are you mistaken on?

 18            MR. HIPPLER:  Objection, argumentative.

 19            THE WITNESS:  Not very much.

 20            THE COURT:  Hold on.  Sustained.

 21   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 22       Q    You were also advised at the September 1st

 23   hearing that the sheriff was going to do the

 24   investigation, and you were advised of the nature of an

 25   investigation into a liquor license by County Manager
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  1   Whitten, weren't you?

  2       A    I knew he was going to do an investigation.

  3       Q    So you knew that investigation was coming up?

  4       A    Of course.

  5       Q    And you also knew that you had been denied

  6   gaming licenses by the Gaming Commission?

  7       A    I applied for my --

  8       Q    That's a yes or no question.

  9       A    Restate it.

 10       Q    You also knew that the Gaming Commission had

 11   made its decision in advance of the time that the

 12   sheriff was going to do his investigation?

 13       A    That's untrue.

 14       Q    You didn't know that the sheriff was going to

 15   do his investigation after the Gaming Commission

 16   hearing?

 17       A    The sheriff did his investigation before the

 18   Gaming Commission hearing.

 19       Q    Well, you were advised at the September 1st

 20   hearing that the sheriff was going to do the

 21   investigation?

 22       A    The investigation had already been done and

 23   complete.

 24       Q    Then why did they have to advise you of the

 25   nature of the investigation that the sheriff was going
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  1   to do?  What did you understand from that?

  2       A    I understood that the investigation was done

  3   long before September, long before September.

  4       Q    Well, you said in your testimony that you

  5   didn't know what the sheriff was going to recommend.

  6       A    That's -- of course not.  He's doing the

  7   investigation and --

  8       Q    So you're going into -- you decide not to

  9   attend the October 6th hearing, even though you don't

 10   know what the sheriff is going to recommend, even though

 11   the Gaming Commission has denied your gaming licenses

 12   for what I would characterize as numerous nondisclosures

 13   of financial problems; isn't that correct?

 14            MR. HIPPLER:  Objection.  The question

 15   misstates evidence, your Honor.

 16            THE COURT:  Overruled.

 17            THE WITNESS:  So here's what you're missing,

 18   okay?

 19   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 20       Q    Well, just answer my question.

 21       A    Let me answer your question.

 22       Q    Here's the question --

 23       A    Let me answer your question.  There's one on

 24   the floor.

 25            THE COURT:  Hold on, hold on, hold on.  Let him
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  1   finish his answer when he's answering.

  2            THE WITNESS:  The investigation --

  3            THE COURT:  Hold on.  I'm not done yet.  You

  4   need to let him finish his question.  If you want to

  5   interpose an objection, you need to stop talking by

  6   either counsel when an objection is posed.  Go ahead,

  7   Mr. Loomis.

  8   BY MR. LOOMIS:

  9       Q    The question was, you did not know what the

 10   sheriff was going to recommend as a result of his

 11   investigation, even though that recommendation was going

 12   to be made to the Board of County Commissioners after

 13   the Gaming Commission had denied your license?

 14       A    That's incorrect.

 15       Q    What's incorrect about it?

 16       A    What you just said.  There was a first reading

 17   of these licenses long before the Gaming Control Board

 18   met.  There was a first reading, and at that point the

 19   investigation was over and he moved for full approval,

 20   so it proceeded to the second reading.

 21       Q    So you're telling us now that you knew what the

 22   sheriff was going to recommend?

 23       A    He called me and told me that he had no --

 24   there was no adverse findings in his investigation.

 25       Q    You told us -- you testified earlier that
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  1   nobody had contacted you from the county --

  2       A    That's not what I said.

  3       Q    -- as to what the sheriff's investigation was

  4   going to recommend.

  5       A    That's a complete mischaracterization of what I

  6   said and what was asked of me.  It was time specific,

  7   but you don't recall that.

  8       Q    Did you know at the time of the October 6th

  9   hearing what the sheriff was going to recommend?

 10       A    Yes.

 11       Q    What did you think he was going to recommend?

 12       A    Approval.  It was in the documents

 13   submitting --

 14       Q    There's no question pending.

 15       A    Of course not.

 16       Q    Now, Mr. Malfitano, in Exhibit 3, there is an

 17   e-mail from you to Chief Hames on the second page of

 18   that exhibit; is that correct?

 19       A    Yes.

 20       Q    And in that e-mail on the second full

 21   paragraph, in the first paragraph in, it says, "Your

 22   letter seems to indicate that you feel that I am not in

 23   compliance with our agreement dated May 15th, 2015."

 24   That's what you stated, didn't you?

 25       A    Yes.
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  1       Q    You then went on to say, "Chief Hames, in that

  2   agreement it states that upon VCG," and what's VCG?

  3       A    Virginia City Gaming.

  4       Q    That's one of the petitioners in this case,

  5   isn't it?

  6       A    Yes.

  7       Q    That's your entity that was going to run the

  8   Delta and the Bonanza, isn't it?

  9       A    That is correct.

 10       Q    So what it says is that, "Upon VCG receiving

 11   its license to operate this property," and what license

 12   were you referring to?

 13       A    It could be business license, liquor license.

 14   It could be a number of different licenses.

 15       Q    Okay.  But what did the agreement say?  That's

 16   what you're referring to, aren't you?

 17       A    I'm not sure what you mean by that.

 18       Q    Well, in the agreement it states that upon VCG

 19   receiving its license to operate --

 20       A    Uh-huh.

 21       Q    In the agreement, what license were you

 22   referring to?

 23       A    It could be any one of three.

 24       Q    Okay.  Let's look at the agreement.  Exhibit 2,

 25   does that reference an agreement?
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  1       A    It's an agreement itself.  This is an

  2   agreement.

  3       Q    It is an agreement, and does it reference a

  4   license?

  5       A    Unrestricted gaming license.

  6       Q    And that's what you were referring to in the

  7   e-mail, weren't you?

  8       A    More than likely.

  9       Q    You don't recall?

 10       A    More than likely.

 11       Q    So what you stated in the e-mail is that, "Upon

 12   VCG receiving its license to operate," and more than

 13   likely that's its gaming license since you hadn't even

 14   applied for a business or a liquor license at that

 15   point, had you?

 16       A    I'm not sure of the date.

 17       Q    "Upon receiving that license, VCG will

 18   immediately move forward with the following conditions

 19   as per the agreement.  There was no requirement to move

 20   forward with any of those conditions before then."

 21   Isn't that what you stated in your e-mail to Chief

 22   Hames?

 23       A    I may have.

 24       Q    Well, you've got the e-mail right there in

 25   front of you.
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  1       A    I just don't know what the relevance of that

  2   is.

  3       Q    You've got the e-mail right there in front of

  4   you, don't you?

  5       A    I do.

  6       Q    And it says that you will go forward with the

  7   conditions once you receive your license which is most

  8   likely, in your terms, the gaming license?

  9       A    Okay.

 10       Q    So in your -- the way you're describing to

 11   Chief Hames, you have absolutely no obligation to move

 12   forward unless you have your gaming license?

 13       A    I don't see it that way at all.

 14       Q    Well, that's what you said.

 15       A    I don't see it that way at all.  Chief Hames

 16   and everybody else was aware that I was going to

 17   operate --

 18       Q    Can I go on with what you stated in your

 19   e-mail?

 20       A    Please do.

 21       Q    Next line, "With that said, I want to make sure

 22   you understand that we agreed that none of these

 23   conditions would be accomplished until after licensure."

 24       A    Okay.

 25       Q    That's what you said.
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  1       A    That's correct.

  2       Q    So it's not like you were cooperating with the

  3   Fire District in getting these things done, your opinion

  4   was I don't have to do anything until I get my gaming

  5   license?

  6       A    Actually, that is untrue.

  7       Q    That's what you said.

  8       A    That's untrue because you need to read the next

  9   line that you're failing to read.  Want me to read it

 10   for you?  Can I read it for you?  I mean, let's tell the

 11   truth.

 12       Q    It's another self-serving statement from you.

 13       A    No, no, let's tell the truth.  Are you opposed

 14   to that?

 15       Q    It says, "So if you feel that I am not in

 16   compliance, I apologize for any confusion there may be."

 17       A    "With all that being said, as you may be aware,

 18   I will be moving forward operating both of my properties

 19   as non gaming entities."

 20       Q    But --

 21       A    Doesn't it say that?

 22       Q    The point is, it was your view of the agreement

 23   that you didn't have to do anything until you got your

 24   gaming license?

 25       A    That was not my point of view at all.
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  1       Q    That's what you said.

  2       A    But that's not the reality.

  3       Q    You never got your gaming license, so the

  4   agreement is no longer in effect?

  5       A    He never let me know that.  Did he let me know

  6   that?

  7       Q    Did he have to tell you that?

  8       A    Of course, he did.

  9       Q    He reported to the Board that --

 10       A    He can unilaterally cancel a contract?  I don't

 11   think so, but apparently he thinks so.

 12       Q    Now, you had indicated that there's anger in

 13   the community regarding not having a gaming license,

 14   right?

 15       A    That is correct.

 16       Q    So the anger in the community has nothing to do

 17   with turning down your liquor and business license; it

 18   has to do with the fact you can't operate these

 19   properties as gaming properties any more?

 20       A    I guess that's what the anger is about.

 21       Q    So this denial of the liquor license and the

 22   business license is not the source of the anger against

 23   your business?

 24       A    Oh, it's another nail in the coffin, sir.

 25       Q    But that's not what you testified to, is it?
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  1       A    That's not true at all.  I'm testifying right

  2   now.

  3       Q    Now, one of the questions that you were asked

  4   by counsel was, you have the financial standing to

  5   operate these businesses?

  6       A    That is correct.

  7       Q    Okay.  Now, at the Gaming Commission hearing,

  8   there was some three hours of testimony presented; is

  9   that correct?

 10       A    That is correct.

 11       Q    And you saw Chairman McBride at that hearing?

 12       A    I did.

 13       Q    And you attended it from Las Vegas?

 14       A    That is correct.

 15       Q    Okay.  So you had the audio and the visual?

 16       A    Yes.

 17       Q    You're aware of the fact that the reason the

 18   licenses were denied to you because you had tax liens?

 19       A    Is that a question?

 20       Q    That's a question.

 21       A    They're stale tax liens, over 15 years old.

 22       Q    That's what the Gaming Control Board --

 23       A    I understand.

 24       Q    -- recommended that you be denied because of

 25   the existence of past tax liens; isn't that correct?
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  1       A    That's one of the reasons.

  2       Q    And they also stated as a reason you had

  3   notices of foreclosure against your real properties or

  4   businesses you owned?

  5       A    That was their statement, that's correct.

  6       Q    That's right.

  7       A    But they're not facts.

  8       Q    That you had notices of default recorded

  9   against your properties?

 10       A    Those are their --

 11       Q    That's one of the reasons that they denied your

 12   gaming license, isn't it?

 13       A    That's one of their conclusions, not based on

 14   fact.

 15       Q    They said you had cash flow problems?

 16       A    That was one of their conclusions, not based on

 17   any fact.

 18       Q    They said that you had issues with regulatory

 19   agencies over your businesses in California?

 20       A    That is their conclusion based on what they got

 21   as a report, but there's no factor -- there's nothing

 22   factual about that.

 23       Q    The commissioner on the Gaming Commission said

 24   that you had 12 million dollars in debt?

 25       A    Really?
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  1       Q    That's what was reported apparently by the

  2   gaming agents that did your background investigation to

  3   the Gaming Commission.

  4       A    Okay, here's a response to that.

  5       Q    Did your attorney respond to those allegations

  6   during the course of that hearing?

  7       A    I don't know, but I'm going to respond now,

  8   so --

  9       Q    I'm not asking you --

 10       A    You can't throw allegations out there --

 11            THE COURT:  Hold on.

 12            THE WITNESS:  -- and not ask --

 13            THE COURT:  When I say hold on, you need to

 14   stop talking.

 15            THE WITNESS:  I get that.

 16            THE COURT:  All right.  I'm not going to have

 17   you talking over each other.  He needs to finish his

 18   question, he needs to finish his answer.  If you think

 19   it's nonresponsive or there's some other objection, pose

 20   that, but don't be talking over each other.

 21   BY MR. LOOMIS:

 22       Q    You heard the testimony that was presented at

 23   the hearing before the Gaming Commission?

 24       A    Yes.

 25       Q    You heard the commissioners state that you had
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  1   12 million dollars in debt?

  2       A    Yes.

  3       Q    You knew what the recommendations of the Gaming

  4   Control Board were well before you got to the Gaming

  5   Commission, didn't you?

  6       A    Yes.

  7       Q    And those recommendations from the Gaming

  8   Control Board identified the numerous problems that I've

  9   already identified to you; isn't that correct?

 10       A    That is correct.

 11       Q    Did you have an opportunity to address those

 12   matters at the time of the hearing before the Gaming

 13   Commission?

 14       A    Each and every one of them, and they were

 15   refuted by sworn testimony, by experts in the field that

 16   refuted each and every one of their conclusions, but

 17   they didn't want to listen to it and I was represented

 18   by the best gaming lawyer in Nevada.

 19       Q    So despite the fact you had the opportunity to

 20   rebut those allegations, those recommendations in the

 21   Gaming Control Board report, you were given every

 22   opportunity to rebut those, the Gaming Commission

 23   decided against you?

 24       A    They did.

 25       Q    And they cited as reasons the reasons I've
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  1   given you?

  2       A    They did.

  3       Q    And it was irrelevant to the Board of County

  4   Commissioners, but they found that you had lacked

  5   sufficient business probity, correct?

  6       A    That's what they said.

  7       Q    They indicated that you had numerous problems

  8   with your employees in your California businesses?

  9       A    That is a conclusion, not a fact.

 10       Q    All right.  Have you redone your business plan

 11   at this point?

 12       A    For what properties?

 13       Q    You told us you were going to redo your

 14   business plan?

 15       A    For the Delta and the Bonanza?

 16       Q    Yes.

 17       A    Of course.

 18       Q    Where are they?

 19       A    They're in my head.

 20       Q    So you haven't put them down on paper anywhere?

 21       A    No.

 22       Q    Is that a recommended way of preparing business

 23   plans?

 24       A    Are you in business?  Have you ever done a

 25   business plan?
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  1       Q    Yes or no.

  2       A    My business plan is being executed, sir.

  3            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing further, your Honor.

  4            THE COURT:  Re-direct?

  5                     RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION

  6   BY MR. HIPPLER:

  7       Q    Do you have any tax liens against you

  8   currently?

  9       A    I do not.

 10       Q    You mentioned that they were stale.  What did

 11   you mean?

 12       A    They're over 15, 16 years old.

 13       Q    Do you have any delinquent tax payments

 14   currently?

 15       A    None.

 16       Q    Are those old as well?

 17       A    Correct.

 18       Q    How old?

 19       A    Most of the stuff is ten or 15 years old.

 20       Q    And would that be true for all of the items

 21   that counsel asked you about that are in the Gaming

 22   Control Board order?

 23       A    Correct.

 24       Q    Thank you.  Nothing further.

 25            THE COURT:  Re-cross?
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  1                     RE-CROSS EXAMINATION

  2   BY MR. LOOMIS:

  3       Q    One of the major problems you faced in front of

  4   the Gaming Control Board was nondisclosure of many of

  5   the financial problems; isn't that correct?

  6       A    That was their conclusion.

  7       Q    Yes.  Many nondisclosures.

  8       A    No, it wasn't many.  It was 11 litigation

  9   cases.

 10       Q    You had like 40 lawsuits against you, you

 11   failed to disclose 11?

 12       A    I didn't fail to disclose them.  I was relying

 13   on a very experienced lawyer that did the search to do

 14   it correctly.  He failed to find this last 11, so --

 15       Q    The most recent 11 lawsuits?

 16       A    No.  They actually were older than most, so I

 17   relied on him.

 18       Q    Were you familiar with those lawsuits?

 19       A    Pardon me?

 20       Q    Were you familiar with those lawsuits?

 21       A    Like I say, they're 15 or 20 years old.

 22       Q    All 40 of them?

 23       A    No.  You asked me about the last 11.

 24       Q    The 11 that you didn't disclose?

 25       A    Again, it's not that I arbitrarily didn't
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  1   disclose them.  I was relying on what the attorney did.

  2       Q    Okay.  Did you sign the application after the

  3   attorney prepared it?

  4       A    I did.

  5       Q    Did you review it before you signed it?

  6       A    I did.

  7            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing further.

  8            MR. HIPPLER:  Nothing further.

  9            THE COURT:  You can step down.  Mr. Hippler,

 10   any other evidence?

 11            MR. HIPPLER:  No, your Honor.

 12            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis?

 13            MR. LOOMIS:  No further evidence to present.

 14            THE COURT:  Argument?

 15            MR. HIPPLER:  Just to clarify, your Honor, I

 16   know from what was mentioned to me before, I didn't know

 17   what your schedule was, so are we --

 18            THE COURT:  I've arranged for another Judge to

 19   take the 4:00 hearing in Carson City.

 20            MR. HIPPLER:  Yes, I do have argument, if

 21   you'll just give me a moment to grab my things.

 22            First of all, your Honor, I want to thank you

 23   and your staff for doing everything that you could do

 24   get this on your docket quickly and to review all the

 25   materials.  I very much appreciate that and I know Mr.
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  1   Malfitano appreciates that as well, and at bottom this

  2   is a case of a business owner who simply wants a fair

  3   shot to operate businesses here in Virginia City, and

  4   after he identified this as an opportunity, he went full

  5   forward with it and, unfortunately, suffered a setback

  6   related to the gaming license, but that wasn't the end

  7   of the story.

  8            Unfortunately, why we're here is because of the

  9   arbitrary decision made by the Storey County

 10   Commissioners relating to my client's application for a

 11   business license and a liquor license.

 12            What the Storey County code provides for is

 13   that in order to obtain a liquor license, you have to

 14   have proof of current financial standing to warrant an

 15   expected satisfactory and profitable business operation,

 16   and as your Honor correctly noted at the outset, the

 17   individual that was tasked with doing the report, the

 18   sheriff, put together the materials related to that

 19   investigation and came out with the conclusion that the

 20   liquor licenses should be granted and issued, and I

 21   would submit that in putting that together, whether or

 22   not you believe me or Mr. Loomis that I don't think it

 23   can be questioned that the sheriff was an objective

 24   individual who had, as part of his job duties, an

 25   obligation to inquire into my client's background, and
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  1   at the end of that investigation recommended that the

  2   liquor licenses be approved because nothing came up and

  3   the financial standing was established.

  4            Unfortunately, as reflected very tellingly in

  5   the transcripts that we provided the Court as Exhibit 3

  6   to the motion, the process went sideways and it went

  7   sideways in a number of ways.

  8            First and foremost, it went sideways with the

  9   improper focus and attention to the Gaming Control

 10   Board's decision.  This situation is not unlike somebody

 11   who applies to be an FBI agent and has to undergo an FBI

 12   background check and at the end of that investigation

 13   it's determined that you can't be an FBI agent and then

 14   somewhere down the line, somebody decides that, well,

 15   you can't even become a mall security guard.  Why is

 16   that wrong?

 17            It's wrong because the standards that are

 18   applicable are apples and oranges, and that's exactly

 19   the situation that we have here.

 20            The Gaming Control Board looked into my

 21   client's background through the prism of the statutory

 22   framework provided by Nevada law and came to the

 23   conclusion that it came to.  As you heard here today,

 24   it's worth emphasizing that the information that they

 25   relied upon was stale, and what I mean by that is just
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  1   as my client testified to, you've got 15 year old tax

  2   liens, et cetera, that they concluded resulted in him

  3   not getting a gaming license, but the prism most

  4   importantly through which the Storey County

  5   Commissioners are supposed to examine any liquor license

  6   applicant or business license applicant is radically

  7   different from the prism to which the Gaming Control

  8   Board operates.

  9            The standards for gaming, like with my FBI

 10   example, is a very, very high one.  The Storey County

 11   commissioner standing is much, much lower burden and

 12   that is the burden that applies here, but as reflected

 13   in the transcript, despite attempts by the sheriff and

 14   others to steer them correctly, the commissioners

 15   focused almost solely upon the order from the Gaming

 16   Control Board.

 17            As your Honor, again, pointed out at the outset

 18   of the meeting today, my client, in fully relying upon

 19   the proceedings that had occurred on September 1st did

 20   not anticipate, was not on any notice, and certainly

 21   relied upon the statements that were provided to him on

 22   September 1st that things looked good, we simply can't

 23   issue a liquor license or a business license now because

 24   of the duplication issue, but he worked diligently to

 25   make sure that when Mr. Dewing moved out, that he moved
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  1   in and had the proper licenses, but under the

  2   circumstances there could not be a duplication, so no

  3   problem, come back to us in October at the next meeting,

  4   and the minutes reflect all of that.

  5            THE COURT:  I'm sorry to interrupt you, but you

  6   talked about not being given notice.  Does a party have

  7   a due process right in an administrative hearing?  Does

  8   he have a right to be given notice of what's going to

  9   come up so he can be prepared to address those issues?

 10            MR. HIPPLER:  I think that they do, and I think

 11   the evidence of that is the fact that you have agendas

 12   and minutes and that there's a public quality to this

 13   process, and therefore, there are a notion of due

 14   process rights and procedures that attach to this

 15   process, but most importantly rather than --

 16            THE COURT:  Are you aware of any law that says

 17   that, a rule or statute, case?

 18            MR. HIPPLER:  Not with me here today, your

 19   Honor.  I would be happy if the Court would request so

 20   that I can provide such authority.

 21            But most importantly, rather than those

 22   notions, he relied on the very real facts of what

 23   actually happened and what he was actually told on

 24   September 1st in terms of his ability to get those

 25   licenses, and most importantly, on September 1st what
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  1   did the commissioners, particularly Commissioner McBride

  2   know?  He had already heard everything that happened on

  3   August 20th, he had already heard what came up at that

  4   hearing.

  5            None of that came up on September 1st, none of

  6   that came up between September 1st and October 6th, so

  7   there was no concern, if you will, on my client's part,

  8   based upon that reliance as to what happened on

  9   September 1st, that it was vital for him to be there on

 10   October 6th, and instead Special Counsel shows up and

 11   instead there is the absolute and primary focus on the

 12   Gaming Control Board order as the basis for the denial

 13   of the liquor license, and it's my argument, your Honor,

 14   as detailed in the pleadings that we've submitted,

 15   especially in relation to the motion for preliminary

 16   injunction, that that focus was arbitrary and capricious

 17   and, therefore, improper, and it's because of the prisms

 18   through which the Gaming Control Board looks at that

 19   information versus the Storey County Commissioners, and

 20   again, that was the dilemma, if you will, that the

 21   sheriff kept coming back to over and over and over again

 22   during the proceedings making statements along the lines

 23   of, I want to make sure that we're consistently applying

 24   the standards because it sure doesn't feel like we are.

 25   I'm paraphrasing, of course, but that's where the
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  1   sheriff came out, and I submit that he's the one that

  2   got it right in this instance.

  3            But in addition to the reliance on the Gaming

  4   Control Board order being arbitrary and capricious, I

  5   think it's also important to emphasize the language as I

  6   mentioned before of the ordinance itself, that you've

  7   got to have proof of financial standing to warrant an

  8   expected satisfactory and profitable business.

  9            All you need to do is look again at the

 10   transcript to see that there were throughout assumptions

 11   made by the commissioners as to cash flow of my client's

 12   business, that they had no business making those

 13   assumptions, certainly no evidence before them as to

 14   what may or may not happen with respect to my client's

 15   business moving forward, so not only did they pre-judge

 16   his ability to successfully operate that business, but

 17   those assumptions were grossly unfair and the ordinance

 18   doesn't require a guarantee of success.  It requires an

 19   expected satisfactory and profitable business.

 20            The point of the ordinance is they want to make

 21   sure that if we're going to jump through all these hoops

 22   and have a business in our community that sells liquor,

 23   that we don't want them moving in and out of business,

 24   we want to make sure that it's a stable business

 25   environment, and the stability of this business, aside
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  1   from the gaming having to be removed from the

  2   properties, is you have a year, notwithstanding the

  3   previous owner's business operations there in a very

  4   prime location here in Virginia City, but you have a

  5   year of Mr. Malfitano successfully operating this

  6   business, admittedly along with Mr. Dewing as the

  7   operator, but as the testimony reflected, he was the one

  8   putting all of the capital into this, he was the one who

  9   put the 1.8 million into these two properties, so you

 10   have nothing more --

 11            MR. LOOMIS:  I'm going to pose an objection at

 12   this point.  Previously we allowed testimony outside

 13   what was heard at the hearing in terms of the question

 14   of irreparability of harm.  We're now addressing the

 15   sufficiency of the evidence that was produced at the

 16   hearing, and again, I'm going to object to any argument

 17   based upon evidence not submitted to the Board.

 18            THE COURT:  Overruled.  Go ahead.

 19            MR. HIPPLER:  So obviously to Mr. Loomis'

 20   point, part of what needs to be established for the

 21   issuance of a preliminary injunction in this instance is

 22   the irreparable nature of the harm to my client, but

 23   then also a reasonable likelihood of success in the

 24   merits, and that's what I'm arguing at this moment.

 25            So again, what was before the commissioners was
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  1   they knew a business had been operated with my client

  2   for a year with no issues, they knew that with the

  3   gaming license not being issued, that certainly there

  4   would be changes, but the quotes themselves within the

  5   transcript speak to the arbitrariness of the decision

  6   making process that the commissioners undertook on

  7   October 6th, and I'm sure since you read all of it

  8   you're more than familiar with the quotes that I'm

  9   talking about in terms of, oh, the revenue is going to

 10   go down 60 to 70 percent.

 11            That's just one of many examples, and that's

 12   what establishes the arbitrariness of the decision, that

 13   the reliance upon these assumptions, the reliance upon

 14   things that were really not properly before them, on top

 15   of the reliance that my client had that as of

 16   September 1st rolling into October 6th that there

 17   weren't going to be any issues, so you put all that

 18   together and you look at it in the totality of the

 19   circumstances and you have a situation that absolutely

 20   rises to the level of being an arbitrary and capricious

 21   decision that is not founded in the substantial evidence

 22   that is required.

 23            Now, in terms of the irreparable injury, one

 24   business is closed and one business is operating with

 25   snacks and sodas.  That can't last forever.  It just
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  1   can't, and my client simply wants the opportunity to get

  2   those businesses to a place without gaming for the

  3   moment, that he can have a chance to make a go of the

  4   business of these properties.

  5            THE COURT:  Let me ask you about that, too, and

  6   again, I'm sorry to interrupt because I don't want to

  7   interrupt your flow, but why would not -- if Storey

  8   County has done wrong, why would not an award of

  9   monetary damages make him whole?  What makes this

 10   irreparable?

 11            MR. HIPPLER:  What makes this irreparable is

 12   damage to reputation.  Every day that these businesses

 13   are not fully operating is a day that a resident goes by

 14   that moves on past the Delta and the Bonanza to another

 15   location.  Every day that a tourist comes by who wants

 16   to go in and get a cold beer on a warm day, can't do

 17   that.  They're never coming back, and so the irreparable

 18   nature of the injury does include harm to reputation and

 19   whatnot, and I don't think the county is going to be

 20   cutting a check any time soon to my client to make him

 21   whole as a result of these business losses that clearly

 22   and obviously have occurred according to his testimony.

 23            THE COURT:  Is there any evidence to get damage

 24   to reputation other than people passing by, whether

 25   they're local or tourists?

JA001007



Malfitano v. Storey County Motion for TRO & PI Hearing Page 80

Bonanza Reporting & Videoconference Center (775) 786-7655 1111 Forest Street Reno, NV 89509

  1            MR. HIPPLER:  Not at this time, your Honor.

  2            THE COURT:  Okay.  Go ahead.

  3            MR. HIPPLER:  With respect to the business

  4   license issue and the sprinklers, the documents speak

  5   for themselves and the transcript speaks for itself.

  6            What was discussed at the commission hearing on

  7   October 6th was only, as we now know, only a small

  8   portion of what had been discussed and agreed to between

  9   the county and my client.

 10            As reflected in Exhibit 1, separate and aside

 11   from the May 15th agreement, he very clearly had until

 12   December 31st to get the sprinkler system in, and with

 13   respect to the contract in particular, the issue related

 14   to the gaming license is not a condition precedent as we

 15   have detailed in the pleadings or in the motion, but

 16   rather, it's a timing mechanism.

 17            In other words, when you take the May 15th

 18   agreement and what is on the inspection sheet and look

 19   at them together in a consistent fashion, what you

 20   arrive at is that everybody agreed that there was a

 21   window of time for my client to get the sprinkler system

 22   in, and what the county code discusses about this in

 23   terms of refusing a business license which is 5.04.100,

 24   and I believe it might have been in the respondent's

 25   pleadings, I don't believe that we necessarily quoted it
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  1   in a footnote or whatnot, so I have copies if the Court

  2   requires it, but what it says is a license may be

  3   refused by any licensing agency until an applicant

  4   complies, or agrees to comply with all other existing

  5   ordinances and laws in force, et cetera, and that's

  6   exactly what you have here.

  7            There was an agreement.  There was an agreement

  8   to comply.  That process, as my client testified to, is

  9   going forward, the design plans are nearly done, and

 10   therefore when -- there was testimony by Mr. Hames which

 11   I think can only accurately be characterized as

 12   incomplete in light of the inspection sheet and the

 13   previous agreement, that that decision was clearly

 14   arbitrary to deny the business license.

 15            So when you put the situation together, you've

 16   got a situation where the standard by which the county

 17   made -- the county commissioners made their decision was

 18   one that was infected with arbitrariness based upon the

 19   improper focus on the Gaming Control order, which I've

 20   already discussed, but then also it was arbitrary

 21   because of the assumptions that were made and the

 22   business plan that my client has undertaken with moving

 23   forward with these properties without gaming, that they

 24   don't believe that it will be successful.  Well, what

 25   the county commissioners in pre-judging that issue have
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  1   done is to arrive at a decision that can only be

  2   described as arbitrary.

  3            In closing, I just want to emphasize one thing,

  4   and that is, again, going back to something that Sheriff

  5   Antinoro said on October 6th, and that is, he says, and

  6   I'm reading from Page 62 of that transcript, "I know Mr.

  7   Morris says we're not holding him to a gaming standard,

  8   but in essence we are because everything that we're

  9   talking about is what gaming says, what gaming says,

 10   what gaming says," and I submit, your Honor, that that's

 11   exactly what has gone on here and that the sheriff got

 12   it right and the commissioners regrettably got it wrong,

 13   and because of the arbitrariness of that decision and

 14   the irreparable injury that has occurred, what we're

 15   asking with the granting of the motion for a preliminary

 16   injunction is that until the underlying merits of the

 17   Writ petition can be ruled upon, that the denial of the

 18   business license and the denial of the liquor licenses

 19   be enjoined such that the interim licenses that have

 20   previously been issued for both the liquor licenses and

 21   the business license remain in effect, and then the

 22   Court can address at a later time the underlying merits

 23   of the petition for Writ of Mandamus.  Thank you.

 24            THE COURT:  I want to ask you one other

 25   question to go back to the irreparable harm.  If Storey
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  1   County wrongfully denied the liquor license, is there a

  2   remedy of law?  Can he sue the Board, or is that -- do

  3   they have immunity because it's a discretionary act?

  4            MR. HIPPLER:  I'm not aware -- I know the NRS

  5   Chapter 34 does discuss that in a Writ petition context

  6   that damages could in a proper case be possible, that as

  7   part of that Writ petition process that damages can be

  8   assessed by the trier of fact.

  9            THE COURT:  But I'm talking about an action.

 10            MR. LOOMIS:  And what I was going to say is

 11   with respect to specifically whether or not the county,

 12   as I have put it, it's not going to be writing a check

 13   any time soon, I'm not aware of law that allows for my

 14   client to be made whole in that fashion and to be sued

 15   for monetary damages.

 16            THE COURT:  All right, thank you.  One last

 17   question not on the substance.  If the temporary

 18   restraining order is denied, do you have any other

 19   evidence that you would present at a preliminary

 20   injunction hearing?

 21            MR. HIPPLER:  On the whole, your Honor, I think

 22   that as was discussed between yourself and Mr. Loomis

 23   before, that if we were able to run in in the same week,

 24   that would be one thing, and I think that the temporary

 25   restraining order would be the proper vehicle, if you
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  1   wish, that we would be before the Court.

  2            I think at this point, I agree that this

  3   hearing today is really the motion for preliminary

  4   injunction because the timing issue, if you will, that

  5   necessitated us in crafting that pleading to be both has

  6   become unnecessary, if you will, and so I think

  7   characterizing today's proceedings as a motion for

  8   preliminary injunction which your Honor would rule upon

  9   is really the correct procedural posture, if you will,

 10   for today's proceedings.

 11            THE COURT:  All right, thank you.

 12            MR. HIPPLER:  Thank you, your Honor.

 13            THE COURT:  Mr. Loomis?

 14            MR. LOOMIS:  Thank you, your Honor.  What I'd

 15   like to address first is one of the questions that was

 16   raised by the Court, and that is the question of due

 17   process.

 18            Due process is a constitutional concept that

 19   applies to deprivations of life, liberty and property.

 20   Mr. Malfitano does not have a property interest in any

 21   licenses at this point, and he did not have one at the

 22   time of the hearing on October 6th.

 23            Sometimes there is construed as a liberty -- a

 24   due process right to a liberty interest which sometimes

 25   involves the practice of a profession or something along
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  1   those lines, but the Toco case which is cited in my

  2   Points and Authorities specifically says that there is

  3   no inherent right in a citizen to sell intoxicants, so I

  4   don't think there is any due process right involved in

  5   this case in any respect, and I would also note that

  6   there's no due process claim raised in the motion or in

  7   the verified petition.  It's been brought up essentially

  8   by the Court, but I don't think there's any real due

  9   process interest involved in today's proceedings.

 10            What we do know is that this is a -- it's a

 11   review of a local licensing board decision addressing

 12   whether or not to issue these licenses.  What we know

 13   from the precedent that exists in this state is that

 14   liquor license boards are vested with a great deal of

 15   discretion.  It is presumed that local licensing boards

 16   act appropriately, and the burden is upon the petitioner

 17   to demonstrate the arbitrary and capricious nature of

 18   the action taken by the board.

 19            Arbitrary and capricious has been set out in

 20   some depth in my Points and Authorities and basically it

 21   says that there has to be a reason for why they took the

 22   action.  Arbitrariness and capriciousness exists where

 23   there's no reason, they just did it because they did it,

 24   and in this case what we do know is there's been a fair

 25   amount of argument about whether or not the appropriate
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  1   standard was applied, and I don't really think this case

  2   has anything to do with standards.

  3            What it does have to do with is the fact that

  4   in this particular case, a much more extensive

  5   investigation into the background of Mr. Malfitano was

  6   conducted by the gaming authorities.  That's unusual for

  7   a licensing board to have that information.  It was much

  8   more extensive than that which was done by the sheriff,

  9   but that information is publicly available and it was

 10   relied upon by the board.  Not the conclusions that were

 11   drawn by the board, but by the evidentiary matters that

 12   were set out in the Gaming Commission order.

 13            So if we go back to the hearing on October 6th

 14   itself, what we know is that at the beginning of the

 15   hearing, the Board was advised that this is a hearing

 16   that's not -- it's governed by the Storey County

 17   ordinance 512.010 which says that, "The applicant has to

 18   provide proof of financial standing to warrant an

 19   expected satisfactory and profitable business

 20   operation."

 21            That's what they were advised was the standard

 22   that they had to measure the evidence against in

 23   arriving at their conclusion.

 24            That standard was reiterated to them at several

 25   times.  I think Sheriff Antinoro reiterated it in his
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  1   cautions to the Board, and at one point Sheriff Antinoro

  2   suggests that they're using the wrong standard and at

  3   that point Special Counsel Mr. Morris steps in and says,

  4   and I will quote him.  This is just after Sheriff

  5   Antinoro has said on Page 54 that he was concerned about

  6   the standards that are being applied, and Mr. Morris

  7   says, "And just to follow-up on the sheriff's comments,

  8   I would remind the Board that it's not the gaming

  9   requirements that the applicant has to meet.  Today what

 10   you're deciding is basically this one sentence, proof of

 11   financial standing to warrant an expected satisfactory

 12   and profitable business operation."

 13            So I think what you're looking at is that

 14   specific standard or that requirement, so it was

 15   reiterated multiple times to the Board that the standard

 16   that they had to measure the evidence against was the

 17   standard that was set out in the ordinance, and where I

 18   was quoting from was Page 55, lines six through 14.

 19            Mr. Morris introduced the order from the Gaming

 20   Commission because it was publicly available, it's a

 21   public record, and he referenced those portions of the

 22   order which referred to the evidence that was before the

 23   Gaming Commission when they decided to issue their

 24   denials of the licenses because the order itself, and

 25   it's attached as an exhibit to the verified petition,
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  1   says that we have come to the conclusion based upon

  2   these factors which are set out in the report, and those

  3   included things such as tax liens, notices of default,

  4   employment -- problems with employees in previous

  5   businesses operated by Mr. Malfitano.  They included

  6   problems with cash flow, they included problems with

  7   prior regulatory agencies.

  8            Those are all cited in support of the

  9   conclusions that were made by the Board, but they rely

 10   on factual information, not conclusions.

 11            There was also evidence aside from the order

 12   that was introduced in the course of that hearing, and

 13   that included the information from the county

 14   comptroller, the county's chief financial officer

 15   indicating that with the loss of the gaming licenses, or

 16   it wasn't a loss, it was an inapplicability to be

 17   licensed as a gaming operator in venues that

 18   traditionally had gaming was going to significantly

 19   affect the profitability of the business.

 20            There was testimony from Chairman McBride.  He

 21   had attended the hearing before the Gaming Commission

 22   which comprised some three hours of testimony before

 23   that commission and he reported this is what I heard at

 24   the Gaming Commission that was testified to from people

 25   that were there, and those included, again, the issues
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  1   with the real properties that Mr. Malfitano and his

  2   businesses had owned that had notices of default and

  3   foreclosures, it included the fact that there were

  4   problems with the cash flow, there were tax liens, there

  5   were delinquencies, there were the problems that were

  6   noted, and one of the things that Chairman McBride

  7   specifically reported was that there were undisclosed

  8   prior litigation and he indicated there had been some 40

  9   lawsuits involving Mr. Malfitano, many of which had not

 10   been disclosed.

 11            That was reported to the Board, not from the

 12   order of the Gaming Commission, but from the testimony

 13   that was offered at the hearing.

 14            Chairman McBride also explained that he has a

 15   background in gaming and runs a business very similar to

 16   what Mr. Malfitano was trying to run, and that's one of

 17   the reasons why he disclosed that he had a liquor

 18   license to a business on C Street here in Virginia City

 19   and he said with the lack of gaming, the cash flow is

 20   going to be reduced by about 60 to 70 percent, and

 21   here's a person that runs a gaming institution and is

 22   familiar with how they operate here in Virginia City.  I

 23   think that is information outside the record of the

 24   Gaming Control order itself.

 25            Sheriff Antinoro himself expressed his opinion
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  1   that without gaming to support the Delta and the

  2   Bonanza, it was his view that just running them as bars

  3   was likely to cause them to fail.  His view was that

  4   there simply isn't enough business to support a venue

  5   being operated purely as a bar when it has been a gaming

  6   venue.  That was the opinion of Sheriff Antinoro.

  7            County Manager Whitten indicated that he had a

  8   past background in evaluating credit worthiness of

  9   people applying for credit, and he discussed what he

 10   called the five C's and indicated that the factors that

 11   were cited by the Gaming Commission were factors that

 12   would suggest that the person lacked the financial

 13   strength and ability to conduct a business.  That is

 14   also evidence aside and apart from what was included in

 15   the Gaming Commission order.  He reported that the staff

 16   recommendation to the Board was to deny the licenses.

 17            At the close of the hearing and before any

 18   motion was made, it was again reiterated to the Board

 19   that the grounds on which the license could be granted

 20   or denied were set out again in Storey County ordinance

 21   5.12.010 and that was whether or not they had the

 22   financial strength to operate successfully -- whether

 23   they had proof of financial standing to warrant an

 24   expected satisfactory and profitable business operation.

 25            They were again advised of that, and they were
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  1   advised that they were to apply the information, not the

  2   standards of the Gaming Control Board, in determining

  3   whether or not that license should issue.

  4            Commissioner Gilman ultimately made the motion

  5   and he moved to deny the liquor licenses on the ground

  6   of the probability of financial instability to operate

  7   successfully here in Virginia City.  That is a standard

  8   that was consistent with the one that is set out in the

  9   ordinance.

 10            So I think this is a textbook example of how to

 11   conduct a hearing, and the fact that there's independent

 12   evidence and I think that the information from the

 13   Gaming Commission order is admissible and relevant to

 14   the standard to be applied under the ordinance.

 15            It was not the -- the decision was not done

 16   just because it could be done.  It was done for a

 17   reason, and that was because Mr. Malfitano's record of

 18   how he's run his businesses and how this particular

 19   business that was shaping up at this point did not

 20   constitute proof of financial standing to warrant an

 21   expected satisfactory and profitable business operation.

 22   There was nothing arbitrary and capricious about this at

 23   all.

 24            As to the business license for the Bonanza, the

 25   evidence that was submitted at the time of the hearing
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  1   was that Mr. -- in Chief Hames' view, the building was

  2   not a safe one due to the problems with the fire code.

  3   When asked by a participant in the audience whether

  4   there was an agreement to give him more time, it was his

  5   opinion that that agreement was null and void and that's

  6   the agreement that was attached and your Honor has

  7   allowed to be admitted over my objection as exhibit --

  8   attached to the verified petition as Exhibit 6, and that

  9   clearly states that, and as Mr. Malfitano said in his

 10   e-mail, I don't have to do anything until I'm issued my

 11   gaming licenses.  That was what his response was in the

 12   e-mail, and that's also what the agreement says.  It's

 13   dependent upon him being issued a gaming license.  Well,

 14   that's never going to happen, perhaps not, and if the

 15   condition precedent to the county's obligation is not

 16   going to occur, that excuses the county from its own

 17   obligation to perform.

 18            I think the chief was right in that that

 19   contract was null and void, so what you're left with is

 20   the fact that the building does not comply with the fire

 21   and safety codes and Chief Hames' opinion as chief of

 22   the fire district is that the building is unsafe.

 23   Again, there's nothing arbitrary and capricious about

 24   saying if the fire chief's opinion is that this is an

 25   unsafe building and he's been working with them for nine
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  1   months, that's something that can be relied upon in

  2   granting a denial.

  3            So I think that, again, this is -- they didn't

  4   deny the business license just because they could, or

  5   they did it because they did it.  They did grant the

  6   business license to the Delta.  It was reported it was

  7   in full compliance with inspections, but the Bonanza

  8   wasn't.  So when I think you look at those, it

  9   demonstrates a complete lack of support for a contention

 10   that this was an arbitrary and capricious decision.  It

 11   doesn't rebut the presumption of regularity, it doesn't

 12   meet the burden of establishing that it was arbitrary

 13   and capricious, and I don't think it suggests that

 14   there's any likelihood of success on the merits, so we'd

 15   ask your Honor to deny the preliminary injunction.

 16            THE COURT:  Do you happen to have a reference

 17   to a page where Chief Hames talked about -- where he

 18   spoke?

 19            MR. LOOMIS:  Yes.

 20            THE COURT:  Maybe I found it.  I thought I had

 21   it marked.  Maybe I just found it.  Okay, I've got it.

 22   Thank you.  Give me one second.  It's your motion, so

 23   you get the last word.

 24            MR. HIPPLER:  Thank you, your Honor.  Sheriff

 25   Antinoro on Page 66 says, "I could care less about Mr.
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  1   Malfitano's business.  I could care less about gaming

  2   because we're not talking about a gaming license, we're

  3   talking about a Storey County license.  What I care

  4   about is that we are applying things equally and fairly

  5   across the board to all our license holders and all

  6   past, present and future applicants.

  7            A decision that's based upon improper evidence,

  8   improper information or that is inconsistent is by

  9   definition an arbitrary and capricious decision, and I

 10   submit to your Honor that that's exactly what has

 11   happened here that, as I noted before, the information

 12   that was leapt upon by the commissioners was relating to

 13   an investigation and burden that was so much higher than

 14   a Storey County ordinance, and beyond that, that the

 15   improper assumptions and judgments that were made about

 16   my client's business and the likelihood of success also

 17   led to an improper decision and an arbitrary decision,

 18   and that when you come back to the language of the

 19   ordinance that what was required was proof of financial

 20   standing to warrant an expected satisfactory and

 21   profitable business operation, they apparently expect a

 22   guarantee of success and what my client wants, and I

 23   think what's fair and reasonable, is an opportunity if

 24   the licenses are issued, both for liquor and business,

 25   to make a go of these businesses as he has for the last
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  1   year, and at bottom I think that he deserves such a shot

  2   because of what happened in front of the commissioners

  3   on October 6th, both in relationship to the liquor

  4   license as well as the business license.  Thank you,

  5   your Honor.

  6            THE COURT:  I left some papers somewhere in

  7   chambers.  Would you bring those to me, please?

  8            These are some notes I had made before that I

  9   forgot to bring up to the bench with me.  Mr. Loomis,

 10   I'm going to have you prepare the order.  I'm going to

 11   speak at my normal speed, I'm not expecting you to get

 12   all this down.  You need to get a copy of the JAVS

 13   recording.  I'm going to want the order by Friday at

 14   noon.

 15            The issue before the Court is whether a

 16   temporary restraining order/preliminary injunction

 17   should be issued.  The requirements for a temporary

 18   restraining order are, first, that the petitioner show

 19   irreparable harm.

 20            The evidence argued by the petitioner that

 21   there is irreparable harm is a loss of business having

 22   to close the businesses, losing revenue now because he

 23   can't sell alcohol, loss of reputation because people

 24   pass by and don't go into his establishment because they

 25   can't buy liquor or go in and turn around and leave
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  1   because they can't buy liquor.

  2            The Court finds that that's not a loss of

  3   reputation.  There does seem certainly will be lost

  4   revenue, but there's no convincing argument that there

  5   is not an adequate remedy at law.  The petitioner has

  6   not shown irreparable harm.

  7            I asked the question about immunity because I'm

  8   not sure about that adequate remedy.  That issue is now

  9   raised by the parties, and therefore it has no

 10   consideration in the decision.

 11            The next requirement for a temporary

 12   restraining order is a reasonable likelihood of

 13   prevailing on the merits.  The Court concludes that

 14   there is not a likelihood of prevailing on the merits.

 15   The Court concludes that there's substantial evidence in

 16   the record supporting the denial of the liquor license.

 17   That's what I'm talking about first, the liquor license

 18   for the Delta.

 19            Specifically in the transcript at Page 61, this

 20   is Chairman McBride speaking.  He says beginning at line

 21   seven, "We're talking about financial stability," and

 22   then he says that Commissioner Townsend -- Commissioner

 23   McBride is saying that Commissioner Townsend on the

 24   Gaming Control Board stated that Mr. Malfitano has

 25   12 million dollars in debt.
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  1            On Page 62 of the transcript, this is Chairman

  2   McBride continuing, he says, "It doesn't look like

  3   there's any financial stability."

  4            On Page 63 of the transcript, Chairman McBride

  5   cites the Storey County code, Chapter 5.12, "An

  6   applicant is required to provide to the county liquor

  7   license board the proof of financial standing to one

  8   expected satisfactory standing to" -- that's what the

  9   transcript says, "To one expected satisfactory

 10   profitable business operation.  With everything that's

 11   been laid out, can you operate a profitable operation

 12   when you've just taken out the major source of revenue."

 13            On Page 67 of the transcript, Manager Whitten

 14   says that there is an appearance of significant cash

 15   flow problems.  That's based upon the Gaming Control

 16   Board order, and he continues on to the next page saying

 17   that there are serious contra indicators of financial

 18   standing.

 19            On Page 76 of the transcript, Ms. Langer

 20   counsels the board that, "To get a liquor license, it

 21   comes down to prove of financial standing to warrant an

 22   expected satisfactory and profitable business operation.

 23   That's it, none of this moral character doesn't apply."

 24            On Page 77 of the transcript, Mr. Whitten said

 25   that based upon the record -- he's saying what other
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  1   commissioners have said, that fairly and clearly in the

  2   record you believe that there are reasons to be

  3   concerned over the financial standing and ability to

  4   conduct a business.

  5            Chairman McBride, on the same page, says that

  6   financial standing is a good measure to go by.  That's

  7   when Commissioner Gilman makes the motion which is to

  8   deny the licenses for the liquor for both the Bonanza

  9   and the Delta based upon the probability of financial

 10   instability to operate successfully here in Virginia

 11   City.

 12            There are other references in the record to the

 13   Gaming Control Board order which lists a number of

 14   things that are not relevant to the financial -- the

 15   ability of Mr. Malfitano to run his business, but there

 16   is substantial evidence that I've just gone through in

 17   that transcript that indicates -- that provides a basis

 18   for the Board to deny the licenses.

 19            In the order of the Gaming Control Board, on

 20   Page 4 in the second paragraph, the Gaming Control Board

 21   concluded a number of things, only two of which the

 22   Court concludes bear on the issue of financial

 23   suitability or the possibility of proceeding.  One is

 24   the nondisclosure of litigation.  The other is the

 25   appearance of significant cash flow problems.
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  1            Those are conclusions.  There's no facts in the

  2   order, there's no evidence that the liquor board members

  3   were aware of the contents of the Gaming Control Board

  4   investigative report which would contain the facts that,

  5   hypothetically anyway, support the conclusions in the

  6   order.

  7            Even if the commissioners relied upon other

  8   information that they should not have relied upon

  9   because there's substantial evidence in the record to

 10   support a denial, there is not sufficient evidence of

 11   capricious or arbitrary action by the liquor board.

 12            The Court asked the question about due process

 13   in an administrative hearing.  That was raised only by

 14   the Court, not by the parties.  Therefore, it has no

 15   part in the decision.

 16            The Court concludes that other evidence

 17   referenced by Storey County to support the decision,

 18   specifically Mr. Gallagher's statement which is at Page

 19   59 of the transcript, he's talking about the best use of

 20   the property being a gaming establishment, and beginning

 21   at line 21, it's no longer going to be the case.

 22   Profitability at that point of time comes somewhat

 23   salted down, but then the important statement, I don't

 24   know that.

 25            Mr. Gallagher's statement does not support the
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  1   Board's finding of denial of the license.

  2            Mr. McBride's statement regarding a decrease in

  3   business of 60 or 70 percent is found at Page 71 of the

  4   transcript.  I have the wrong reference there, 71 is to

  5   the 40 lawsuits.

  6            The relevance of the nondisclosed lawsuits is

  7   the nondisclosure, if the Board could have found that

  8   Sheriff Antinoro's report was different because there

  9   was nondisclosure based upon the Gaming Control Board

 10   report.

 11            What I was going to say about Chairman

 12   McBride's 60 to 70 percent estimate is other than his

 13   general experience, which there's no evidence that he's

 14   ever experienced a shutdown of a gaming portion of a

 15   business, there's no facts to support his 60 to

 16   70 percent reduction opinion.

 17            Two commissioners express concern about the

 18   facts that they have before them.  Commissioner Gilman

 19   was concerned about the difference in the reports

 20   between the sheriff and the Gaming Control, and

 21   Commissioner McGuffey expressed the question of whether

 22   they should delay and look into the matter further.

 23   Sheriff Antinoro opposed the vote to deny, so it was

 24   close.

 25            I disagree with the argument that this was a
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  1   textbook example of how to run a hearing.  It seems, in

  2   fairness, that if things have changed, that a party

  3   would be given notice of an opportunity to respond to

  4   it.

  5            Mr. Malfitano, from everything the Court has

  6   seen, was led down a primrose path and blindsided by

  7   this information and because he reasonably believed that

  8   this was a sure thing done deal didn't appear, he had no

  9   opportunity to address the information.  That still

 10   doesn't make the decision arbitrary or capricious

 11   because there's substantial evidence in the record to

 12   support the decision.

 13            For those reasons, the motion for temporary

 14   restraining order and preliminary injunction as to the

 15   Bonanza liquor license is denied.

 16            The Bonanza business license is denied because

 17   Chief Hames stated at, if I got it right, Page 80 of the

 18   transcript, that he had been working with the

 19   petitioners for probably nine months.  Generally

 20   accepted practice for the district is six months.  That

 21   turns out, it appears from the evidence admitted today,

 22   is wrong.

 23            The fact that the Commission relied upon

 24   inaccurate information, there's no evidence that they

 25   knew it was inaccurate at the time they made their
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  1   decision does not make their decision arbitrary and

  2   capricious, and more importantly, the reason for the

  3   denial of the temporary restraining order and

  4   preliminary injunction as to the Bonanza business

  5   license is Chief Hames' statement that the building is

  6   not safe.  That's on Page 81 at line three.

  7            That's the order.  Is there anything else, Mr.

  8   Loomis, you think should be included in the order?

  9            MR. LOOMIS:  I think that covers it, Judge.

 10   Thank you.

 11            THE COURT:  Is there anything else you think

 12   needs to be in the order?

 13            MR. HIPPLER:  No, your Honor.  I would just ask

 14   that Mr. Loomis, before the Friday noon deadline --

 15            THE COURT:  I'm going to do that.  I'm going to

 16   have you, Mr. Loomis, transmit a copy electronically to

 17   Mr. Hippler by 5:00 tomorrow.

 18            The reason for the timelines is if they want to

 19   appeal, they need to be able to do that quickly, so an

 20   electronic copy to him.  Hopefully the JAVS recording

 21   will be available to you this afternoon and you'll be

 22   able to get that done tomorrow, so he's going to submit

 23   the order.  I want you to submit it electronically to

 24   the judicial assistant because it's likely that I'm

 25   going to make changes to it and that way I've got it and
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  1   I can word process it.

  2            If you have objections to it, those need to be

  3   filed by noon on Friday.  Go ahead.

  4            MR. LOOMIS:  Judge, I am scheduled to be in

  5   Lyon County tomorrow as a special prosecutor and I'm

  6   going to be -- I have to -- I'm going to be off on

  7   Friday because I have to move something.

  8            THE COURT:  Is there any reason Ms. Langer or

  9   Mr. Morris can't prepare the order?  They've been here

 10   for the whole hearing.

 11            MR. LOOMIS:  They would have 30 days from the

 12   date of notice of entry of the order to file the appeal.

 13            THE COURT:  I'm not worried about the time

 14   after.  I want -- if they're going to file an appeal, I

 15   want them to be able to file that right away, so the

 16   three days on the other end is not important to me.  I

 17   want them to be able to get it filed next week.

 18            Is there a reason that Ms. Langer or Mr.

 19   Morris, or both of them, cannot prepare that order based

 20   on the JAVS recording?

 21            MR. LOOMIS:  They can do it.

 22            THE COURT:  So you're going to electronically

 23   transmit a copy of that to Mr. Hippler by 5:00 tomorrow,

 24   submit it to the judicial assistant electronically by

 25   noon on Friday, and you'll have until Friday to file
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  1   your objections.

  2            MR. HIPPLER:  Yes, your Honor.

  3            THE COURT:  Anything else?

  4            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing further.  Thank you,

  5   Judge.

  6            THE COURT:  Court is adjourned.

  7            (A recess was taken.)

  8            THE COURT:  15 OC 08, Dr. Malfitano and others

  9   vs. Storey County and others.

 10            Dr. Malfitano, the general rule is we use Mr.,

 11   Ms. or Mrs. as opposed to doctors or other names so that

 12   there's an equality where it's a doctor in a county, so

 13   I've kind of stumbled between the two.  There's no

 14   problem with calling you Doctor and I didn't mean to

 15   offend you by calling you Mister.  That's just the

 16   practice in most cases.  Storey County is represented by

 17   Mr. Loomis.

 18            Mr. Hippler had spoken to the Court with Mr.

 19   Loomis present prior to the hearing.  I told them I

 20   would allow him to make a motion after and he wants to

 21   do that now.  Go ahead.

 22            MR. HIPPLER:  The motion was simply that the

 23   television reporters not be allowed to film or record

 24   the proceedings, and ultimately there was a modified

 25   motion by myself that they be allowed to film, but not
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  1   audio record the proceedings.  That was the motion that

  2   I made on behalf of petitioners.

  3            THE COURT:  Is there anything you want to add

  4   or make a record on concerning that?

  5            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing, Judge.  Thank you.

  6            THE COURT:  The Court considered the request.

  7   This is all a public record, and therefore I allowed the

  8   news to video record, but not audio record because

  9   there's a JAVS recording being contemporaneously made

 10   during the hearing, so that was the reason for the

 11   ruling.

 12            Anything else you want to put on the record?

 13            MR. HIPPLER:  No, your Honor.

 14            MR. LOOMIS:  Nothing further.

 15            THE COURT:  All right.  Court is adjourned.

 16

 17

 18
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 22

 23

 24
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